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PART |

Except wher e the context otherwise requires or where otherwise indicated, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K theterm*“ Allegiance” refersto
Allegiance Bancshares, Inc., theterms“we,” “us,” “our,” “Company” and “ our business’ refer to Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. and our wholly-owned
banking subsidiary, Allegiance Bank, a Texas banking association, and the terms“ Allegiance Bank” or the “ Bank” refer to Allegiance Bank. In this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we refer to the Houston-The Woodlands-Sugar Land metropolitan statistical area, or MSA, and the Beaumont-Port Arthur
MSA asthe “ Houston region.”

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The disclosures set forth in thisitem are qualified by Item 1A. “ Risk Factors,” and the section captioned “ Cautionary Notice Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements” in Item 7. “ Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’ of this report and
other cautionary statements set forth elsewherein this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

General

Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. is a Texas corporation and registered bank holding company headquartered in Houston, Texas. Through our wholly-
owned subsidiary, Allegiance Bank, we provide adiversified range of commercial banking services primarily to small to medium-sized businesses within the
Houston region, professionals and individual customers. We believe the size, growth and increasing economic diversity of the Houston region, when
combined with our super-community banking strategy, provides us with excellent opportunities for long-term, sustainable growth. Our super-community
banking strategy, which is described in more detail below, is designed to foster strong customer relationships while benefitting from a platform and scale
that is competitive with larger regional and national banks. We believe this strategy presents a significant market advantage for serving small to medium-
sized business customers and further enables us to attract talented bankers.

As of December 31, 2019, we operated 27 full-service banking locations in the Houston region, with 26 bank offices and one loan production officein
the Houston metropolitan area and one bank office location in Beaumont, just outside of the Houston metropolitan area. We have experienced significant
growth since we began banking operationsin 2007, resulting from organic growth, including de novo branching, three whole-bank acquisitions and most
recently the purchase of the LoweryBank branch. As of December 31, 2019, we had total assets of $4.99 hillion, total grossloans of $3.92 billion, total
deposits of $4.07 billion and total shareholders’ equity of $709.9 million.

Initial Public Offering

Allegiance consummated the underwritten initial public offering of its common stock in October 2015. Allegiance's common stock istraded on the
NASDAQ Globa Market under the ticker symbol "ABTX."

Business Strategy

The Company’s objective isto grow and strengthen its community banking franchise by deploying its super-community banking strategy and by
pursuing select strategic acquisitions in the Houston region. We have made the strategic decision to focus on the Houston region because of our deep
roots and experience operating through avariety of economic cyclesin thislarge and vibrant market. We are positioned to be aleading provider of
customized commercial banking services by emphasizing the strength and capabilities of local bank office management and by providing superior customer
service.

Super-community banking strategy. Our super-community banking strategy emphasizes|ocal delivery of the excellent customer service associated
with community banking combined with the products, efficiencies and scale associated with larger banks. By empowering our personnel to make certain
business decisions at alocal level in order to respond quickly to customers’ needs, we are able to establish and foster strong rel ationships with customers
through superior service. We operate full-service bank offices and employ bankers with strong underwriting credentials who are authorized to make loan
and underwriting decisions up to prescribed limits at the bank office level. We support bank office operations with a centralized credit approval process for
larger credit relationships, loan operations, information technology, core data processing, accounting, finance, treasury and treasury management support,
deposit operations and executive and board oversight. We emphasize lending to and banking with small to medium-sized businesses, with which we
believe we can establish stronger relationships through excellent service and provide lending that can be priced on terms that are more attractive to the
Company than would be achieved by lending to larger businesses. We believe this approach produces a clear competitive advantage by delivering an
extraordinary customer experience and fostering a culture dedicated to achieving superior external and internal service levels.
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We plan to continue to emphasize our super-community banking strategy to organically grow our presence in the Houston region through:

. increasing the productivity of existing bankers, as measured by loans, deposits and fee income per banker, while enhancing profitability by
leveraging our existing operating platform;

. focusing on local and individualized decision-making, allowing usto provide customers with rapid decisions on loan requests, which we
believe alows usto effectively compete with larger financial institutions;

. identifying and hiring additional seasoned bankersin the Houston region who will thrive within our super-community banking model, and
opening additional branches where we are able to attract seasoned bankers; and

. developing new products designed to serve theincreasingly diversified Houston economy, while preserving our strong culture of risk
management.

Select strategic acquisitions. We intend to continue to expand our market position in the Houston region through organic growth, the devel opment
of de novo branch locations and a disciplined acquisition strategy. We focus on like-minded community banks with similar lending strategiesto our own
when evaluating acquisition opportunities. We believe that our management’ s experience in assessing, executing and integrating target institutions will
allow usto capitalize on acquisition opportunities. The following table summarizes, with pre-acquisition historical balances, our acquisitionsto date, all of
which were Houston-based:

Date Acquired Acquired Acquired Number of
Acquisition Completed Assets L oans Deposits Branches
(Dollarsin millions)
Independence Bank, N.A. November 16,2013  $ 2221 $ 1324 $ 199.4 3
F& M Bancshares, Inc. January 1, 2015 $ 569.7 $ 4102 $ 488.9 9*
Post Oak Bancshares, Inc. October 1, 2018 $ 14904 $ 1,1800 $ 1,289.6 13
LoweryBank branch February 1, 2019 $ 487 $ 450 $ 16.0 1

* On January 31, 2016, the Company completed the sale of two of the acquired branches of Farmers & Merchants, Inc. ("F&M Bancshares") located in
Central Texas and their related assets.

For additional information pertaining to the most recent acquisitions, see Note 2 to the audited consolidated financial statementsincluded elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Competitive Strengths
We believe that we are well positioned to execute our super-community banking strategy as aresult of the following competitive strengths:

. Experienced, growth-focused senior management team. Our senior management team has a demonstrated track record of managing profitable
organic growth, improving operating efficiencies, maintaining a strong risk management culture, implementing acommunity and service-
focused approach to banking and successfully executing and integrating acquisitions. The Company’s Board of Directors has many years of
combined experience in serving as directors and/or officers of financial institutions. The directors have awide array of business experience and,
since many are residents of our primary market area, participate in and support local community activities, which is a significant asset to our
business development efforts and enables us to have an increased presence across our market areas.

. Scalable banking and operational platform designed to foster and accommodate significant growth. We have built a capable and
knowledgeabl e staff by utilizing the significant prior experience of our management team and employees. We have made extensive investments
in the technology and systems necessary to build a scal able corporate infrastructure with the capacity to support continued growth. We
believe that our strong capital and asset quality position will allow usto grow and that our scalable operating platform will effectively support
expected growth, resulting in greater efficiency and enhanced profitability.

. Community-focused, full service customer relationships. We believe that our super-community banking strategy facilitates strong
relationships with our customers. We are focused on delivering awide variety of high-quality, relationship-driven commercial and community-
oriented banking products and services tailored to meet the needs of small to medium-sized businesses, professionals and individualsin the
Houston region. We actively solicit the deposit business of our consumer and commercial loan customers and seek to further leverage these
relationships by broadening customer rel ationships with additional products and services.
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. L ocal decision making authority and Houston region focus. Recent acquisitions of local financial institutions in the Houston region by larger,
more regionally focused competitors have led to areduced number of locally-based competitors, and we believe this has created an
underserved base of small to medium-sized businesses, professionals and individuals that are interested in banking with a company
headquartered in, and with decision-making authority based in, the Houston region. We seek to develop comprehensive, long-term banking
rel ationships with customers and offer an array of products and services to support our loan and deposit activities while delivering high quality
customer service. Our products and services are tailored to address the needs of our targeted customers. We are exclusively focused on
serving the greater Houston region, which we believe positions us well to compete effectively and build strong customer rel ationships.

. Focus on seasoned bankers. We believe our management team’s long-standing presence and experience in the Houston region gives us
valuable insight into the local market and the ability to successfully develop and recruit talented bankers. Our team of seasoned bankers has
been the driver of our organic growth. Our officer compensation structure, which includes equity grants, profit sharing and variousincentive
programs, attracts talented bankers and motivates them to increase the size of their loan and deposit portfolios and generate fee income while
maintaining strong credit quality.

. Disciplined underwriting and credit administration. Our management, bankers and credit administration team emphasize a strong culture of
risk management that is supported by comprehensive policies and procedures for credit underwriting, funding and administration that enable
us to maintain sound asset quality. The Company’s underwriting methodology emphasizes analysis of global cash flow coverage, loan to
collateral value and obtaining personal guarantiesin all but afew well-secured cases. Our tiered underwriting structure includes progressive
levels of individual loan authority, concurrence authority and senior level loan committee approval. We intend to continue to emphasize and
adhere to these procedures and controls, which we believe have helped to minimize our level of loan charge-offs.

. Diversified loan portfolio. The Company’s focus on loans to small to medium-sized businesses resultsin amore diffused and diversified
portfolio of relatively smaller loan relationships, thus reducing the risks that result from a dependence on larger lending relationships. As of
December 31, 2019, our average funded core |oan size was approximately $335 thousand. Although we operate in the Houston region, we do
not lend directly to oil and gas exploration and production companies. As of December 31, 2019, 2.9% of our total |oan portfolio wasto
customersin the oilfield services or oil-related industries. We define these customers as those on whom the prices of oil and gas have a
significant operational or financial impact. These loans carry an overall allowance of 1.0% at December 31, 2019, have various types of
collateral and are usually personally guaranteed by the owners of the borrower.

Allegiance Community Banking Services
Lending Activities

We offer awide range of commercial and retail lending services, including commercial loans, loansto small businesses guaranteed by the Small
Business Administration, mortgage |oans, home equity loans, personal loans and automobile loans, among others, specifically designed for small to
medium-sized businesses and companies, professionals and individuals generally located within Texas and primarily in the Houston region. See Item 7.
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Financial Condition—L oan Portfolio” for amore detailed
discussion of the Company’s lending activities.

Deposit Products

Deposits are our principal source of funds for use in lending and other general banking purposes. We offer avariety of deposit products and
services with the goal of attracting awide variety of customers, with an emphasis on small to medium-sized businesses. The types of deposit accounts that
the Company offers are typical of most commercial banks and consist of checking accounts, commercia accounts, money market accounts, savings
accounts and other time deposits of various types and terms. We actively pursue business checking accounts by offering our business customers
competitive rates and convenient services such as telephone, mobile and online banking. Our deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit | nsurance
Corporation (the “FDIC") to the fullest extent permitted by law. See ltem 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Financial Condition—Deposits” for amore detailed discussion of the Company’s deposit products.
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Other Banking Services

We offer basic banking products and services, which we believe are attractively priced, easily understood, convenient and readily accessible to our
customers. In addition to banking during normal business hours, we offer extended drive-through hours, ATMs, mobile banking and banking by telephone,
mail and Internet. Customers can conveniently access their accounts by phone, through a mobile application for smartphones and tablets, as well as
through Internet banking that allows customers to obtain account balances, make deposits, transfer funds, pay bills online and receive electronic delivery
of statements. We also provide safe deposit boxes, debit cards, cash management and wire transfer services, night depository, direct deposits, cashier's
checks and letters of credit. We have established relationships with correspondent banks and other independent financial institutions to provide other
services requested by customers, including loan participations sold when the requested |oan amount exceeds the lending limitsin our lending policies.

Competition

We competein the highly competitive commercial banking industry through the Bank and firmly believe that the Bank’s presence in the community
and philosophy of personalized service enhances our ability to attract and retain customers. The Bank faces strong direct competition for deposit funds,
lending opportunities, talented bankers, acquisition candidates and other financial-related services. We compete with other commercial banks, thrifts and
credit unions and other financial institutions.

We compete for loans primarily with other commercial banks, savings banks, savings and |oan associations, credit unions, finance companies,
mutual funds, insurance companies, brokerage and investment banking firms, asset-based nonbank Ienders and certain other nonfinancial entities,
including retail storesthat may maintain their own credit programs and certain governmental organizations, al of which are actively engaged in providing
various types of loans and other financial servicesthat may offer more favorable financing than we are able to offer. Although some of our competitors are
situated locally, others have statewide or nationwide presence. We believe that we are able to compete with other financial institutions because of our
experienced banking professionals, the range and quality of products that we offer, our responsive decision-making with respect to loans and our emphasis
on customer service, thereby establishing strong customer relationships and building customer loyalty that distinguishes us from our competitors.

Werely heavily on the continued business our Bank's bankers generate and the efforts of our officers and directors to solicit and refer potential
customers, and we expect this reliance to continue for the foreseeable future. We believe that our recent market share gainsin our geographic areas of
operation are areflection of our ability to compete with the larger banking franchisesin our market.

Employees

As of December 31, 2019, we employed approximately 588 full-time equival ent employees. None of our employees were represented by a collective
bargaining unit or are party to a collective bargaining agreement. We believe that we have a good relationship with our employees.

Available I nformation

The Company's website address is www.all egiancebank.com. We make available free of charge on or through our website our annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable after such materials are electronically
filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is not part of this or any other report that we file with or furnish to the SEC.

Regulation and Supervision
The U.S. banking industry is highly regulated under federal and state law. These laws and regulations affect the operations and performance of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Statutes, regulations and policies limit the activitiesin which we may engage and how we conduct certain permitted activities. Further, the bank
regulatory system imposes reporting and information collection obligations. We incur significant costs related to compliance with these |aws and
regulations. Banking statutes, regulations and policies are continually under review by federal and state legislatures and regulatory agencies, and a change
in them, including changesin how they are interpreted or implemented, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The material statutory and regulatory requirementsthat are applicable to us and our subsidiaries are summarized below. The description below is not
intended to summarize all laws and regulations applicable to us and our subsidiaries, and is based upon the
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statutes, regulations, policies, interpretive letters and other written guidance that are in effect as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Bank and Bank Holding Company Regulation

The Bank is a Texas-chartered banking association, the deposits of which areinsured by the FDIC's Deposit Insurance Fund ("DIF") up to
applicable legal limits. The Bank is not amember of the Federal Reserve System; therefore, the Bank is subject to ongoing and comprehensive supervision,
regulation, examination and enforcement by the Texas Department of Banking (the “TDB") and the FDIC.

Any entity that directly or indirectly controls abank must be approved to become a bank holding company by the Federal Reserve under the Bank
Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (the “BHC Act”). Bank holding companies are subject to regul ation, examination, supervision and enforcement
by the Federal Reserve under the BHC Act. The Federal Reserve'sjurisdiction a so extends to any company that isdirectly or indirectly controlled by a
bank holding company.

As abank holding company, we are subject to ongoing and comprehensive supervision, regulation, examination and enforcement by the Federal
Reserve. As abank holding company of a Texas state chartered bank, the Company is also subject to supervision, regulation, examination and enforcement
by the TDB.

Broad Supervision, Examination and Enforcement Powers

A principal objective of the U.S. bank regulatory system isto protect depositors by ensuring the financial safety and soundness of banking
organizations. To that end, the banking regulators have broad regulatory, examination and enforcement authority and regularly examine the operations of
banking organizations.

The regulators have various remedies available if they determine that the financial condition, capital resources, asset quality, earnings prospects,
management, liquidity or other aspects of a banking organization’s operations are unsatisfactory. The regulators may also take action if they determine that
the banking organization or its management is violating or has violated any law or regulation. The regulators have the power to, among other things:

reguire affirmative actions to correct any violation or practice;
issue administrative orders that can be judicially enforced;
direct increasesin capital;

direct the sale of subsidiaries or other assets;

limit dividends and distributions;

restrict growth;

assess civil monetary penalties;

remove officers and directors; and

terminate deposit insurance.

Engaging in unsafe or unsound practices or failing to comply with applicable laws, regulations and supervisory agreements could subject us and our
subsidiaries or their officers, directors and institution-affiliated parties to the remedies described above and other sanctions.

The Dodd-Frank Act

On July 21, 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “ Dodd-Frank Act”) was signed into law. The Dodd-Frank
Act has had a broad impact on the financial servicesindustry, and imposed significant regulatory and compliance requirements, including the designation
of certain financial companies as systemically important financial companies; enhanced oversight of credit rating agencies; the imposition of increased
capital, leverage, and liquidity requirements; and numerous other provisions designed to improve supervision and oversight of, and strengthen safety and
soundness within, the financial services sector.



Source of Strength

Under Federal Reserve policy and federal regulations, bank holding companies are required to act as a source of financial and managerial strength
to their subsidiary banks. Under this requirement, Allegiance is expected to commit resources to support the Bank, including at times when Allegiance may
not be in afinancial position to provide such resources. Any capital loans by a bank holding company to any of its subsidiary banks are subordinate in
right of payment to depositors and to certain other indebtedness of such subsidiary banks. In the event of a bank holding company’s bankruptcy, any
commitment by the bank holding company to afederal bank regulatory agency to maintain the capital of a subsidiary bank will be assumed by the
bankruptcy trustee and entitled to priority of payment.

TheVolcker Rule

The Volcker Rule under the Dodd-Frank Act prohibits banks and their affiliates from engaging in proprietary trading and investing in and
sponsoring certain hedge funds and private equity funds. Since neither Allegiance nor the Bank engages in the types of trading or investing covered by
the Volcker Rule, the Volcker Rule does not currently have any effect on our operations.

Notice and Approval Requirements Related to Control

Federal and state banking laws impose notice, application, approval or non-objection and ongoing regulatory requirements on any shareholder or
other person that controls or seeksto acquire direct or indirect “ control” of an FDIC-insured depository institution. These laws include the BHC Act, the
Changein Bank Control Act and the Texas Banking Act. Among other things, these laws require regulatory filings by a shareholder or other person that
seeks to acquire direct or indirect “ control” of an FDIC-insured depository institution. The determination whether a person “controls” a depository
institution or its holding company is based on all of the facts and circumstances surrounding the investment. As a general matter, a person is deemed to
control adepository institution or other company if the person owns or controls 25% or more of any class of voting stock. Subject to rebuttal, a person may
be presumed to control adepository institution or other company if the person owns or controls 10% or more of any class of voting stock and other
regulatory criteria are met. Ownership by affiliated persons, or persons acting in concert, istypically aggregated for these purposes.

In January 2020, the Federal Reserve approved afinal rulethat clarifies the framework for when a company controls abank holding company or
bank under the BHCA. In particular, the final rule setsforth tiered presumptions of control in the Federal Reserve'sregulations. Under the BHCA, a
company controls abank holding company if it controls 25 percent or more of any class of voting securities of the bank holding company. A company that
controls lessthan 5 percent of any class of voting securities of a bank holding company is presumed not to control the bank holding company. In instances
in which acompany owns at least 5 percent but |ess than 25 percent, the Federal Reserve considers the full fact and circumstances of the relationship
between the company and the bank holding company to determine whether the company controls the bank holding company. As part of its determination
asto control, the Federal Reserve considers, among other things, level of ownership of voting and non-voting securities, board representation, business
relationships, senior management interlocks, contractual limits on major operational or policy decisions, proxies on issues, threats to dispose of securities
and management agreements. The rule also provides several additional examples of presumptions of control and noncontrol, along with various ancillary
provisions such as definitions of terms used in the presumptions. The changesin the final rule become effective April 1, 2020.

Permissible Activities and | nvestments

Banking laws generally restrict our ability to engagein, or acquire more than 5% of the voting shares of acompany engaged in, activities other
than those determined by the Federal Reserve to be so closely related to banking as to be a proper incident thereto. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financia
Modernization Act of 1999 (the “GLB Act") expanded the scope of permissible activities for abank holding company that qualifies asafinancial holding
company. Under the regulations implementing the GLB Act, afinancial holding company may engage in additional activities that are financial in nature or
incidental or complementary to afinancial activity. Those activitiesinclude, among other activities, certain insurance and securities activities. Qualifications
for becoming afinancial holding company include, among other things, meeting certain specified capital standards and achieving certain management
ratings in examinations. Under the Dodd-Frank Act, bank holding companies and their subsidiaries must be well-capitalized and well-managed in order for
the bank holding company and its nonbank affiliates to engage in the expanded financial activities permissible only for afinancial holding company.

In addition, as a general matter, we must receive prior regulatory approval before establishing or acquiring adepository institution or, in certain
cases, anon-bank entity.

The Texas Constitution, as amended in 1986, provides that a Texas-chartered bank has the same rights and privileges that are or may be granted to
national banks domiciled in Texas. To the extent that the Texas laws and regulations may have allowed state-chartered banks to engage in abroader range
of activities than national banks, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 (the “FDICIA"), has operated to limit this authority.
The FDICIA providesthat no state bank or subsidiary



thereof may engage as a principal in any activity not permitted for national banks, unless the institution complies with applicable capital requirements and
the FDIC determines that the activity poses no significant risk to the DIF of the FDIC. In general, statutory restrictions on the activities of banks are aimed
at protecting the safety and soundness of depository institutions.

Branching

Texaslaw provides that a Texas-chartered bank can establish a branch anywhere in Texas provided that the branch is approved in advance by the
TDB. The branch must also be approved by the FDIC. The regulators consider anumber of factors, including financial history, capital adequacy, earnings
prospects, character of management, needs of the community and consistency with corporate powers. The Dodd-Frank Act permitsinsured state banksto
engage in de novo interstate branching if the laws of the state where the new branch isto be established would permit the establishment of the branch if it
were chartered by such state.

Regulatory Capital Requirements and Capital Adequacy

The bank regulators view capital levels asimportant indicators of an institution’s financial soundness. As a general matter, FDIC-insured
depository institutions and their holding companies are required to maintain minimum capital relative to the amount and types of assets they hold. The final
supervisory determination on an institution’s capital adequacy is based on the regulator’s assessment of numerous factors. As a bank holding company
and a state-chartered non-member bank, the Company and the Bank are subject to both risk-based and leverage regulatory capital requirements.

In July 2013, the federal banking agencies published final capital rules (“Basel 111 Capita Rules’) implementing the Basel |11 framework set forth by
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (the “ Basel Committee”) and certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act. While some provisions are tailored to
larger institutions, the Basel 111 Capital Rules generally apply to all banking organizations, including the Company and the Bank. In broad terms, the Basel 111
Capital Rulesincreased the required quality and quantity of the capital base, reduced the range of instruments that count as capital and increased the risk-
weighted asset assessment for certain types of activities. In addition, the Basel |11 Capital Rules subject a banking organization to certain limitations on
capital distributions, equity repurchases and discretionary bonus payments to executive officersif the organization does not maintain a“ capital
conservation buffer” of common equity Tier 1 capital.

Since being fully phased in on January 1, 2019, the Basel |11 Capital Rules, among other things, require the Company to maintain an additional
capital conservation buffer, composed entirely of Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1"), of 2.5%, effectively resulting in minimum ratios of (1) CET1 to risk-
weighted assets of 7.0%, (2) Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.5%, (3) total capital (that is, Tier 1 plus Tier 2) to risk-weighted assets of 10.5% and (4)
Tier 1 capital to average quarterly assets as reported on consolidated financial statements ( known asthe “leverageratio”) of 4.0%. As of December 31,
2019, the Company’sratio of CET1 to risk-weighted assets was 11.42%, Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets was 11.66%, total capital to risk-weighted
assetswas 14.83% and Tier 1 capital to average tangible quarterly assets was 10.02%.

Banking institutions that fail to meet the effective minimum ratios once the capital conservation buffer istaken into account, as detailed above, will
be subject to constraints on capital distributions, including dividends and share repurchases, and certain discretionary executive compensation. The
severity of the constraints depends on the amount of the shortfall and the institution’s “eligible retained income” (that is, four quarter trailing net income,
net of distributions and tax effects not reflected in net income).

The Basel 111 Capital Rules also changed the capital categories for insured depository institutions for purposes of prompt corrective action as
discussed below under “Prompt Corrective Action”. Under the Basel |11 Capital Rules, to be well capitalized, an insured depository institution is required to
maintain aminimum common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of at least 6.5%, atier 1 risk-based capital ratio of at least 8.0%, atotal risk-based capital ratio of at
least 10.0%, and aleverage capital ratio of at least 5.0%. In addition, the Basel |11 Capital Rules established more conservative standards for including an
instrument in regulatory capital and impose certain deductions from and adjustments to the measure of common equity Tier 1 capital.

Under the Basel 111 Capital Rules, banking organizations were provided a one-time option in their initial regulatory financial report filed after
January 1, 2015, to remove certain components of accumulated other comprehensive income from the computation of common equity regul atory capital. For
banking organizations with less than $15 billion in total assets, existing trust preferred securities and cumulative perpetual preferred stock continue to be
included in regulatory capital while other instruments are disallowed. The Basel 111 Capital Rules also provide additional constraints on the inclusion of
minority interests, mortgage servicing assets, deferred tax assets and certain investments in the capital of unconsolidated financial institutionsin Tier 1
capital, aswell as providing stricter risk weighting rules to these assets.

The Basel 111 Capital Rules also provide stricter rulesrelated to the risk weighting of past due and certain commercial real estate loans, aswell ason
some equity investment exposures, and replace the existing credit rating approach for determining the risk weighting of securitization exposureswith an
alternative approach.



Thefederal banking agencies' risk-based and leverage ratios are minimum supervisory ratios generally applicable to banking organizations that
meet certain specified criteria. The federal bank regulatory agencies may set capital requirements for a particular banking organization that are higher than
the minimum ratios when circumstances warrant. Federal Reserve guidelines also provide that banking organizations experiencing internal growth or making
acquisitions will be expected to maintain strong capital positions substantially above the minimum supervisory levels, without significant reliance on
intangible assets.

On May 24, 2018, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act (the “EGRRCPA”) amended provisionsin the Dodd-Frank
Act aswell as certain other statutes administered by the federal bank agencies. Section 201 of the EGRRCPA, directed the agencies to develop acommunity
bank leverage ratio of not less than 8% and not more than 10% for qualifying community banks (qualifying community banking organizations). On
September 17, 2019, the FDIC approved afinal rule allowing community bankswith aleverage capital ratio of at least 9% to be considered in compliance
with Basel |11 capital requirements and exempt from the complex Basel 111 calculation. Under the final rule, banks with less than $10 billion in assets may
elect the community bank leverage ratio framework if they meet the 9% ratio and if they hold 25% or less of assets in off-balance sheet exposures, and 5% or
less of assetsin trading assets and liabilities. For institutions that fall below the 9% capital requirement but remain above 8%, the final rule establishesa
two-quarter grace period to either meet the qualifying criteriaagain or comply with the generally applicable capital rule. We have not elected to use the
community bank leverage ratio framework, but may make such an election in the future.

Prompt Corrective Action

Under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (“FDIA”), the federal bank regulatory agencies must take prompt corrective action against
undercapitalized U.S. depository institutions. U.S. depository institutions are assigned one of five capital categories: “well capitalized,” “ adequately
capitalized,” “undercapitalized,” “significantly undercapitalized,” and “ critically undercapitalized,” and are subjected to different regulation corresponding
to the capital category within which the institution falls. A depository institution is deemed to be “well capitalized” if it has atotal risk-based capital ratio of
10.0% or greater, acommon equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 6.5% or greater, a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 8.0% or greater, aleverage ratio of 5.0% or greater
and the institution is not subject to an order, written agreement, capital directive or prompt corrective action directive to meet and maintain a specific level
for any capital measure. A depository institution is deemed to be “adequately capitalized” if it hasatotal risk-based capital ratio of 8.0% or greater, a
common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 4.5% or greater; aTier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 6.0% or greater; aleverageratio of 4.0% or greater; and does not
meet the criteriafor a“well capitalized” bank. A depository institution is“under-capitalized” if it has atotal risk-based capital ratio of lessthan 8.0%, a
common equity Tier 1 capital ratio lessthan 4.5%, a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of lessthan 6.0% or aleverage ratio of lessthan 4.0%. Under certain
circumstances, a well-capitalized, adequately capitalized or undercapitalized institution may be treated asif the institution were in the next lower capital
category. A banking institution that is undercapitalized is required to submit a capital restoration plan. The capital restoration plan will not be accepted by
the regulators unless each company having control of the undercapitalized institution guarantees the subsidiary’s compliance with the capital restoration
plan up to a certain specified amount.

Failure to meet capital guidelines could subject the institution to avariety of enforcement remedies by federal bank regulatory agencies, including:
termination of deposit insurance upon notice and hearing, restrictions on certain business activities and appointment of the FDIC as conservator or
receiver. As of December 31, 2019, the Bank met the requirementsto be “well capitalized” under the prompt corrective action regulations.

Regulatory Limits on Dividends, Distributions and Repurchases

Asabank holding company, we are subject to certain restrictions on paying dividends under applicable federal and Texas laws and regulations.
The Federal Reserve hasissued a policy statement that provides that a bank holding company should not pay dividends unless (i) its net income over the
last four quarters (net of dividends paid) has been sufficient to fully fund the dividends, (ii) the prospective rate of earnings retention appears to be
consistent with the capital needs, asset quality and overall financial condition of the bank holding company and its subsidiaries and (iii) the bank holding
company will continue to meet minimum required capital adequacy ratios. Accordingly, a bank holding company should not pay cash dividends that exceed
its net income or that can only be funded in ways that weaken the bank holding company’s financial health, such as by borrowing. The Dodd-Frank Act
and Basel |11 capital requirementsimpose additional restrictions on the ability of banking institutions to pay dividends.

Substantially all of our income, and a principal source of our liquidity, are dividends from the Bank. The ability of the Bank to pay dividendsto us
isrestricted by federal and state laws, regulations and policies.

Capital adequacy requirements serve to limit the amount of dividends that may be paid by the Bank. Under the FDIA, an insured depository
institution such as the Bank is prohibited from making capital distributions, including the payment of dividends, if, after making such distribution, the
institution would become “ undercapitalized.” The FDIC may further restrict the payment of dividends by requiring the Bank to maintain a higher level of
capital than would otherwise be required in order to be adequately capitalized for regulatory purposes. Payment of dividends by the Bank also may be
restricted at any time at the discretion of the



appropriate regulator if it deems the payment to constitute an unsafe and unsound banking practice. As noted above, the capital conservation buffer
created under the Basel |11 Capital Rules could also have the effect of limiting the payment of capital distributions from the Bank.

In July 2019, the federal bank regulators adopted final rules that, among other things, eliminated the standal one prior approval requirement in the
capital rulesfor any repurchase of common stock. In certain circumstances, Allegiance's repurchases of its common stock may be subject to a prior
approval or notice requirement under other regulations, policies or supervisory expectations of the Federal Reserve. Any redemption or repurchase of
preferred stock or subordinated debt remains subject to the prior approval of the Federal Reserve.

Reserve Requirements

Pursuant to regulations of the Federal Reserve, all banking organizations are required to maintain average daily reserves at mandated ratios against
their transaction accounts. In addition, reserves must be maintained on certain non-personal time deposits. These reserves must be maintained in the form
of vault cash or in an account at a Federal Reserve Bank.

Limits on Transactionswith Affiliatesand I nsiders

Insured depository institutions are subject to restrictions on their ability to conduct transactions with affiliates and other related parties. Section
23A of the Federal Reserve Act imposes quantitative limits, qualitative requirements, and collateral requirements on certain transactions by an insured
depository institution with, or for the benefit of, its affiliates. Transactions covered by Section 23A include loans, extensions of credit, investment in
securitiesissued by an affiliate and acquisitions of assets from an affiliate. Section 23B of the Federal Reserve Act requires that most types of transactions
by an insured depository institution with, or for the benefit of, an affiliate be on terms, substantially the same or at least as favorable to the insured
depository institution asif the transaction were conducted with an unaffiliated third party.

The Dodd-Frank Act generally enhances the restrictions on transactions with affiliates under Section 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act,
including an expansion of the definition of “covered transactions” and a clarification regarding the amount of time for which collateral requirements
regarding covered credit transactions must be satisfied. The ability of the Federal Reserve to grant exemptions from these restrictionsis a so narrowed by
the Dodd-Frank Act, including by requiring coordination with other bank regulators.

The Federal Reserve's Regulation O imposes restrictions and procedural requirements in connection with the extension of credit by an insured
depository institution to directors, executive officers, principal shareholders and their related interests.

Brokered Deposits

The FDIA restricts the use of brokered deposits by certain depository institutions. Under the applicable regulations, a“well capitalized insured
depository institution” may solicit and accept, renew or roll over any brokered deposit without restriction. An “adequately capitalized insured depository
institution” may not accept, renew or roll over any brokered deposit unlessit has applied for and been granted awaiver of this prohibition by the FDIC. An
“undercapitalized insured depository institution” may not accept, renew or roll over any brokered deposit. The FDIC may, on a case-by-case basis and
upon application by an adequately capitalized insured depository institution, waive the restriction on brokered deposits upon afinding that the acceptance
of brokered deposits does not constitute an unsafe or unsound practice with respect to such institution.

In addition, the FDIA prohibits an insured depository institution from offering interest rates on any deposits significantly higher than the
prevailing rate in the bank’s normal market area or nationally (depending upon where the deposits are solicited), unlessit iswell capitalized or is adequately
capitalized and receives awaiver from the FDIC. A depository institution that is adequately capitalized and accepts brokered deposits under awaiver from
the FDIC may not pay an interest rate on any deposit in excess of 75 basis points over certain prevailing market rates.

In December 2019, the FDIC proposed new rules to modernize its brokered deposit regulations. The proposal would establish a new framework for
analyzing whether deposits placed through deposit placement arrangements qualify as brokered deposits. Under the proposed rule, the FDIC would revise
the "facilitation" prong of the deposit broker definition so that it appliesto any person that engages in specified activities, and provide that a wholly owned
operating subsidiary be eligible for the "insured depository institution exception™ to the "deposit broker" definition under certain circumstances. The FDIC
also would amend the "primary purpose” exception to apply when the primary purpose of an agent's or nominee's business relationship with its customers
is not the placement of funds with insured depository institutions. The availability of the primary purpose exception would be clarified for third parties that
place deposits through brokerage sweep accounts, under certain conditions, and to third parties whose primary purpose is enabling customers to make
payments, under certain conditions. The FDIC would establish an application process for any third party that wishes to use the primary purpose exception,
and would require ongoing reporting.



Concentrated Commercial Real Estate Lending Guidance

The federal banking agencies, including the FDIC, have promulgated guidance governing financial institutions with concentrationsin commercial
real estate lending. The guidance provides that a bank has a concentration in commercial real estate lending if (i) total reported loansfor construction, land
development, and other land represent 100% or more of total capital or (ii) total reported loans secured by multifamily and non-farm residential properties
and loans for construction, land development, and other land represent 300% or more of total capital and the bank’s commercial real estate loan portfolio
hasincreased 50% or more during the prior 36 months. Owner-occupied commercial real estate |oans are excluded from this second category. If a
concentration is present, management must employ heightened risk management practices that address the following key elements: board and management
oversight and strategic planning, portfolio management, development of underwriting standards, risk assessment and monitoring through market analysis
and stress testing and maintenance of increased capital levels as needed to support the level of commercial real estate lending.

Examination and Examination Fees

The FDIC periodically examines and eval uates state non-member banks. Based on such an evaluation, the Bank, among other things, may be
required to revalue its assets and establish specific reserves to compensate for the difference between the Bank’s assessment and that of the FDIC. The
TDB also conducts examinations of state banks but may accept the results of afederal examination in lieu of conducting an independent examination. In
addition, the FDIC and TDB may elect to conduct ajoint examination. The TDB charges feesto recover the costs of examining Texas chartered banks, as
well asfiling feesfor certain applications and other filings. The Dodd-Frank Act provides various agencies with the authority to assess additional
supervision fees.

Deposit I nsurance and Deposit | nsurance Assessments

The FDIC isan independent federal agency that insures the deposits of federally insured depository institutions up to applicable limits. The FDIC
also has certain regulatory, examination and enforcement powers with respect to FDIC-insured institutions. The deposits of the Bank are insured by the
FDIC up to applicable limits. As a general matter, the maximum deposit insurance amount is $250 thousand per depositor. FDIC-insured depository
institutions are required to pay deposit insurance assessments to the FDIC. The amount of a particular institution’s deposit insurance assessment for
institutions with less than $10 billion in assets is based on that institution’s risk classification under an FDIC risk based assessment system. An
institution’srisk classification is assigned based on its capital levels and the level of supervisory concern the institution poses to the regulators.
Institutions assigned to higher risk categories (that is, institutions that pose a higher risk of loss to the Deposit | nsurance Fund) pay assessments at higher
rates than institutions that pose alower risk. The FDIC has the ability to make discretionary adjustmentsto the total score based upon significant risk
factorsthat are not adequately captured in the calculations.

Under the FDIA, the FDIC may terminate deposit insurance upon afinding that the institution has engaged in unsafe and unsound practices, isin
an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations or has violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, order or condition imposed by the FDIC. In
addition, the FDIC is authorized to conduct examinations of and require reporting by FDIC-insured institutions.

Depositor Preference

The FDIA providesthat, in the event of the “liquidation or other resolution” of an insured depository institution, the claims of depositors of the
ingtitution (including the claims of the FDIC as subrogee of insured depositors) and certain claims for administrative expenses of the FDIC as areceiver will
have priority over other general unsecured claims against the institution. If the Company investsin or acquires an insured depository institution that fails,
insured and uninsured depositors, along with the FDIC, will have priority in payment ahead of unsecured, non-deposit creditors, including the Company,
with respect to any extensions of credit they have made to such insured depository institution.

Anti-Money Laundering and OFAC

Under federal law, financial institutions must maintain anti-money laundering programs that include established internal policies, procedures and
controls, a designated compliance officer, an ongoing employee training program and testing of the program by an independent audit function. Financial
institutions are al so prohibited from entering into specified financial transactions and account relationships and must meet enhanced standards for due
diligence and customer identification in their dealings with non-U.S. financial institutions and non-U.S. customers. Financial institutions must
take reasonabl e steps to conduct enhanced scrutiny of account rel ationships to guard against money laundering and to report any suspicious transactions,
and law enforcement authorities have been granted increased access to financial information maintained by financial institutions. Bank regulators routinely
examine institutions for compliance with these obligations and they must consider an institution’'s compliance with such obligationsin
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connection with the regulatory review of applications, including applications for mergers and acquisitions. The regulatory authorities have imposed cease
and desist orders and civil money penalty sanctions against institutions found to be violating these obligations.

The U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“*OFAC”) isresponsible for helping to ensure that U.S. entities do not
engage in transactions with certain prohibited parties, as defined by various Executive Orders and Acts of Congress. OFAC publishes lists of persons,
organizations and countries suspected of aiding, harboring or engaging in terrorist acts, known as Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons. If
the Company or the Bank finds a name on any transaction, account or wire transfer that is on an OFAC list, the Company or the Bank must freeze or block
such account or transaction, file a suspicious activity report and notify the appropriate authorities.

Consumer Laws and Regulations
Banking organizations are subject to numerous laws and regul ations intended to protect consumers. These lawsinclude, among others:
* Truthin Lending Act;
* Truth in Savings Act;
« Electronic Funds Transfer Act;
» Expedited Funds Availability Act;
* Equal Credit Opportunity Act;
« Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act;
* Fair Housing Act;
« Fair Credit Reporting Act;
« Fair Debt Collection Act;
» Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act;
* Home Mortgage Disclosure Act;
* Right to Financial Privacy Act;
* Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act;
« lawsregarding unfair and deceptive acts and practices; and
e usury laws.

Many states and local jurisdictions have consumer protection laws anal ogous to, and in addition to, those listed above. These federal, state and
local laws regulate the manner in which financial institutions deal with customers when taking deposits, making loans or conducting other types of
transactions. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could give rise to regulatory sanctions, customer rescission rights, action by state and local
attorneys general and civil or criminal liability.

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. The Dodd-Frank Act created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “CFPB”), which is tasked
with establishing and implementing rules and regul ations under certain federal consumer protection laws with respect to the conduct of providers of certain
consumer financial products and services. The CFPB has rulemaking authority over many of the statutes governing products and services offered to bank
and thrift consumers. For banking organizations with assets of $10 billion or more, the CFPB has exclusive rule-making, examination, and primary
enforcement authority under federal consumer financial laws. The creation of the CFPB by the Dodd-Frank Act has led to enhanced enforcement of

consumer financial protection laws.

Mortgage loan origination. The Dodd-Frank Act authorized the CFPB to establish certain minimum standards for the origination of residential
mortgages, including a determination of the borrower’s ability to repay aresidential mortgage loan. Under
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the Dodd-Frank Act, financial institutions may not make aresidential mortgage loan unless they make a“reasonable and good faith determination” that the
consumer has a*“reasonable ability” to repay the loan. The Dodd-Frank Act allows borrowers to raise certain defenses to foreclosure, but provides afull or
partial safe harbor from such defenses for loans that are “ qualified mortgages.” The CFPB has promulgated rules to, among other things, specify the types
of income and assets that may be considered in the ability to repay determination, the permissible sources for verification and the required methods of
calculating the loan’s monthly payments. The rules extend the requirement that creditors verify and document a borrower’sincome and assets to include all
information that creditorsrely on in determining repayment ability. The rules also provide further examples of third party documents that may berelied on
for such verification, such as government records and check cashing or funds transfer service receipts. The rules also define “ qualified mortgages,”
imposing both underwriting standards—for example, aborrower’s debt to income ratio may not exceed 43%—and limits on the terms of their loans. Points
and fees are subject to arelatively stringent cap, and the termsinclude awide array of payments that may be made in the course of closing aloan. Certain
loans, including interest only loans and negative amortization loans, cannot be qualified mortgages.

The Community Reinvestment Act

The Community Reinvestment Act (the “CRA™) and related regulations are intended to encourage banks to help meet the credit needs of their
service areas, including low and moderate-income neighborhoods, consistent with safe and sound operations. The bank regulators examine and assign
each bank a public CRA rating. The CRA requires bank regulators to take into account the bank’s record in meeting the needs of its service areawhen
considering an application by a bank to establish or relocate a branch or to conduct certain mergers or acquisitions. The Federal Reserveisrequired to
consider the CRA records of abank holding company’s controlled banks when considering an application by the bank holding company to acquire a
banking organization or to merge with another bank holding company. When we or the Bank applies for regulatory approval to engage in certain
transactions, the regulators will consider the CRA record of target institutions and our depository institution subsidiaries. An unsatisfactory CRA record
could substantially delay approval or result in denial of an application. The regulatory agency’s assessment of the institution’srecord is made available to
the public. The Bank received an overall CRA rating of “satisfactory” on its most recent CRA examination.

In December 2019, the FDIC and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”) jointly proposed rules that would significantly change
existing CRA regulations. The proposed rules are intended to increase bank activity in low- and moderate-income communities where there is significant
need for credit, more responsible lending, greater access to banking services, and improvementsto critical infrastructure. The proposals change four key
areas: (i) clarifying what activities qualify for CRA credit; (ii) updating where activities count for CRA credit; (iii) providing amore transparent and objective
method for measuring CRA performance; and (iv) revising CRA-related data collection, record keeping, and reporting. However, the Federal Reserve Board
has not joined the proposed rulemaking. As such, we will continue to evaluate the impact of any changes to the regul ations implementing the CRA and
their impact to our financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

I ncentive Compensation Guidance

The Federal Reserve Board reviews, as part of itsregular, risk-focused examination process, the incentive compensation arrangements of banking
organizations, such as the Company, that are not “large, complex banking organizations.” These reviews are tailored to each organization based on the
scope and complexity of the organization’s activities and the prevalence of incentive compensation arrangements. Deficiencies will be incorporated into the
organization’s supervisory ratings, which can affect the organization’s ability to make acquisitions and take other actions. Enforcement actions may be
taken against abanking organization if itsincentive compensation arrangements, or related risk-management control or governance processes, pose arisk
to the organization’s safety and soundness and the organization is not taking prompt and effective measures to correct the deficiencies.

In July 2010, the federal banking agenciesissued guidance on incentive compensation policies that appliesto al banking organizations supervised
by the agencies, including Allegiance and the Bank. Pursuant to the guidance, to be consistent with safety and soundness principles, a banking
organization’sincentive compensation arrangements should: (1) provide employees with incentives that appropriately balance risk and reward; (2) be
compatible with effective controls and risk management; and (3) be supported by strong corporate governance including active and effective oversight by
the banking organization’s board of directors. Monitoring methods and processes used by a banking organization should be commensurate with the size
and complexity of the organization and its use of incentive compensation.

Section 956 of the Dodd-Frank Act requiresthe federal bank regulatory agencies and the SEC to establish joint regulations or guidelines
prohibiting incentive-based payment arrangements at specified regul ated entities that encourage inappropriate risk-taking by providing an executive officer,
employee, director or principal shareholder with excessive compensation, fees or benefits or that could lead to material financial lossto the entity. The
federal bank regulatory agenciesissued such proposed rulesin April 2011 and issued a revised proposed rule in June 2016 implementing the requirements
and prohibitions set forth in Section 956. The revised proposed rule would apply to all banks, among other institutions, with at least $1 billion in average
total consolidated assets, for which it would go beyond the existing guidance to (i) prohibit certain types and features of incentive-based compensation
arrangements for senior executive officers, (ii) require incentive-based compensation arrangements to adhere to certain basic principlesto avoid a
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presumption of encouraging inappropriaterisk, (iii) require appropriate board or committee oversight, (iv) establish minimum recordkeeping and (v) mandate
disclosures to the appropriate federal banking agency.

Cybersecurity

Federal bank regulatory agencies have adopted guidelines for establishing information security standards and cybersecurity programs for
implementing safeguards. These guidelines, along with related regulatory materials, increasingly focus on risk management and processes related to
information technology and the use of third partiesin the provision of financial services. Stateregulators have also been increasingly activein
implementing privacy and cybersecurity standards and regulations. Many states have recently implemented or modified their data breach notification and
data privacy requirements, which could apply to us depending on the location of our customers.

In February 2018, the SEC published interpretive guidance to assist public companiesin preparing disclosures about cybersecurity risks and
incidents. These SEC guidelines, and any other regulatory guidance, are in addition to notification and disclosure requirements under state and federal
banking law and regulations.

Changesin Laws, Regulations or Policies

Federal, state and local legislators and regulators regularly introduce measures or take actions that would modify the regulatory requirements
applicable to banks, their holding companies and other financial institutions. Changesin laws, regulations or regulatory policies could adversely affect the
operating environment for usin substantial and unpredictable ways, increase or decrease our cost of doing business, impose new restrictions on the way in
which the Company conductsits operations or modify significant operational constraints that might impact the Company’s profitability. Whether new
legislation will be enacted and, if enacted, the effect that it, or any implementing regulations, would have on the Company and its subsidiaries’ business,
financial condition or results of operations cannot be predicted. A changein laws, regulations or regulatory policies may have amaterial adverse effect on
the Company’s business and results of operations.

Effect on Economic Environment

The policies of regulatory authorities, including the monetary policy of the Federal Reserve, have a significant effect on the operating results of
bank holding companies and their subsidiaries. Among the means available to the Federal Reserve to affect the money supply are open market operationsin
U.S. government securities, changes in the discount rate on member bank borrowings, and changes in reserve requirements with respect to deposits. These
means are used in varying combinations to influence overall growth and distribution of bank loans, investments and deposits, and their use may affect
interest rates charged on loans or paid for deposits. Federal Reserve monetary policies have materially affected the operating results of commercial banksin
the past and are expected to continue to do so in the future. The Company cannot predict the nature of future monetary policies and the effect of such
policieson its business and earnings.

ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves risks. The following is a description of the material risks and uncertainties that we believe affect our
business and an investment in our common stock. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently deemimmaterial, also
may become important factors that affect the Company and our business. If any of the risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K wereto occur,
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially and adver sely affected. In such an event, the value of our common stock
could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment.
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Risks Related to our Business

Our business concentration in Texas, specifically in the Houston region, imposes risks and may magnify the consequences of any regional or
local economic downturn affecting Houston, including any downturn in the energy or real estate sectors.

We conduct our operations almost exclusively in the Houston region. As of December 31, 2019, the substantial majority of the loansin our loan
portfolio were made to borrowers who live and/or conduct business in Texas, and specifically, in the Houston region, and the substantial majority of our
secured |oans were secured by collateral located in the Houston region. Accordingly, we are significantly exposed to risks associated with alack of
geographic diversification. The economic conditionsin the Houston region are dependent on the energy sector generally and the price of oil and gas
specifically. Any downturn or adverse development in the energy sector or continued low oil or gas prices could have amaterial adverseimpact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and future prospects. Adverse economic developments, among other things, could negatively affect the
volume of loan originations, increase the level of nonperforming assets and charge-offs, increase the rate of foreclosure losses on loans and reduce the
value of our loans and loan servicing portfolio. Any regional or local economic downturn that affects the Houston region or Texas more generally, or our
existing borrowers, prospective borrowers or property values in the Company’s market area may affect our profitability more significantly and more
adversely than those of our competitors with operations that are less geographically concentrated in the same area.

We may not be able to implement aspects of our growth strategy, which may affect our ability to maintain our historical earningstrends.

The Company’s growth strategy focuses on organic growth, supplemented by strategic acquisitions. The Company may not be able to execute on
aspects of its growth strategy to sustain its historical rate of growth or may not be able to grow at all. More specifically, the Company may not be able to
generate sufficient new loans and deposits within acceptable risk and expense tol erances, obtain the personnel or funding necessary for additional growth
or find suitable acquisition candidates. Various factors, such as economic conditions, in particular, the volatility of oil and gas prices and competition, may
impede or prohibit the growth of the Company’s operations, the opening of new branches and the consummation of additional acquisitions. Further, the
Company may be unable to attract and retain experienced bankers, which could adversely affect its growth. The success of the Company’s growth strategy
also depends on its ability to effectively manage growth, which is dependent upon a number of factors, including the Company’s ability to adapt its existing
credit, operational, technology and governance infrastructure to accommodate expanded operations. If the Company failsto implement one or more aspects
of its growth strategy, the Company may be unable to maintain its historical earnings trends, which could adversely affect its business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our ability to retain bankers and recruit additional successful bankersiscritical to the success of our business strategy and any failure to do so
could impair our customer relationships and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our ability to retain and grow our loans, deposits and fee income depends upon the business generation capabilities, reputation and the
relationship management skills of our bankers. If we were to lose the services of any of our bankers, including successful bankers employed by an acquired
bank, to a competitor or otherwise, the Company may not be able to retain valuabl e relationships and some of our customers could choose to use the
services of acompetitor instead of our services.

Our success and growth strategy also depends on our continued ability to attract and retain experienced loan officers and support staff, aswell as
other management personnel. The Company may face difficultiesin recruiting and retaining bankers and other personnel of our desired caliber, including as
aresult of competition from other financial institutions. Competition for loan officers and other personnel is strong and the Company may not be successful
in attracting or retaining the personnel it requires. In particular, many of our competitors are significantly larger with greater financial resources, and may be
able to offer more attractive compensation packages and broader career opportunities. Additionally, the Company may incur significant expenses and
expend significant time and resources on training, integration and business development before it is able to determine whether a new loan officer will be
profitable or effective. If we are unable to attract and retain successful |oan officers and other personnel, or if our loan officers and other personnel fail to
meet our expectationsin terms of customer relationships and profitability, we may be unable to execute our business strategy and our business, financial
condition, results of operations and growth prospects may be negatively affected.
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We are dependent on our executive officers and other key individualsto continue the implementation of our long-term business strategy and
theloss of one or more of these key individuals could curtail our growth and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

Our continued success depends in large part upon the skills, experience and continued service of our executive management team and Board of
Directors. Our goals, strategies and continued growth are closely tied to the strengths and banking philosophy of our executive management team,
including our Chief Executive Officer, Steven F. Retzloff, and our President, Ramon A. Vitulli, I11. Successful implementation of our business strategy is also
dependent in part on the continued service of our bank office presidents. The community involvement and diverse and extensive local business
relationships and experience in the Houston market of our officersin the Houston region are important to our success. The loss of services of any of these
key personnel in the future could have a negative impact on our business because of their skills, years of industry experience and the difficulty of promptly
finding qualified replacement personnel who are experienced in the specialized aspects of our business or who have ties to the communities within our
market area. Currently, it isgenerally our policy not to have employment agreements with our officers. While the Company does not anticipate any changes
in our executive management team, the unexpected loss of any of these members of management could have amaterial adverse effect on the Company and
our ability to implement our business strategy.

A key piece of our strategic growth plan involves decision-making authority at the bank office level, and our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects could be negatively affected if our local teams do not follow our internal policiesor are negligent in their decision-
making.

We attract and retain our management talent by empowering them to make certain business decisions on alocal level. Lending authorities are
assigned to bank office presidents and their banking teams based on their level of experience. Additionally, all loan relationshipsin excess of internal
specified maximums are reviewed by a senior level loan committee, comprised of senior management of the Bank. Our local bankers may not follow our
internal procedures or otherwise act in our best interests with respect to our decision-making. A failure of our employeesto follow our internal policies, or
actions taken by our employees that are negligent, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

Our strategic growth plan, which includes pursuing acquisitions, could expose the Company to financial, execution and operational risksthat
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operationsand growth prospects.

The Company has acquired three financial institutions and one branch and intends to continue to pursue a strategy that includes future
acquisitions. An acquisition strategy involves significant risks, including the following:

« discovering proper candidates for acquisition;

incurring time and expense associated with identifying and evaluating potential acquisitions and negotiating potential transactions, resulting in
management’s attention being diverted from the operation of our existing business;

using inaccurate estimates and judgments to eval uate credit, operations, management, compliance and market risks with respect to the target
institution or assets;

conducting adequate due diligence and managing known and unknown risks and uncertainties;

obtaining necessary regulatory approvals;

integrating the operations and personnel of the combined businesses, thereby creating an adverse short-term effect on results of operations;

attracting and retaining qualified management and key personnel, including bankers;

maintaining asset quality;

attracting and retaining customers;

attracting funding to support additional growth within acceptable risk tolerances; and

maintai ning adequate regulatory capital.
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The market for acquisition targetsis highly competitive, which may adversely affect our ability to find acquisition candidates that fit our strategy
and standards. To the extent that we are unable to find suitable acquisition targets, an important component of our growth strategy may not be realized.
Acquisitions of financial institutions involve operational risks and uncertainties, such as unknown or contingent liabilities with no available manner of
recourse, exposure to unexpected problems such as asset quality, the retention of key employees and customers and other issues that could negatively
affect our business. Acquisitions of financial institutions are also subject to regulatory approvalsthat can result in delays, which in some cases could be
for alengthy period of time or may not be received. The Company may not be able to complete future acquisitions or, if completed, the Company may not be
able to successfully integrate the operations, technology platforms, management, products and services of the entitiesthat it acquires or effectively
eliminate redundancies. The integration process may also require significant time and attention from our management that would otherwise be directed
toward servicing existing business and devel oping new business. Further, acquisitions typically involve the payment of a premium over book and market
values and, therefore, some dilution of our tangible book value and net income per common share may occur in connection with any future acquisition, and
the goodwill that the Company currently maintains or may recognize in connection with future transactions may be subject to impairment in future periods.

Challenging market conditions and economic trends have adversely affected the banking industry and could adver sely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We are a business operating in the challenging and uncertain financial services environment. The success of our business and operationsis
sensitive to general business and economic conditionsin the U.S. and locally in our industry and market. If the U.S. economy weakens and alack of growth
in population, income levels, deposits and business investment in our local market occurs, our growth and profitability from our lending, deposit and asset
management services could be constrained. Although economic conditions have improved in recent years, financial institutions continue to be affected by
volatility in thereal estate market in some parts of the country and uncertain regulatory and interest rate conditions. The Company has direct exposure to
the residential and commercial real estate market in Texas, particularly in the Houston region, and could be affected by these events.

Uncertain market and economic conditions can make our ability to assess the creditworthiness of customers and estimate the lossesin our loan
portfolio more complex. Another national economic recession or continued deterioration of conditionsin our market could drive losses beyond that which
isprovided for in our allowance for loan losses and result in the following consequences, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business:

* loan delinquencies may rise:

+ nonperforming assets and forecl osures may increase;

+ demand for our products and services may decline; and

« collateral securing our loans, especially real estate, may declinein value, which could reduce customers' borrowing power and repayment ability.

Low or volatile oil and gas prices could have an adverse impact on economic conditionsin the U.S. generally and in the Houston region specifically.
Declinesin real estate values, declinesin the volume of home sales and financial stress on borrowers as aresult of low oil and gas prices, including job
losses, could have an adverse effect on our borrowers or their customers, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The small to medium-sized businesses that the Company lends to may have fewer resources to weather adver se business developments, which
may impair a borrower’s ability to repay a loan, and such impairment could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We focus our business devel opment and marketing strategy primarily on small to medium-sized businesses, which we categorize as commercial
borrowing relationships of less than $8 million of exposure. Small to medium-sized businesses frequently have a smaller market share than their competition,
may be more vulnerable to economic downturns, often need substantial additional capital to expand or compete and may experience substantial volatility in
operating results, any of which may impair aborrower’s ability to repay aloan. In addition, the success of a small or medium-sized business often depends
on the management skills, talents and efforts of one or two people or asmall group of people, and the death, disability or resignation of one or more of these
people could have amaterial adverse impact on the business and its ability to repay our loan. If general economic conditions negatively impact the Houston
region or Texas and small to medium-sized businesses are adversely affected, or our borrowers are otherwise affected by adverse business devel opments,
our business, financial condition and results of operations may be negatively affected.
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I mplementation of CECL will change the way we calculate our Allowance for Loan Losses.

The Company will adopt a new accounting standard that became effective on January 1, 2020. This standard, referred to as current expected credit
loss, or CECL, requires financial institutions to determine periodic estimates of lifetime expected credit losses on loans, and recognize the expected credit
losses through the provision for credit losses. CECL changed the prior method of provisioning for loan losses that are probable, which has required us to
increase our allowance for loan losses, and is increasing the types and amounts of data we need to collect and review to determine the appropriate level of
our allowance for loan losses. In addition, the adoption of CECL may result in more volatility in the level of our allowance for loan losses. An increase, to
the extent material, in our alowance for loan losses or expenses incurred to determine the appropriate level of the allowance for loan losses could have a
material adverse effect on our capital levels, financial condition and results of operations. A reduction in our capital levels could subject us to a variety of
enforcement remedies available to the federal regulatory authorities and would negatively impact our ability to pursue acquisitions or other expansion
opportunitiesif we are unable to satisfactorily raise additional capital.

If our allowancefor loan lossesis not sufficient to cover actual loan losses, our earnings may be affected.

The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance for probable incurred |oan losses. We establish our allowance for loan losses and maintain it
at alevel management considers adequate to absorb probable incurred loan losses in our loan portfolio. The allowance for loan | osses represents our
estimate of probablelossesin the portfolio at each balance sheet date and is based upon relevant information available to us, such as past |oan loss
experience, the nature and volume of the portfolio, information about specific borrower situations and estimated collateral values, economic conditions and
other factors. Loan losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of aloan balance is confirmed. Subsequent
recoveries, if any, are credited back to the allowance. Our allowance for |oan |osses consists of ageneral component based upon probable incurred but
unidentified losses in the portfolio and a specific component based on individual |oansthat are considered impaired. In determining the collectability of
certain loans, management also considers the fair value of any underlying collateral. The amount ultimately realized may differ from the carrying value of
these assets because of economic, operating or other conditions beyond our control, and any such differences may be material.

As of December 31, 2019, our allowance for loan losses was $29.4 million, which represented 0.75% of our total loans and 103.76% of our total
nonperforming loans. As of December 31, 2018, our allowance for loan |osses was $26.3 million, which represented 0.71% of our total loans and 79.90% of
our total nonperforming loans as of the same date. Additional oan losses will likely occur in the future and may occur at arate greater than the Company
has previously experienced. We may be required to take additional provisions for loan losses in the future to further supplement the allowance for loan
losses, either due to management’s decision to do so or asrequired by our banking regulators. In addition, federal and state bank regulatory agencies
periodically review our allowance for loan losses and the val ue attributed to nonaccrual loans or to real estate acquired through foreclosure. Such
regulatory agencies may reguire the Company to recognize future charge-offs. Their conclusions about the quality of a particular borrower or our entire loan
portfolio may be different than ours. Any increasein our allowance for loan losses or |oan charge offs as required by these regul atory agencies could have
anegative effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, additions to the allowance may be necessary based on changesin
economic and real estate market conditions, new information regarding existing loans, identification of additional problem loans, accounting rule changes
(like those related to the Financial Accounting Standards Board's rules regarding accounting for current expected credit |osses that became effective on
January 1, 2020) and other factors, both within and outside of our management’s control. These additions may require increased provision expense which
would negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition.

The acquisition method of accounting requires that acquired loans areinitially recorded at fair value at the time of acquisition, which includes an
estimate of |0an |osses expected to be realized over the remaining lives of the loans, and therefore no corresponding allowance for loan lossesis recorded
for these loans at acquisition because credit quality, among other elements, was considered in the determination of fair value. To the extent that our
estimates of fair value aretoo high, it will incur losses associated with the acquired loans.
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Asa significant percentage of our loan portfolio is comprised of real estate loans, an adverse changein the economic conditions of the real
estate mar ket where we operate could affect real estate valuesand may result in losses to our business.

As of December 31, 2019, $3.18 billion, or 81.1%, of our total |oans was comprised of loans with real estate as aprimary or secondary component of
collateral. Thereal estate collateral provides an aternate source of repayment in the event of default by the borrower and may deteriorate in value over the
term of the loan, limiting our ability to realize the full value of the collateral anticipated at the time of the originating loan. A weakening of the real estate
market in our primary market area could have an adverse effect on the demand for new loans, the ability of borrowersto repay outstanding loans, the value
of real estate and other collateral securing the loans and the value of our business. In addition, the volatility of thereal estate market may result in alower
valuation at the time collateral is put on the market for sale. Collateral may have to be sold for less than the outstanding bal ance of the oan, which could
result in losses on such loans. Such declines and losses in real estate values may cause the Company to experience increases in provisions for loan |osses
and charge-offs, which could adversely affect our profitability.

Our commercial real estate and construction, land development and other land loan portfolios expose usto credit risks that may be greater
than therisksrelated to other types of loans.

Asof December 31, 2019, $1.87 hillion, or 47.9%, of our total loans were comprised of commercial real estate loans (including owner-occupied
commercial real estate |loans) and $410.5 million, or 10.5%, of our total loans were comprised of construction, land development and other land loans.
Commercial real estate loans generally involverelatively large balances to single borrowers or related groups of borrowers. Repayment of these loansis
typically dependent upon income generated, or expected to be generated, by the property securing the loan in amounts sufficient to cover operating
expenses and debt service. The availability of such income for repayment may be adversely affected by changes in the economy or local market conditions.
These loans expose alender to greater credit risk than |oans secured by other types of collateral because the collateral securing these loansistypically
more difficult to liquidate due to the fluctuation of real estate values. Unexpected deterioration in the credit quality of our commercial real estate loan
portfolio could require usto increase our allowance for loan losses, which would reduce our profitability and may have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Real estate construction, land development and other similar land loans involve risks attributable to the fact that |oan funds are secured by a project
under construction, and the project is of uncertain value prior to our completion. These risksinclude:

« theviability of the contractor:

« the value of the project being subject to successful completion;

+ the contractor’s ability to complete the project, to meet deadlines and time schedules and to stay within our estimates; and

* concentration of such loanswith a single contractor and our affiliates.

Real estate construction lending often involves the disbursement of substantial funds with repayment dependent, in part, on the success of the
ultimate project rather than the ability of aborrower or guarantor to repay the loan and also presentsrisks of default in the event of declinesin property
values or volatility in the real estate market during the construction phase. If we are forced to foreclose on a project prior to completion, we may be unable
to recover the entire unpaid portion of the loan. In addition, we may be required to fund additional amounts to complete a project and may have to hold the
property for an indeterminate period of time, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A large portion of our loan portfolio is comprised of commercial and industrial loans secured by receivables, inventory, equipment or other
commercial collateral, the deterioration in value of which could increase the potential for future losses.

As of December 31, 2019, $689.4 million, or 17.6%, of our total loans were comprised of commercial and industrial loans that are typically based on
the borrowers’ ability to repay the loans from the cash flow of their businesses. These loans may involve greater risk because the availability of fundsto
repay each |loan depends substantially on the success of the borrower’s businessitself and these loans are typically larger in amount, which creates the
potential for larger losses on asingle loan basis. Commercial and industrial loans are collateralized by general business assets including, among other
things, accounts receivable, inventory and equipment and are generally backed by a personal guaranty of the borrower or principal. This collateral may
declinein value more rapidly than the Company anticipates, exposing it to increased credit risk. In addition, a portion of our customer base, including
customersin the energy and real estate business, may be in industries which are particularly sensitive to commodity prices or market fluctuations, such as
energy and real estate prices. Accordingly, negative changesin commodity prices and real estate values and liquidity could impair the value of the collateral
securing these loans. Significant adverse changes in the economy or local market conditionsin which our commercial lending customers operate could
cause rapid declinesin loan collectability and the values associated with general business assets resulting in inadequate collateral coverage that may
expose the Company to credit losses and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our SBA lending program is dependent upon the federal government and our status as a participant in the SBA's Preferred Lenders Program,
and afailureto originate SBA loansin compliance with SBA guidelines could result in losses on the guaranteed portion of our SBA loans.

We have been approved by the Small Business Administration, or SBA, to participate in the SBA’s Preferred Lenders Program. As an SBA Preferred
Lender, we enable our clientsto obtain SBA loans without being subject to the potentially lengthy SBA approval process necessary for lenders who are
not SBA Preferred Lenders. The SBA periodically reviews the lending operations of participating lenders to assess, among other things, whether the lender
exhibits prudent risk management. When weaknesses are identified, the SBA may request corrective actions or impose enforcement actions, including
revocation of the lender’s Preferred Lender status. If we lose our status as an SBA Preferred Lender, we may lose some or all of our customersto lenders
who are SBA Preferred Lenders, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Asof December 31, 2019, SBA 7(a) and 504 program loans of $182.2 million comprised 4.7% of our loan portfolio, and we intend to grow this segment
of our portfolio in the future. SBA lending programs typically guarantee 75.0% of the principal on an underlying loan. If the SBA establishesthat alosson
an SBA-guaranteed loan is attributabl e to significant technical deficienciesin the manner in which the loan was originated, funded or serviced by us, the
SBA may seek recovery of the principal loss related to the deficiency from us notwithstanding that a portion of the loan was guaranteed by the SBA, which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. While we follow the SBA’s underwriting guidelines, our ability to do so
depends on the knowledge and diligence of our employees and the effectiveness of controls we have established. If our employees do not follow the SBA
guidelinesin originating loans and if our loan review and audit programsfail to identify and rectify such failures, the SBA may reduce or, in some cases,
refuse to honor its guarantee obligations and we may incur losses as a result.

The laws, regulations and standard operating procedures that are applicable to SBA loan products may change in the future. We cannot predict the
effects of these changes on our business and profitability. Because government regulation greatly affects the business and financial results of all
commercial banks and bank holding companies, including our organization, changesin the laws, regulations and procedures applicable to SBA loans could
adversely affect our ability to operate profitably. In addition, the aggregate amount of all SBA 7(a) and 504 |oan guarantees by the SBA must be approved
each fiscal year by the federal government. We cannot predict the amount of SBA 7(a) loan guaranteesin any given fiscal year. If the federal government
were to reduce the amount of SBA loan guarantees, such reduction could adversely impact our SBA Iending program.

A lack of liquidity could adversely affect our operations and jeopardize our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Liquidity isessential to our business. We rely on our ability to generate deposits and effectively manage the repayment and maturity schedules of
our loans and investment securities, respectively, to ensure that we have adequate liquidity to fund our operations. An inability to raise funds through
deposits, borrowings, the sale of our investment securities, the sale of loans and other sources could have a substantial negative effect on our liquidity.
Our most important source of funds is deposits. Deposit balances can decrease when customers perceive alternative investments as providing a better
risk/return tradeoff. If customers move money out of bank deposits and into other investments such as money market funds, we would lose arelatively low-
cost source of funds, increasing our funding costs and reducing our net interest income and net income.

Other primary sources of funds consist of cash flows from operations, maturities and sales of investment securities and proceeds from the issuance
and sale of our equity and debt securitiesto investors. Additional liquidity is provided by our ability to borrow from the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas and
the Federal Home Loan Bank (the“FHLB") and our ability to raise brokered deposits. The Company also may borrow funds from third-party lenders, such
as other financial institutions. Our access to funding sources in amounts adequate to finance or capitalize our activities, or on termsthat are acceptable to
us, could be impaired by factorsthat affect us directly or the financial servicesindustry or economy in general, such as disruptionsin the financial markets
or negative views and expectations about the prospects for the financial servicesindustry. Our access to funding sources could also be affected by a
decreasein thelevel of our business activity as aresult of adownturn in the economy of the Houston region or by one or more adverse regulatory actions
against us.

Based on our experience, we believe that our deposit accounts are relatively stable sources of funds. If we increase interest rates paid to retain
deposits, our earnings may be adversely affected, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Any declinein available funding could adversely impact our ability to originate loans, invest in securities, meet our expenses or fulfill obligations
such as repaying our borrowings, funding unfunded commitments or meeting deposit withdrawal demands, any of which could have amaterial adverse
impact on our liquidity, business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may need to raise additional capital in the future, and such capital may not be available when needed or at all.

We may need to raise additional capital, in the form of additional debt or equity, in the future to have sufficient capital resources and liquidity to
meet our commitments and fund our business needs and future growth, particularly if the quality of our assets or earnings were to deteriorate significantly.
Our ability to raise additional capital, if needed, will depend on, among other things, conditionsin the capital markets at that time, which are outside of our
control, and our financial condition. Economic conditions and aloss of confidence in financial institutions may increase our cost of funding and limit access
to certain customary sources of capital or make such capital only available on unfavorable terms, including interbank borrowings, repurchase agreements
and borrowings from the discount window of the Federal Reserve. We may not be able to obtain capital on acceptable termsor at all. Any occurrence that
may limit our access to the capital markets, such as a decline in the confidence of debt purchasers, depositors of our bank or counterparties participating in
the capital markets or other disruption in capital markets, may adversely affect our capital costs and our ability to raise capital and, inturn, our liquidity.
Further, if we need to raise capital in the future, we may have to do so when many other financial institutions are al so seeking to raise capital and would
then have to compete with those institutions for investors. Aninability to raise additional capital on acceptable terms when needed could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Fluctuationsin interest rates may adversely impact our earnings and capital levelsand overall results of operations.

Like most financial institutions, our earnings and cash flows depend to a great extent upon the level of our net interest income, or the difference
between the interest income we earn on loans, investments and other interest-earning assets, and the interest expense we pay on deposits, borrowings and
other interest-bearing liabilities. Therefore, any change in general market interest rates, such as a change in the monetary policy of the Federal Reserve or
otherwise, can have a significant effect on our net interest income. The majority of our banking assets are monetary in nature and subject to risk from
changesininterest rates. Changesin interest rates can increase or decrease our net interest income, because different types of assets and liabilities may
react differently, and at different times, to market interest rate changes. When interest-bearing liabilities mature or reprice more quickly, or to agreater
degree than interest-earning assetsin aperiod, an increase in interest rates could reduce net interest income. Similarly, when interest-earning assets mature
or reprice more quickly, or to agreater degree than interest-bearing liabilities, falling interest rates could reduce net interest income.

Additionally, an increase in interest rates may, among other things, adversely affect the demand for loans and our ability to originate loans and
decrease |oan repayment rates. Conversely, adecreasein the general level of interest rates may affect the Company through, among other things, increased
prepayments on loan and mortgage-backed securities portfolio and increased competition for deposits. Accordingly, changesin the general level of market
interest rates may adversely affect our net yield on interest-earning assets, loan origination volume, loan portfolio and our overall results.

Although our asset-liability management strategy is designed to control and mitigate exposure to the risks related to changes in market interest
rates, those rates are affected by many factors outside of our control, including various governmental and regulatory monetary policies, inflation, recession,
changesin unemployment, the money supply, international disorder and instability in domestic and foreign financial markets. Adverse changesin the
Federal Reserve interest rate policies or other changes in monetary policies and economic conditions could materially and adversely affect the Company.
We may not be able to accurately predict the likelihood, nature and magnitude of those changes or how and to what extent they may affect our business.
The Company also may not be able to adequately prepare for or compensate for the consequences of such changes. Any failureto predict and prepare for
changesin interest rates or adjust for the consequences of these changes may adversely affect our earnings, capital levels and overall results.

I nterest rates on our outstanding financial instruments might be subject to change based on developmentsrelated to LI BOR, which could
adversely affect our revenue, expenses and the value of those financial instruments.

In 2017, the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, publicly announced that it intends to stop persuading or
compelling banks to submit LIBOR rates after 2021. It is expected that a transition away from the widespread use of LIBOR to alternative rates will occur
over the course of the next two years. The Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of U.S. financial market participants,
selected and the Federal Reserve Bank of New Y ork started in May 2018 to publish the Secured Overnight Finance Rate (“* SOFR”) as an alternative to
LIBOR. Uncertainty as to the adoption, market acceptance or availability of SOFR or other alternative reference rates may adversely affect the value of
LIBOR-based loans and securities in the Company’s portfolio and may impact the availability and cost of hedging instruments and borrowings. The
language in the Company’s LIBOR-based contracts and financial instruments has devel oped over time and may have various events that trigger when a
successor index to LIBOR would be selected. If atrigger is satisfied, contracts and financial instruments may give the Company or the cal culation agent, as
applicable, discretion over the selection of the substitute index for the calculation of interest rates. The implementation of a substitute index for the
calculation of interest rates under the Company’s agreements may result in the Company incurring significant expensesin effecting the transition and may
result in disputes or litigation with customers over the appropriateness or comparability to LIBOR of the substitute index, any of which could have an
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations.
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We could recognize losses on securities held in our securities portfolio, particularly if interest ratesincrease or economic and market
conditions deteriorate.

The Company investsin available for sale securities with the primary objectives of providing a source of liquidity, providing an appropriate return
on fundsinvested, managing interest rate risk, meeting pledging reguirements and meeting regul atory capital requirements. As of December 31, 2019, the
amortized cost of our securities portfolio was $366.3 million, which represented 7.3% of total assets. Factors beyond our control can significantly influence
the fair value of securitiesin our portfolio and can cause potential adverse changesto the fair value of these securities. For example, fixed-rate securities are
generally subject to decreases in market value when interest rates rise. Additional factorsinclude, but are not limited to, rating agency downgrades of the
securities, defaults by the issuer or individual borrowers with respect to the underlying securities and continued instability in the credit markets. Any of the
foregoing factors could cause other-than-temporary impairment in future periods and result in realized losses. The process for determining whether
impairment is other-than-temporary usually requires difficult, subjective judgments about the future financial performance of the issuer and any collateral
underlying the security in order to assess the probability of receiving all contractual principal and interest payments on the security. Because of changing
economic and market conditions affecting interest rates, the financial condition of issuers of the securities and the performance of the underlying collateral,
we may recognize realized and/or unrealized losses in future periods, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

| f the goodwill that we have recorded in connection with a business acquisition becomesimpaired, it could require chargesto earnings, which
would have a negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Goodwill represents the amount by which the cost of an acquisition exceeded the fair value of net assets we acquired in connection with the
purchase of another financial institution. The Company reviews goodwill for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if atriggering event occurs
which indicates that the carrying value of the asset might be impaired.

The Company determines impairment by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. If
the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment lossis recognized in an amount equal to
that excess. Any such adjustments are reflected in our results of operationsin the periods in which they become known. Factors that could cause an
impairment charge include adverse changes to macroeconomic conditions, declinesin the profitability of the reporting unit or declines in the tangible book
value of the reporting unit. Subsequent to December 31, 2019, our stock price was trading below book value due to stock price volatility in the market. While
we have not recorded any impairment charges since weinitially recorded the goodwill, our future evaluations of goodwill may result in findings of
impairment and related write-downs, which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. As of December 31, 2019,
our goodwill totaled $223.6 million.

We face strong competition to attract and retain customers from other companiesthat offer banking services, which could impact our business
by preventing us from obtaining customers and adver sely affecting our future growth and profitability.

We conduct our operations almost exclusively in the Houston region. Many of our competitors offer the same, or awider variety of, banking
services within this market area. These competitorsinclude banks with nationwide operations, regional banks and other community banks. The Company
also faces competition from many other types of financial institutions, including savings banks, credit unions, finance companies, mutual funds, insurance
companies, brokerage and investment banking firms, asset-based non-bank lenders and certain other non-financial entities, such asretail stores that may
maintain their own credit programs and certain governmental organizations that may offer more favorable financing or deposit terms than the Company can.
In addition, a number of out-of-state financial intermediaries have opened production offices, or otherwise solicit deposits, in our market area. The financial
servicesindustry could become even more competitive as aresult of legislative, regulatory and technological changes and continued consolidation. In
addition, as customer preferences and expectations continue to evolve, technology has |owered barriersto entry and made it possible for banks to expand
their geographic reach by providing services over the internet and for nonbanks to offer products and services traditionally provided by banks, such as
automatic transfer and automatic payment systems. |ncreased competition in our market may result in reduced loans and deposits, aswell as reduced net
interest margin, fee income and profitability. Ultimately, the Company may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors. If we
are unableto attract and retain banking customers, we may be unable to continue to grow our loan and deposit portfolios, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our ability to compete successfully depends on a number of factors, including, among other things:

+ the ability to develop, maintain and build long-term customer relationships based on top quality service, high ethical standards and safe, sound
assets;

« the scope, relevance and pricing of products and services offered to meet customer needs and demands;
+ therate at which weintroduce new products and services relative to our competitors;
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« customer satisfaction with our level of service;
+ the ability to expand our market position; and
* industry and general economic trends.

Failure to perform in any of these areas could significantly weaken our competitive position, which could adversely affect our growth and
profitability, which, in turn, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Catastrophic events may adver sely affect the general economy, financial and capital markets, specific industriesand us.

Acts of terrorism, cyber-terrorism, political unrest, war, civil disturbance, armed regional and international hostilities and international responsesto
these hostilities, natural disasters (including tornadoes, hurricanes, tropical storms, fires, droughts and floods), global health risks or pandemics or the
threat of or perceived potential for these events could have a negative impact on us. Our business continuity and disaster recovery plans may not be
successful upon the occurrence of one of these scenarios, and a significant catastrophic event could materially adversely affect our operating results.

Our business is generated primarily from the Houston region, which is susceptible to damage by hurricanes, tropical storms, tornadoes, floods,
droughts and other natural disasters and adverse weather. These catastrophic events can disrupt our operations, cause widespread property damage and
severely depressthe local economy in which we operate. These catastrophic events may have an impact on our customers and in turn, on us.

In addition, these events have had and may continue to have an adverse impact on the U.S. and world economy in general and consumer
confidence and spending in particular, which could harm our operations. Any of these events could increase volatility in the U.S. and world financial
markets, which could harm our stock price and may limit the capital resources available to us and our customers. This could have amaterial adverse impact
on our operating results, revenues and costs and may result in increased volatility in the market price of our common stock.

Our reputation and business could be damaged by negative publicity.

Reputation risk, or therisk to our earnings and capital by negative public opinion, isinherent in our business. Negative public opinion could
adversely affect our ability to keep and attract customers and expose us to adverse legal and regulatory consequences. Negative public opinion could
result from our actual or alleged conduct in any number of activities, including lending practices, corporate governance, perception of our environmental,
social and governance practices and disclosures, regulatory compliance, mergers and acquisitions, sharing or inadequate protection of customer
information and from actions taken by government regulators and community organizations in response to that conduct. Negative public opinion could also
result from adverse news or publicity that impairs the reputation of the financial servicesindustry. In addition, adverse publicity or negative information
posted on socia media, whether or not factually correct, may adversely impact our business prospects or financial results.

If the Company failsto maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting, the
Company may not be able to accurately report itsfinancial results or prevent fraud.

Ensuring that the Company has adequate disclosure controls and procedures, including internal controls over financial reporting, in place so that
the Company can produce accurate financial statements on atimely basisis costly and time-consuming and needs to be re-evaluated frequently. In
addition, providing for decision-making authority at the bank office level requires that more employees must follow internal policiesto maintain adequate
disclosure controls and procedures. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting and
for evaluating and reporting on our system of internal control. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposesin accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP’). Asapublic company, we are required to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other rules that govern public
companies and certify our compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires usto furnish annually areport by management on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, beginning with the annual report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020, our
independent registered public accounting firm will be required to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

If we identify material weaknessesin our internal control over financial reporting in the future, if we cannot comply with the requirements of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act in atimely manner or attest that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public
accounting firm cannot express an opinion asto the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting when required, we may not be able to
report our financial results accurately and timely. Asaresult, investors, counterparties and customers may |lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports; our liquidity, access to capital markets and perceptions of our creditworthiness could be adversely affected; and the
market price of our common stock could
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decline. In addition, we could become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC, the Federal Reserve, the
FDIC, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources. These events could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to certain operational risks, including fraudulent activities and data processing system failuresand errors.

We are exposed to many types of operational risk, including the risk of fraudulent activities by employees and outsiders, clerical recordkeeping
errors and transactional errors. Our business is dependent on our employees as well asthird-party service providersto process alarge number of
increasingly complex transactions. We could be materially adversely affected if one of our employees or one of our third-party service providers causes a
significant operational breakdown or failure, either as aresult of human error or where an individual purposefully sabotages or fraudulently manipulates our
operations or systems. Employee or third-party service provider errors and employee or customer misconduct could subject usto financial losses or
regulatory sanctions and seriously harm our reputation. Misconduct by an employee or third-party service provider could include hiding unauthorized
activities from the Company, improper or unauthorized activities on behalf of our customers or improper use of confidential information. It is not always
possible to prevent employee or third-party service provider errors and misconduct, and the precautions the Company takesto prevent and detect this
activity may not be effective in all cases. Employee or third-party service provider errors could also subject the Company to financial claims for negligence.

The Company maintains a system of internal controlsto mitigate against operational risks, including data processing system failures and errors and
customer or employee fraud, aswell as insurance coverage designed to protect the Company from material |osses associated with these risks including
losses resulting from any associated business interruption. However, if our internal controlsfail to prevent or detect an occurrence, or if any resulting loss
isnot insured or exceeds applicableinsurance limits, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, when we originate loans, we rely upon information supplied by loan applicants and third parties, including the information contained in
the loan application, property appraisal and title information, if applicable, and employment and income documentation provided by third parties. If any of
thisinformation is misrepresented and such misrepresentation is not detected prior to loan funding, the Company generally bears the risk of loss associated
with the misrepresentation. Any of these occurrences could result in adiminished ability to operate our business, potential liability to customers,
reputational damage and regulatory intervention, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have a continuing need for technological change, and we may not have the resour ces to effectively implement new technology, or we may
experience operational challenges when implementing new technology.

Thefinancial servicesindustry is changing rapidly, and to remain competitive, we must continue to enhance and improve the functionality and
features of our products, services and technologies. In addition to better serving our customers, the effective use of technology increases efficiency and
enables financial institutions to reduce costs. Our future success will depend, at least in part, upon our ability to respond to future technological changes
and the ability to address the needs of our customers. We address the needs of our customers by using technology to provide products and services that
will satisfy customer demands for convenience aswell asto create additional efficienciesin our operations as we continue to grow and expand our products
and service offerings. We may experience operational challenges as we implement these new technol ogy enhancements or products, which could result in
our not fully realizing the anticipated benefits from such new technology or require usto incur significant costs to remedy any such challengesin atimely
manner. |n addition, complications during a conversion of our core technology platform or implementation or upgrade of any software could negatively
impact the experiences or satisfaction of our customers, which could cause those customers to terminate their relationship with us or reduce the amount of
business that they do with us, either of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Many of our larger competitors have substantially greater resources to invest in technological improvements. Third parties upon which werely for
our technology needs may not be able to devel op on a cost-effective basis systems that will enable usto keep pace with such developments. Asaresullt,
our competitors may be able to offer additional or superior products compared to those that we will be able to provide, which would put us at a competitive
disadvantage. We may lose customers seeking new technol ogy-driven products and services to the extent we are unable to provide such products and
services. The ability to keep pace with technological change isimportant, and the failure to do so could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our operations could beinterrupted if our third-party service providers experience difficulty or terminatetheir services.

Our operations depend on a number of relationships with third-party service providers who provide servicesrelated to, among other things, core
systems processing, essential web hosting and other Internet systems, our online banking services, deposit processing and other processing services.
While we have selected these third-party vendors carefully, we do not control their actions. Any complications caused by these third parties, including
those resulting from disruptions in communication services provided by avendor, failure of avendor to handle current or higher volumes, cyber-attacks
and security breaches at a vendor, failure of avendor to
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provide services for any reason or poor performance of services, could adversely affect our ability to deliver products and services to our customers and
otherwise conduct our business. If these third-party service providers experience difficulties, or terminate their services, and we are unable to replace them
with other service providers, particularly on atimely basis, our operations could be interrupted. If an interruption were to continue for a significant period of
time, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected, perhaps materially. Even if we were able to replace third-party
service providers, it may be at a higher cost, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We could be adversely impacted by fraudulent activity, breaches of our information security and cybersecurity attacks.

Asafinancial institution, we are susceptible to fraudulent activity, information security breaches and cybersecurity-related incidents that may be
committed against us, our clients or third-parties with whom we interact and that may result in financial 1osses or increased coststo us or our clients,
disclosure or misuse of confidential information belonging to us or personal or confidential information belonging to our clients, misappropriation of assets
and litigation. The occurrence of any of these could also damage our reputation. Our industry has seen increasesin electronic fraudulent activity, hacking,
security breaches, sophisticated social engineering and cyber-attacks, including within the commercial banking sector, as cyber-criminals have been
targeting commercial bank accounts on an increasing basis.

Our businessis highly dependent on the security and efficacy of our infrastructure, computer and data management systems, as well as those of
third-parties with whom we interact or on whom we rely. Our business relies on the secure processing, transmission, storage and retrieval of confidential,
proprietary and other information in our computer and data management systems and networks and in the computer and data management systems and
networks of third-parties. In addition, to access our network, products and services, our customers and other third-parties may use personal mobile devices
or computing devices that are outside of our network environment and are subject to their own cybersecurity risks. All of these factors increase our risks
related to cyber-threats and electronic disruptions.

In addition to well-known risks related to fraudulent activity, which take many forms, such as check “kiting” or fraud, wire fraud and other dishonest
acts, information security breaches and cybersecurity-related incidents have become amaterial risk in the financial servicesindustry. These threats may
include fraudulent or unauthorized access to data processing or data storage systems used by us or by our clients, electronic identity theft, “ phishing”,
account takeover, denial or degradation of service attacks and malware or other cyber-attacks.

In recent periods, several governmental agencies and large corporations, including financial service organizations and retail companies, have
suffered major data breaches, in some cases exposing not only their confidential and proprietary corporate information, but also sensitive financial and
other personal information of their employees, clients or other third-parties, and subjecting those agencies and corporations to potential fraudulent activity
and their employees, clients and other third-parties to identity theft and fraudulent activity in their debit card and banking accounts. Therefore, security
breaches and cyber-attacks can cause significant increases in operating costs, including the costs of compensating clients and customers for any resulting
losses they may incur, and the costs and capital expenditures required to correct the deficiencies in and strengthen the security of data processing and
storage systems.

Whilewe invest in systems and processes that are designed to detect and prevent security breaches and cyber-attacks and we conduct periodic
tests of our security systems and processes, we may not succeed in anticipating or adequately protecting against or preventing all security breaches and
cyber-attacks from occurring. Even the most advanced internal control environment may be vulnerable to compromise. Targeted social engineering attacks
are becoming more sophisticated and are extremely difficult to prevent. Additionally, the existence of cyber-attacks or security breaches at third-parties with
accessto our data, such as vendors, may not be disclosed to usin atimely manner. As cyber-threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend
significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any information security
vulnerabilities or incidents.

Asisthe case with non-electronic fraudulent activity, cyber-attacks or other information or security breaches, whether directed at us or third-
parties, may result in amaterial loss or have material consequences. Furthermore, the public perception that a cyber-attack on our systems has been
successful, whether or not this perception is correct, may damage our reputation with customers and third-parties with whom we do business. A successful
penetration or circumvention of system security could cause negative consequences, including loss of customers and business opportunities, disruption to
our operations and business, misappropriation or destruction of our confidential information and/or that of our customers, or damage to our customers’
and/or third-parties’ computers or systems, and could expose us to additional regulatory scrutiny and result in a violation of applicable privacy laws and
other laws, litigation exposure, regulatory fines, penalties or intervention, loss of confidence in our security measures, reputational damage, reimbursement
or other compensatory costs, additional compliance costs and could adversely impact our results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.
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We are subject to laws regarding the privacy, information security and protection of personal information and any violation of these laws or
another incident involving personal, confidential or proprietary information of individuals could damage our reputation and otherwise adversely
affect our operations and financial condition.

Our business requires the collection and retention of large volumes of customer data, including personally identifiable information in various
information systems that we maintain and in those maintained by third parties with whom we contract to provide data services. We also maintain important
internal company data such as personally identifiable information about our employees and information relating to our operations. We are subject to
complex and evolving laws and regul ations governing the privacy and protection of personal information of individuals (including customers, employees,
suppliers and other third parties). Various state and federal banking regul ators and states have also enacted data security breach notification requirements
with varying levels of individual, consumer, regulatory or law enforcement notification in certain circumstances in the event of a security breach. Ensuring
that our collection, use, transfer and storage of personal information complieswith all applicable laws and regulations can increase our costs.

Furthermore, we may not be able to ensure that all of our clients, suppliers, counterparties and other third parties have appropriate controlsin place
to protect the confidentiality of the information that they exchange with us, particularly where such information is transmitted by electronic means. If
personal, confidential or proprietary information of customers or others were to be mishandled or misused (in situations where, for example, such
information was erroneously provided to parties who are not permitted to have the information, or where such information was intercepted or otherwise
compromised by third parties), we could be exposed to litigation or regulatory sanctions under personal information laws and regulations. Concerns
regarding the effectiveness of our measures to safeguard personal information, or even the perception that such measures are inadequate, could cause us
to lose customers or potential customers for our products and services and thereby reduce our revenues. Accordingly, any failure or perceived failure to
comply with applicable privacy or data protection laws and regulations may subject usto inquiries, examinations and investigations that could result in
requirements to modify or cease certain operations or practices or in significant liabilities, fines or penalties, and could damage our reputation and otherwise
adversely affect our operations and financial condition.

We may be subject to environmental liabilitiesin connection with thereal properties we own and the foreclosure on real estate assets securing
our loan portfolio.

In the course of our business, we may acquire real estate in connection with our growth efforts, or we may foreclose on and taketitle to real estate
or otherwise be deemed to be in control of property that serves as collateral on loans we make. As aresult, we could be subject to environmental liabilities
with respect to those properties. We may be held liable to a governmental entity or to third parties for property damage, personal injury, investigation and
clean-up costsincurred by these partiesin connection with environmental contamination, or we may be required to investigate or clean up hazardous or
toxic substances or chemical releases at a property. The costs associated with investigation or remediation activities could be substantial. In addition, if we
are the owner or former owner of a contaminated site, we may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting from
environmental contamination emanating from the property.

The cost of removal or abatement may substantially exceed the value of the affected properties or the loans secured by those properties; we may
not have adequate remedies against the prior owners or other responsible parties; and we may not be able to resell the affected properties either before or
after completion of any such removal or abatement procedures. Furthermore, the value of the property as collateral will generally be substantially reduced,
or we may elect not to foreclose on the property and, as aresult, we may suffer aloss upon collection of the loan. Any significant environmental liabilities
could have amaterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to our Industry and Regulation

Our business, financial condition, results of operations and future prospects could be adversely affected by the highly regulated environment
for bank holding companies and the laws and regulations that govern our operations, corporate governance, executive compensation and accounting
principlesor changesin any of them.

Asabank holding company, we are subject to extensive examination, supervision and comprehensive regulation by various federal and state
agenciesthat govern almost all aspects of our operations. These laws and regulations are not intended to protect our shareholders. Rather, these laws and
regulations are intended to protect customers, depositors, the FDIC's DIF and the overall financial stability of the U.S. These laws and regulations, anong
other matters, prescribe minimum capital requirements, impose limitations on the business activities in which the Company can engage, limit the dividend or
distributions that the Bank can pay to the Company, restrict the ability of institutions to guarantee our debt and impose certain specific accounting
reguirements on the Company that may be more restrictive and may result in greater or earlier chargesto earnings or reductionsin our capital than GAAP
would require. Compliance with these laws and regulationsis difficult and costly, and changes to these laws and regul ations often impose additional
compliance costs. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations, even if the failure follows good faith effortsto comply or reflects adifferencein
interpretation, could subject the Company to restrictions on our business activities, fines and other penalties,
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any of which could adversely affect our results of operations, capital base and the price of our securities. Further, any new laws, rules or regulations could
make compliance more difficult or expensive.

State and federal banking agencies periodically conduct examinations of our business, including compliance with laws and regulations, and
our failure to comply with any supervisory actionsto which it is or becomes subject as a result of such examinations may adver sely affect the Company.

Texas and federal banking agencies, including the TDB and the Federal Reserve, periodically conduct examinations of our business, including
compliance with laws and regulations. If, asaresult of an examination, a Texas or federal banking agency were to determine that the financial condition,
capital resources, asset quality, earnings prospects, management, liquidity or other aspects of any of our operations had become unsatisfactory, or that
Allegiance, the Bank or their respective management were in violation of any law or regulation, it may take anumber of different remedial actionsasit deems
appropriate. These actions include the power to enjoin “unsafe or unsound” practices, to require affirmative actions to correct any conditions resulting
from any violation or practice, to issue an administrative order that can be judicially enforced, to direct an increase in our and/or the Bank’s capital, to
restrict our growth, to assess civil monetary penalties against Allegiance, the Bank or their respective officers or directors, to remove officers and directors
and, if it is concluded that such conditions cannot be corrected or there is an imminent risk of loss to depositors, to terminate the Bank’s deposit insurance.
If we become subject to such regulatory actions, our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and reputation may be negatively
impacted.

We may be unable to identify and consummate our new activities and expansion plans and successfully implement our growth strategy, which
will requireregulatory approvals, and failure to obtain them may restrict our growth.

We intend to continue to grow our business through strategic acquisitions of financial institutions coupled with organic growth. Generally, we
must receive state and federal regulatory approval before we can acquire an FDIC-insured depository institution or related business. In determining whether
to approve a proposed acquisition, federal banking regulators will consider, among other factors, the effect of the acquisition on competition, our financial
condition, liquidity, our future prospects and the impact of the proposal on U.S. financial stability. The regulators also review current and projected capital
ratios and levels, the competence, experience and integrity of management and our record of compliance with laws and regulations, the convenience and
needs of the communities to be served (including the acquiring institution’s record of compliance under the CRA) and the effectiveness of the acquiring
institution in combating money laundering activities. Such regulatory approvals may not be granted on terms that are acceptable to the Company, or at al,
or may be granted only after lengthy delay. We may also be required to sell branches as a condition to receiving regulatory approval, which may not be
acceptableto usor, if acceptable to us, may reduce the benefit of any acquisition.

In addition to the acquisition of existing financial institutions, as opportunities arise, we plan to continue de novo branching as a part of our organic
growth strategy. De novo branching and any acquisitions carry with them numerous risks, including the inability to obtain all required regulatory
approvals. Thefailure to obtain these regulatory approvals for potential future strategic acquisitions and de novo branches may impact our business plans
and restrict our growth.

We face arisk of noncompliance and enforcement action with the Bank Secrecy Act and other anti-money laundering statutes and regulations.

The federal Bank Secrecy Act, the Uniting and Strengthening Americaby Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct
Terrorism Act of 2001 and other laws and regulations require financial institutions, among other duties, to institute and maintain an effective anti-money
laundering program and file suspicious activity and currency transaction reports as appropriate. The federal Financial Crimes Enforcement Network,
established by the U.S. Department of the Treasury (“U.S. Treasury”) to administer the Bank Secrecy Act, is authorized to impose significant civil money
penalties for violations of those requirements, and engages in coordinated enforcement efforts with the individual federal banking regulators, aswell asthe
U.S. Department of Justice (the “ Department of Justice”), Drug Enforcement Administration and Internal Revenue Service.

We provide banking services to customers located outside the United States, primarily in Guatemala. These banking services are primarily deposit
accounts, including checking, money market and short term certificates of deposit. As of December 31, 2019, our deposits from foreign nationals, primarily
residents of Guatemala, accounted for less than 5% of our total deposits.

In order to comply with regulations, guidelines and examination proceduresin this area, we have dedicated significant resources to our anti-money
laundering program. If our policies, procedures and systems are deemed deficient, we could be subject to liability, including fines and regulatory actions
such asrestrictions on our ability to pay dividends and the necessity to obtain regulatory approvalsto proceed with certain aspects of our business plans,
including acquisitions and de novo branching. Failure to maintain and implement adequate programs to combat money laundering and terrorist financing
could also have serious reputational consequences for us.
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Failureto comply with economic and trade sanctions or with applicable anti-corruption laws could have a material adverse impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

OFAC administers and enforces economic and trade sanctions against targeted foreign countries and regimes, under authority of various laws,
including designated foreign countries, national s and others. We are responsible for, among other things, blocking accounts of and transactions with such
persons and countries, prohibiting unlicensed trade and financial transactions with them and reporting blocked transactions after their occurrence. In
addition, we are subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA, which prohibits offering, promising, giving, or authorizing othersto give
anything of value, either directly or indirectly, to anon-U.S. government official in order to influence official action or otherwise gain an unfair business
advantage. We are al so subject to applicable anti-corruption laws in the jurisdictions in which we may operate. Failure to comply with economic and trade
sanctions or with applicable anti-corruption laws, including the FCPA, could have serious legal and reputational consequences for us.

We are subject to numerous federal and state lending laws designed to protect consumers, including the Community Reinvestment Act and fair
lending laws, and failure to comply with these laws could lead to material sanctions and penalties.

The CRA, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair Housing Act and other fair lending laws and regulations impose nondiscriminatory lending
requirements on financial institutions. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, the Department of Justice and other federal and state agencies are
responsible for enforcing these laws and regulations. A successful challenge to an institution’s performance under the CRA or fair lending laws and
regulations could result in awide variety of sanctions, including the required payment of damages and civil money penalties, injunctive relief, imposition of
restrictions on mergers and acquisitions activity and restrictions on expansion activity. Private parties may also have the ability to challenge an institution’s
performance under fair lending lawsin private class action litigation.

We may be required to pay significantly higher FDIC deposit insurance assessmentsin the future, which could adversely affect our earnings.

Asaresult of historical economic conditions and the enactment of the Dodd-Frank Act, the FDIC's current DIF restoration plan is designed to
ensure that the fund reserve ratio reaches 1.35% by September 30, 2020. At least semi-annually, the FDIC updates its |oss and income projections for the
fund and, if needed, increases or decreases assessment rates. |f any required increaseisinsufficient for the DIF to meet its funding requirements, further
special assessments or increases in deposit insurance premiums may be required. We are generally unable to control the amount of premiums that we are
reguired to pay for FDIC insurance. If there are additional financial institution failures that affect the DIF, we may be required to pay FDIC premiums higher
than current levels. Our regulatory assessments and FDIC insurance costs were $1.7 million and $2.3 million for both of the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively. Future additional assessments, increases or required prepaymentsin FDIC insurance premiums may materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Federal Reserve may require Allegiance to commit capital resourcesto support the Bank.

A bank holding company is required to act as a source of financial and managerial strength to its subsidiary banks and to commit resources to
support its subsidiary banks. The Federal Reserve may reguire a bank holding company to make capital injectionsinto atroubled subsidiary bank and may
charge the bank holding company with engaging in unsafe and unsound practices for failure to commit resources to such asubsidiary bank. Under these
regquirements, in the future, Allegiance could be required to provide financial assistance to the Bank if it experiences financial distress.

A capital injection may be required at times when our resources are limited and we may be required to borrow the funds to make the required capital
injection. In the event of abank holding company’s bankruptcy, the bankruptcy trustee will assume any commitment by the holding company to afederal
bank regulatory agency to maintain the capital of a subsidiary bank. Moreover, bankruptcy law provides that claims based on any such commitment will be
entitled to apriority of payment over the claims of the holding company’s general unsecured creditors, including the holders of any note obligations. Thus,
any borrowing that must be done by the holding company in order to make the required capital injection becomes more difficult and expensive and will
adversely impact the holding company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be materially and adversely affected by the soundness, creditworthiness and liquidity of other financial institutions.

Financial servicesinstitutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, counterparty or other relationships. We have exposure to many
different industries and counterparties, and routinely execute transactions with counterpartiesin the financial servicesindustry, including commercial
banks, brokers and dealers, investment banks and other institutional customers. Many of these transactions expose us to credit risk in the event of adefault
by a counterparty or customer. In addition, our credit risk may be exacerbated when the collateral held by us cannot be realized upon or isliquidated at
prices not sufficient to recover the full amount of the credit or derivative exposure due to us. Any such losses could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Monetary policies and regulations of the Federal Reserve could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to being affected by general economic conditions, our earnings and growth are affected by the policies of the Federal Reserve. An
important function of the Federal Reserveisto regulate the U.S. money supply and credit conditions. Among the instruments used by the Federal Reserve
to implement these objectives are open market operationsin U.S. government securities, adjustments of both the discount rate and the federal fundsrate
and changes in reserve requirements against bank deposits. These instruments are used in varying combinations to influence overall economic growth and
the distribution of credit, bank loans, investments and deposits. Their use also affectsinterest rates charged on loans or paid on deposits. The monetary
policies and regulations of the Federal Reserve have had a significant effect on the operating results of commercial banksin the past and are expected to
continue to do so in the future. Although we cannot determine the effects of such policies on us at this time, such policies could have amaterial adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Allegiance's Common Stock

The market price of Allegiance'scommon stock could be volatile and may fluctuate significantly, which could cause the value of an investment
in Allegiance's common stock to decline.

The market price of Allegiance'scommon stock could fluctuate substantially due to avariety of factors, many of which are beyond our control,
including, but not limited to:

+ general economic conditions and overall market fluctuations;

actual or anticipated fluctuationsin our quarterly or annual financial results;

operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to ours;

the perception that investment in Texas is unattractive or less attractive during periods of low oil prices;

announcements by the Company or our competitors of significant acquisitions, dispositions, innovations or new programs and services,

the public reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

changesin financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts following Allegiance's stock, or the failure of securities analyststo
cover Allegiance's common stock;

changesin earnings estimates by securities analysts or our ability to meet those estimates;

the trading volume of Allegiance's common stock;

changesin dividends and capital returns;

changesin governmental monetary policies, including the policies of the Federal Reserve;

changesin business, legal or regulatory conditions, or other developments affecting participantsin our industry, and publicity regarding our
business or any of our significant customers or competitors;

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles; and

« future sales of Allegiance's common stock by the Company, directors, executives and significant shareholders.

Therealization of any of the risks described in this“Risk Factors” section could have a material adverse effect on the market price of Allegiance's
common stock and cause the value of an investment in Allegiance's common stock to decline. In addition, the stock market has experienced extreme
volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. These types of broad market fluctuations may adversely affect
investor confidence and could affect the trading price of Allegiance'scommon stock over the short, medium or long term, regardless of our actual
performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of acompany’s securities, shareholders have often instituted securities class
action litigation. If we wereto be involved in aclass action lawsuit, we could incur substantial costs and it could divert the attention of senior management
and have amaterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The obligations associated with being a public company require significant resources and management attention.

Asapublic company, Allegiance faces increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses that we did not incur asa private
company, particularly after we are no longer an emerging growth company. As apublic company, Allegianceisrequired to:

* prepare and distribute periodic reports, proxy statements and other shareholder communications in compliance with the federal securitieslaws and
rules;

expand the roles and duties of Allegiance's Board of Directors and committees thereof;

maintain an internal audit function;

institute more comprehensive financial reporting and disclosure compliance procedures;

involve and retain to a greater degree outside counsel and accountantsin the activitieslisted above;

enhance Allegiance's investor relations function;

establish new internal policies, including those relating to trading in our securities and disclosure controls and procedures;

retain additional personnel;

comply with the NASDAQ Stock Market listing standards; and

» comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Allegiance expects these rules and regul ations and changesin laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public
disclosure, which have created uncertainty for public companies, to increase legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time
consuming and costly relative to when Allegiance was not a public company. Further, our reporting burden will increase when we no longer qualify for the
scaled disclosure allowed to us as an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act. The full disclosure requirements will be applicable beginning with
the annual report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020, and we will likely incur additional expenses and devote increased management effort towards
compliance.

These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, asaresult, their
application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty
regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. Our investment in compliance
with existing and evolving regulatory requirementswill result in increased administrative expenses and a diversion of management’stime and attention from
revenue-generating activities to compliance activities, which could have amaterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. These increased costs may require that we divert a significant amount of money that we could otherwise use to expand our business and
achieve our strategic objectives.

Allegiance may issue shares of preferred stock in the future, which could make it difficult for another company to acquireit or could otherwise
adversely affect therights of the holders of Allegiance's common stock, which could depress the price of our common stock.

Allegiance's amended and restated certificate of formation authorizesit to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of one or more series of preferred stock.
Allegiance's Board of Directors, inits sole discretion, has the authority to determine the preferences, limitations and relative rights of shares of preferred
stock and to fix the number of shares constituting any series, the designation of such series and the dividend rate for each series, without any further vote
or action by Allegiance's shareholders. Allegiance's preferred stock may be issued with voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights superior to therights
of Allegiance's common stock. The potential issuance of preferred stock may delay or prevent a change in control of the Company, discouraging bids for
Allegiance's common stock at a premium over the market price, and materially adversely affect the market price and the voting and other rights of the
holders of Allegiance'scommon stock.
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Allegiance' s ability to declare and pay dividendsislimited.

We have not paid dividends on our common stock in the past; however, our Board of Directors approved the payment of a quarterly cash dividend
on our common stock during the first quarter of 2020. There can be no assurance of whether or when we may pay dividends on our common stock in the
future. Our ability to pay dividendsis dependent on the Bank's ability to pay dividendsto it, which islimited by applicable laws and banking regulations.
Payments of future dividends, if any, will be declared and paid at the discretion of our Board of Directors after taking into account our business, operating
results and financial condition, current and anticipated cash needs, plan for expansion and any legal or contractual limitations on our ability to pay
dividends. In addition, Allegiance's existing credit agreement restricts our ability to pay dividends.

Allegianceis dependent upon the Bank for cash flow, and the Bank’s ability to make cash distributionsisrestricted, which could impact
Allegiance's ability to satisfy its obligations.

Allegiance's primary tangible asset isthe Bank. As such, Allegiance depends upon the Bank for cash distributions (through dividends on the
Bank’s stock) that Allegiance uses to pay its operating expenses and satisfy its obligations, including debt obligations. There are numerous laws and
banking regulationsthat limit the Bank’s ability to pay dividendsto Allegiance. If the Bank is unableto pay dividendsto Allegiance, it will not be ableto
satisfy its obligations. These statutes and regulations require, among other things, that the Bank maintain certain levels of capital in order to pay a
dividend. Further, federal and state banking authorities have the ability to restrict the Bank’s payment of dividends through supervisory action.

Allegiance's corporate governance documents and certain corporate and banking provisions of Texas law applicableto it could have an anti-
takeover effect and may delay, make more difficult or prevent an attempted acquisition and other actions.

Allegiance's amended and restated certificate of formation and bylaws contain certain provisions that may have an anti-takeover effect and may
delay, discourage or prevent an attempted acquisition or change of control. These provisionsinclude:

« staggered terms for directors, who may be removed from office only for cause;

« aprovision establishing certain advance notice procedures for nomination of candidates for election as directors and for shareholder proposals;
and

« aprovision that any special meeting of Allegiance's shareholders may be called only by a majority of the Board of Directors, the President or a
holder or group of holders of at least 50% of Allegiance shares entitled to vote at the meeting.

Allegiance's amended and restated certificate of formation does not provide for cumulative voting for directors and authorizes the Board of
Directorsto issue shares of preferred stock without shareholder approval and upon such terms as the Board of Directors may determine. The issuance of
Allegiance's preferred stock, while providing desirable flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions, financings and other corporate purposes, could
have the effect of making it more difficult for athird party to acquire, or of discouraging athird-party from acquiring, a controlling interest. In addition,
certain provisions of Texaslaw, including aprovision that restricts certain business combinations between a Texas corporation and certain affiliated
shareholders, may delay, discourage or prevent an attempted acquisition or changein control.

In addition, banking laws impose notice, approval and ongoing regulatory requirements on any shareholder or other party that seeksto acquire
direct or indirect “control” of an FDIC-insured depository institution. These laws include the BHC Act and the Changein Bank Control Act. These laws
could delay or prevent an acquisition.

Furthermore, Allegiance's amended and restated certificate of formation provides that the state and federal courtslocated in Harris County, Texas,
the county in which the City of Houston lies, will be the exclusive forum for: (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on Allegiance's behalf; (b) any
action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; (c) any action asserting a claim against Allegiance arising pursuant to the Texas Business Organizations Code,
Allegiance's certificate of formation, or Allegiance's bylaws; or (d) any action asserting a claim against Allegiance that is governed by the internal affairs
doctrine. Shareholders of Allegiance are deemed to have notice of and have consented to the provisions of Allegiance's amended and restated certificate of
formation related to choice of forum. The choice of forum provision in Allegiance's amended and restated certificate of formation may limit our shareholders
ability to obtain afavorable judicial forum for disputes with Allegiance. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in
Allegiance's amended and restated certificate of formation to beinapplicable or unenforceablein an action, Allegiance may incur additional costs
associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm Allegiance's business, operating results and financial condition.
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Shareholders may be deemed to be acting in concert or otherwisein control of Allegiance, which could impose notice, approval and ongoing
regulatory requirements and result in adverse regulatory consequences for such holders.

Allegianceis abank holding company regulated by the Federal Reserve. Banking laws impose notice, approval and ongoing regulatory
requirements on any shareholder or other party that seeksto acquire direct or indirect “control” of an FDIC-insured depository institution or a company
that controls an FDIC-insured depository institution, such as a bank holding company. These laws include the BHC Act and the Change in Bank Control
Act. The determination whether an investor “controls” adepository institution or holding company is based on all of the facts and circumstances
surrounding the investment. As ageneral matter, a party is deemed to control a depository institution or other company if the party (1) owns or controls
25% or more of any class of voting stock of the bank or other company, (2) controls the election of amajority of the directors of the bank or other company
or (3) hasthe power to exercise a controlling influence over the management or policies of the bank or other company. In addition, subject to rebuttal, a
party may be presumed to control adepository institution or other company if the investor owns or controls 10% or more of any class of voting stock.
Subject to rebuttal, a person may be presumed to control a depository institution or other company if the person owns or controls 10% or more of any class
of voting stock and other regulatory criteriaare met. Ownership by affiliated persons, or persons acting in concert, istypically aggregated for these
purposes.

In January 2020, the Federal Reserve approved afinal rulethat clarifies the framework for when a company controls abank holding company or
bank under the BHC Act. In particular, the final rule setsforth tiered presumptions of control in the Federal Reserve'sregulations. Under the BHC Act, a
company controls abank holding company if it controls 25 percent or more of any class of voting securities of the bank holding company. A company that
controlslessthan 5 percent of any class of voting securities of abank holding company is presumed not to control the bank holding company. In instances
in which acompany owns at least 5 percent but less than 25 percent, the Federal Reserve considers the full fact and circumstances of the relationship
between the company and the bank holding company to determine whether the company controls the bank holding company. As part of its determination
asto control, the Federal Reserve considers, among other things, level of ownership of voting and non-voting securities, board representation, business
relationships, senior management interlocks, contractual limits on major operational or policy decisions, proxies on issues, threats to dispose of securities,
and management agreements. The rule also provides several additional examples of presumptions of control and noncontrol, along with various ancillary
provisions such as definitions of terms used in the presumptions. The changesin the final rule become effective April 1, 2020.

An investment in Allegiance's common stock is not an insured deposit and is not guaranteed by the FDI C, so investors could lose some or all of
their investment.

Aninvestment in Allegiance's common stock is not a bank deposit and, therefore, is not insured against loss or guaranteed by the FDIC, any other
deposit insurance fund or by any other public or private entity. An investment in Allegiance's common stock isinherently risky for the reasons described
herein. Asaresult, investors could lose some or all of their investment.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive officeislocated at 8847 W. Sam Houston Parkway N., Suite 200, Houston, Texas 77040. As of December 31, 2019, we had 27
full-service banking locations, with 26 bank offices and one loan production office located in the Houston metropolitan area and one bank office location in
Beaumont, just outside of the Houston metropolitan area. We lease twelve of these bank offices, the loan production office, aswell as our executive office,
and own the remaining sixteen bank offices. We believe that our current facilities are in good condition and adequate to meet our operating needs for the
present and immediately foreseeable future.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, we are not party to
any legal proceedings the resolution of which we believe would have amaterial adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, liquidity,
results of operation, cash flows or capital levels. However, one or more unfavorable outcomesin any claim or litigation against us could have a material
adverse effect for the period in which such claim or litigation is resolved. In addition, regardless of their merits or their ultimate outcomes, such matters are
costly, divert management’s attention and may materially adversely affect our reputation, even if resolved in our favor. Weintend to defend ourselves
vigorously against any future claims or litigation.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART I1.

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'SCOMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERSAND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Common Stock Market Prices

Allegiance's common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “ABTX.” Quotations of the sales volume and the closing
sales prices of the common stock of Allegiance arelisted daily inthe NASDAQ Global Market'slistings. As of March 5, 2020, there were 20,354,168 shares
outstanding and 1,041 shareholders of record of Allegiance's common stock. The closing price per share of common stock on December 31, 2019, the last
trading day of the year, was $37.60.

Dividends

On January 29, 2020, Allegiance announced itsfirst quarterly dividend of $0.10 to be paid in cash on March 16, 2020 to shareholders of record on
February 28, 2020. Payments of future dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of Allegiance's Board of Directors after taking into account various factors,
including its business, operating results and financial condition, current and anticipated cash needs, plans for expansion and any legal or contractual
limitations on Allegiance's ability to pay dividends.

As abank holding company, Allegiance's ability to pay dividendsis affected by the regulations promulgated by and the policies and enforcement
powers of the Federal Reserve. In addition, because Allegiance is a holding company, it is dependent upon the payment of dividends by the Bank to
Allegiance asits principal source of fundsto pay dividendsin the future, if any, and to make other payments. The Bank is also subject to various legal,
regulatory and other restrictions on its ability to pay dividends and make other distributions and paymentsto Allegiance. See ltem 1. “Business—
Regulation and Supervision—Regulatory Limits on Dividends and Distributions.”

In connection with the F& M Bancshares acquisition, Allegiance assumed junior subordinated debentures that allow it to defer interest payments
thereunder for a period of time. To the extent Allegiance electsto defer any interest payments under the junior subordinated debentures, Allegiance will be
prohibited by the terms of the junior subordinated debentures from making dividend payments on its common stock until it retires the arrearages on the
junior subordinated debentures. In addition, Allegiance's existing credit agreement restrictsits ability to pay dividends.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
Securities Authorized for 1ssuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Thefollowing table provides information as of December 31, 2019, regarding the equity compensation plans under which Allegiance's equity
securities are authorized for issuance:

Number of securities
remaining available

Number of securities for futureissuance
to beissued upon Weighted-aver age under equity
exer cise of exercise price of compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders 484,035 $ 21.66 1,775,509
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders(1) 132,035 $ 13.44 —
Total 616,070 1,775,509

(1) These options were issued under the Post Oak Bancshares, Inc. Stock Option Plan, which was assumed by the Company in connection with the
acquisition of Post Oak Bancshares, Inc.

Pur chases of Equity Securitiesby thelssuer and Affiliated Purchasers

On July 25, 2019, our board of directors authorized a stock repurchase program, under which we may repurchase one million shares of our
outstanding common stock at the discretion of management through July 31, 2020. Repurchases under this program may be made from time to time through
open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or such other manner aswill comply with applicable laws and regulations. During 2019, we
repurchased 1,686,277 shares at atotal cost of $58.7 million.
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The following table providesinformation with respect to purchases made by or on behalf of us or any “ affiliated purchaser” (as defined in Rule 10b-
18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) of our common stock during the fourth quarter of 2019.

Remaining
Total Number of Shares Share Total Number Average
Purchased as Part of Repurchase of Shares Price Paid
Period Publicly Announced Plan Authorization(® Pur chased Per Share
October 1, 2019 to October 31, 2019 14,743 554,267 14743 $ 3288
November 1, 2019 to November 30, 2019 201,429 352,838 201429 $ 3515
December 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019 108,504 244,334 108504 $ 36.34
(1) Pursuant to arepurchase program announced on July 25, 2019, pursuant to which the Company may repurchase up to one million shares through July
31, 2020.
Performance Graph

The performance graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on Allegiance's common stock for the period beginning at the close of
trading on October 8, 2015 (the end of thefirst day of trading of Allegiance's common stock onthe NASDAQ Global Market) to December 31, 2019, with the
cumulative total return of the S& P 500 Total Return Index and the NASDAQ Bank Index for the same period. Dividend reinvestment has been assumed. The
Performance Graph assumes $100 invested on October 8, 2015 in Allegiance's common stock and on September 30, 2015 in the S& P 500 Total Return Index
and the NASDAQ Bank Index. The historical stock price performance for Allegiance'scommon stock shown on the graph below is not necessarily
indicative of future stock performance.

COMPARISON OF 51 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"

Among Allegiance Bancshares, Inc., the S&P 500 Index
and the NASDAQ Bank Index

$200

$180

S160

5140

$120

5100

— Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. = ====- S&P 500 — = NASDAQ Bank

* $100 invested on October 8, 2015 in Allegiance's common stock or September 30, 2015 inindex, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year
ending December 31.

October 8, December 31, June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31,
2015 2015 2016 2016 2017 2017 2018 2018 2019 2019
Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. 100.00 102.29 107.61 156.36 165.66 162.85 187.50 140.01 144.20 162.63
S&P 500 100.00 107.04 111.15 119.84 131.04 146.01 149.88 139.61 165.49 183.56
NASDAQ Bank 100.00 103.55 100.25 142.33 139.92 150.12 156.12 125.21 142.05 155.14

(Copyright © 2020 Standard & Poor's, adivision of S& P Global. All rightsreserved.)
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected historical consolidated financial datafor the periods and as of the dates indicated. Y ou should read this
information together with Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our audited consolidated
financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected historical consolidated financial data as of
and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, which areincluded elsewherein
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected historical consolidated financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are derived
from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical resultsfor any prior period are not

necessarily indicative of future performance.

Selected Period End Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents

Available for sale securities

Loans held for sale

Loans held for investment

Allowance for loan losses

Goodwill and intangible assets, net

Total assets

Noninterest-bearing deposits

Interest-bearing deposits

Total deposits

Total shareholders' equity

Total tangible shareholders' equity(s)

Selected Income Statement Data:

Net interest income

Provision for loan |osses

Net interest income after provision for loan losses
Noninterest income

Noninterest expense

Net income before income taxes

Net income

Net income attributable to common sharehol ders()
Selected Per Share Data:

Earnings per common share, basic

Earnings per common share, diluted

Book value per common share

Tangible book value per common shares)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted
Shares outstanding at end of period

As of and for the Years Ended December 31,

2019(2) 20181 2017 20160) 20154
(Dollarsin thousands, except share and per share data)
346248 $ 268947 $ 182103 $ 142,098 $ 148431
372,545 337,293 309,615 316,455 165,097
— — — — 27,887
3,915,310 3,708,306 2,270,876 1,891,635 1,653,165
29,438 26,331 23,649 17,911 13,098
245518 249,712 42,663 43,444 44,619
4,992,654 4,655,249 2,860,231 2,450,948 2,084,579
1,252,232 1,209,300 683,110 593,751 620,320
2,815,869 2,453,236 1,530,864 1,276,432 1,138,813
4,068,101 3,662,536 2,213,974 1,870,183 1,759,133
709,865 702,984 306,865 279,817 258,490
464,347 453,272 264,202 236,373 213,871
179537 $ 128579 $ 103668 $ 89,864 $ 80,166
5,939 4,248 13,188 5,469 5,792
173,598 124,331 90,480 84,395 74,374
13,423 7,713 5,861 7,268 3,992
120,635 86,787 69,962 59,258 54,805
66,386 45,257 26,379 32,405 23,561
52,959 37,309 17,632 22,851 15,786
52,959 37,309 17,632 22,851 15,227
250 $ 241 $ 134 3 178 $ 1.45
247 2.37 131 1.75 1.43
34.59 32.04 23.20 21.59 20.17
22.62 20.66 19.97 18.24 16.69
21,152,255 15,484,757 13,124,900 12,873,326 10,470,465
21,424,366 15,773,039 13,457,718 13,073,932 10,654,003
20,523,816 21,937,740 13,226,826 12,958,341 12,812,985
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As of and for the Years Ended December 31,

2019(1) 2018(2) 2017 201603 20154
(Dollarsin thousands, except share and per share data)

Selected Performance Metrics:

Return on average assets(?) 1.10% 1.11% 0.65% 0.98% 0.81%
Return on average common equity(?) 7.48% 9.02% 5.92% 8.36% 7.43%
Return on average tangible common equity(®)(? 11.50% 11.20% 6.93% 9.96% 9.52%
Tax equivalent net interest margin(®) 4.22% 4.27% 4.34% 4.37% 4.68%
Efficiency ratio) 62.99% 63.68% 63.89% 62.34% 65.27%
Loansto depositsratio 96.24% 101.25% 102.57% 101.15% 95.56%
Noninterest expense to average assets 2.50% 2.58% 2.59% 2.53% 2.83%
Selected Credit Quality Ratios:

Nonperforming assets to total assets(10) 0.74% 0.72% 0.49% 0.75% 0.25%
Nonperforming loansto total |cans(11) 0.72% 0.89% 0.59% 0.88% 0.31%
Allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans(11) 103.76% 79.90% 177.44% 107.26% 252.66%
Allowance for loan losses to total |oans 0.75% 0.71% 1.04% 0.95% 0.78%
Provision for loan losses to average loans 0.15% 0.16% 0.63% 0.31% 0.38%
Net charge-offsto average loans 0.07% 0.06% 0.36% 0.04% 0.06%
Capital Ratios:

Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio 11.42% 11.76% 10.54% 11.30% 11.72%
Tier 1 risk-based capital 11.66% 12.01% 10.92% 11.73% 12.21%
Total risk-based capital 14.83% 13.70% 13.43% 12.57% 12.92%
Leverage capita ratio 10.02% 10.61% 9.84% 10.35% 11.02%
Total equity to total assets 14.22% 15.10% 10.73% 11.42% 12.40%
Tangible common equity to tangible assets(s) 9.78% 10.29% 9.38% 9.82% 10.48%

(2) We completed the acquisition of the LoweryBank branch on February 1, 2019.

(2 We compl eted the acquisition of Post Oak Bancshares, Inc. on October 1, 2018.

(3) We compl eted the sale of two Central Texas branches acquired from F& M Bancshares during the first quarter of 2016.
(4) We completed the acquisition of F&M Bancshares on January 1, 2015.

5 Thisisanon-GAAP financial measure. See our reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures presented in the foregoing  selected financial
information to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures under the caption Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—GAAP Reconciliation and Management’ s Explanation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

(6) On January 1, 2015, we issued shares of Series A and Series B preferred stock, in connection with the acquisition of F& M Bancshares, which had
preferred stock outstanding pursuant to the U.S. Treasury’s Troubled Asset Relief Program. We paid $559 thousand in preferred dividends during
2015. On July 15, 2015, we redeemed all of the outstanding shares of Series A and Series B preferred stock with cash on hand for an aggregate
redemption price of $11.7 million (which isthe sum of the liquidation amount plus accrued and unpaid dividends up to, but excluding, the
redemption date).

7 We calculate our average assets and average common equity for a period by dividing the sum of total assets or total common shareholders’ equity,
as the case may be, as of the close of business on each day in the relevant period, by the number of daysin the period. We calculate return on
average assets by dividing net income for that period by average assets. We calcul ate return on average common equity for a period by dividing net
income attributable to common shareholders for that period by average common equity and average tangible common equity, as the case may be,
for that period.

(8) Net interest margin represents net interest income divided by average interest-earning assets.

9) Efficiency ratio representstotal noninterest expense divided by the sum of net interest income plus noninterest income, excluding net gains and
losses on the sale of loans, securities and assets (including the sale of the two acquired Central Texas branches). Additionally, taxes and provision
for loan losses are not part of this calculation.

(10)  Nonperforming assetsinclude nonaccrual loans, loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest, repossessed assets and other real estate.

(11)  Nonperforming loansinclude nonaccrual loans and loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest.
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ITEM 7.MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSISOF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with Item 6.
“ Selected Financial Data” and the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes included el sewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that are subject to certain risks and uncertainties and are based on
certain assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable but may prove to beinaccurate. Certain risks, uncertainties and other factors, including
those set forth under “ — Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” in this Item 7, under Item 1A. “ Risk Factors’ and elsewherein
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, may cause actual resultsto differ materially from those projected results discussed in the forward-looking statements
appearing in this discussion and analysis. The Company assumes no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements.

Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-L ooking Statements

Statements and financial discussion and analysis contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts are forward-looking
statements made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We also may make forward-looking
statementsin our other documentsfiled or furnished with the SEC. In addition, our senior management may make forward-looking statements orally to
investors, analysts, representatives of the media and others. Statements preceded by, followed by or that otherwise include the words “ believes,”
“expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “projects,” “estimates,” “plans’ and similar expressions or future or conditional verbs such as “will,” “should,”
“would,” “may” and “could” are generally forward-looking in nature and not historical facts, although not all forward |ooking statements include the
foregoing. Forward-looking statements are based on assumptions and involve a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control.
Many possible events or factors could affect our future financial results and performance and could cause such results or performance to differ materially
from those expressed in our forward-looking statements.

” o

Whilethereis no assurance that any list of risks and uncertainties or risk factorsis complete, below are certain factors which could cause our actual
resultsto differ from those in our forward-looking statements:

. risksrelated to the concentration of our business in the Houston region, including risks associated with volatility or decreasesin oil and gas
prices or prolonged periods of lower oil and gas prices,

. general market conditions and economic trends nationally, regionally and particularly in the Houston region;

. our ability to retain executive officers and key employees and their customer and community relationships;

. ourfabaikl)i}y to recruit and retain successful bankers that meet our expectationsin terms of customer and community relationships and
profitability;

. risksrelated to our strategic focus on lending to small to medium-sized businesses;

. our ability to implement our growth strategy, including through the identification of acquisition candidates that will be accretive to our financial
condition and results of operations, as well as permitting decision-making authority at the branch level;

. risksrelated to any businesses we acquire in the future, including exposure to potential asset and credit quality risks and unknown or
contingent liabilities, the time and costs associated with integrating systems, technology platforms, procedures and personnel, the need for
additional capital to finance such transactions and possible failuresin realizing the anticipated benefits from such acquisitions;

. risks associated with our owner-occupied commercial real estate |loan and other commercial real estate loan portfolios, including the risks
inherent in the valuation of the collateral securing such loans;

. risks associated with our commercial and industrial loan portfolio, including the risk for deterioration in value of the general business assets
that generally secure such loans;

. the accuracy and sufficiency of the assumptions and estimates we make in establishing reserves for potential loan losses and other estimates;
. risk of deteriorating asset quality and higher loan charge-offs, as well as the time and effort necessary to resolve nonperforming assets;

. potential changesin the prices, values and sales volumes of commercial and residential real estate securing our real estate loans;

. risks related to loans originated and serviced under the Small Business Administration’s guidelines;

. changesin market interest rates that affect the pricing of our loans and deposits and our net interest income;
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. potential fluctuationsin the market value and liquidity of the securitieswe hold for sale;
. risk of impairment of investment securities, goodwill, other intangible assets or deferred tax assets;

. the effects of competition from awide variety of local, regional, national and other providers of financial, investment and insurance services,
which may adversely affect our pricing and terms;

. risks associated with negative public perception of the Company;
. our ability to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting;
. risks associated with fraudulent and negligent acts by our customers, employees or vendors,

. our ability to keep pace with technological change or difficulties when implementing new technologies;

. risks associated with system failures or failures to protect against cybersecurity threats, such as breaches of our network security;
. our ability to comply with privacy laws and properly safeguard personal, confidential or proprietary information;

. risks associated with data processing system failures and errors;

. potential risk of environmental liability related to owning or foreclosing on real property;

. the institution and outcome of litigation and other legal proceeding against us or to which we become subject;

. our ability to maintain adequate liquidity and to raise necessary capital to fund our acquisition strategy and operations or to meet increased
minimum regulatory capital levels;

. our ability to comply with various governmental and regulatory requirements applicable to financial institutions;

. the impact of recent and future legislative and regulatory changes, including changesin banking, securities and tax laws and regulations and
their application by our regulators;

. governmental monetary and fiscal policies, including the policies of the Federal Reserve;
. our ability to comply with supervisory actions by federal and state banking agencies;

. changesin the scope and cost of FDIC insurance and other coverage;

. systemic risks associated with the soundness of other financial institutions;

. the effects of war or other conflicts, acts of terrorism (including cyberattacks) or other catastrophic events, including pandemics, storms,
droughts, tornadoes and flooding, that may affect general economic conditions; and

. other risks and uncertainties listed from time to time in our reports and documents filed with the SEC.

Further, these forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they were made and we undertake no obligation to update or revise
any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which these statements are made or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events, unless required to do so under the federal securities laws. Other factors not identified above, including those described under the
heading Item 1A. “Risk Factors’ and elsewherein this Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,”
may also cause actual resultsto differ materially from those described in our forward looking statements. Most of these factors are difficult to anticipate and
are generally beyond our control. Y ou should consider these factors in connection with considering any forward-looking statements that may be made by
us.

Overview

The following discussion and analysis presents the more significant factors that affected our financial condition as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
and results of operations for each of the years then ended. Refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operationsincluded in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 11, 2019 (the “ 2018 Form 10-K") for adiscussion and analysis of the
more significant factors that affected periods prior to 2018.

We generate most of our income from interest income on loans, service charges on customer accounts and interest income from investmentsin
securities. We incur interest expense on deposits and other borrowed funds and noninterest expenses such as salaries and employee benefits and
occupancy expenses. Net interest income is the difference between interest income on earning assets such as loans and securities and interest expense on
liabilities such as deposits and borrowings that are used to fund those assets. Net interest incomeis our largest source of revenue. To evaluate net interest
income, we measure and monitor (1) yields on our loans and other interest-earning assets, (2) the interest expenses of our deposits and other funding
sources, (3) our net interest spread and (4) our
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net interest margin. Net interest spread is the difference between rates earned on interest-earning assets and rates paid on interest-bearing liabilities. Net
interest margin is calculated as net interest income divided by average interest-earning assets. Because noninterest-bearing sources of funds, such as
noninterest-bearing deposits and shareholders' equity, also fund interest-earning assets, net interest margin includes the benefit of these noninterest-
bearing sources.

Our net interest income is affected by changesin the amount and mix of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, referred to asa
“volume change.” Periodic changesin the volume and types of loansin our loan portfolio are affected by, among other factors, economic and competitive
conditionsin Texas and specifically in the Houston region, as well as developments affecting the real estate, technology, financial services, insurance,
transportation, manufacturing and energy sectors within our target market and throughout the state of Texas.

Our net interest income is also affected by changesin yields earned on interest-earning assets and rates paid on interest-bearing deposits and
borrowed funds, referred to as a“rate change.” Fluctuationsin market interest rates are driven by many factors, including governmental monetary policies,
inflation, deflation, macroeconomic developments, changesin unemployment, the money supply, political and international conditions and conditionsin
domestic and foreign financial markets.

On October 1, 2018, we completed the acquisition of Post Oak Bancshares, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary bank, Post Oak Bank, N.A.
(collectively, “Post Oak”). Because the acquisition closed on October 1, 2018, our results of operationsincluded Post Oak for only a portion of 2018. Our
historical financial condition and results of operations as of and for periods ended before December 31, 2018 contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
do not reflect the financial condition and results of operations of Post Oak. In connection with the acquisition of Post Oak, we issued 8.4 million shares of
Company common stock.

We completed aninitial public offering of 2,990,000 shares of Allegiance's common stock at $21.00 per share on October 7, 2015, generating net
proceeds of $57.1 million. Allegiance's common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market on October 8, 2015 under the ticker symbol “ABTX.”

Critical Accounting Policies

Certain of our accounting estimates are important to the portrayal of our financial condition, since they require management to make difficult,
complex or subjective judgments, some of which may relate to matters that are inherently uncertain. Estimates are susceptible to material changes as aresult
of changesin facts and circumstances. Facts and circumstances that could affect these judgments include, but are not limited to, changesin interest rates,
changesin the performance of the economy and changesin the financial condition of borrowers. Management believes that determining the allowance for
loan lossesisits most critical accounting estimate. Our accounting policies are discussed in detail in Note 1 — Nature of Operations and Summary of
Significant Accounting and Reporting Policiesin the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statementsincluded elsewherein this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance that is established through charges to earningsin the form of a provision for loan losses. The
amount of the allowance for loan losses is affected by the following: (1) charge-offs of |oans that decrease the allowance, (2) subsequent recoveries on
loans previously charged off that increase the allowance and (3) provisions for loan losses charged to income that increase the allowance. Management
considersthe policiesrelated to the allowance for loan | osses as the most critical to the financial statement presentation. The total allowance for loan losses
includes activity related to allowances cal cul ated in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“* ASC") 310, Receivables, and ASC 450,
Contingencies.

Throughout the year, management estimates the probabl e incurred losses in the loan portfolio to determine if the allowance for loan lossesis
adequate to absorb such losses. The allowance for |oan losses consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans that
areindividually classified asimpaired. Wefollow aloan review program to evaluate the credit risk in the loan portfolio. Loans that have been identified as
impaired are reviewed on a quarterly basisin order to determine whether a specific reserve isrequired. The general component covers non-impaired loans
and is based on industry and our specific historical 1oan loss experience, volume, growth and composition of the loan portfolio, the evaluation of our loan
portfolio through our internal loan review process, general current economic conditions both internal and external to usthat may affect the borrower’s
ability to pay, value of collateral and other qualitative relevant risk factors. Based on areview of these estimates, we adjust the allowance for loan losses to
alevel determined by management to be adequate. Estimates of |oan |osses are inherently subjective as they involve an exercise of judgment.

Loans acquired in business combinations areinitially recorded at fair value, which includes an estimate of 10an |osses expected to be realized over
the remaining lives of the loans. Therefore, no corresponding allowance for loan lossesis recorded for these |oans at acquisition. Methods utilized to
estimate any subsequently required allowance for |oan losses for acquired loans not deemed credit-impaired at acquisition are similar to originated loans.
However, the estimate of lossis based on the unpaid principal balance and then
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compared to any remaining unaccreted purchase discount. To the extent that the calculated loss is greater than the remaining unaccreted purchase
discount, an allowance isrecorded for such difference.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments— Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments” (“ASU 2016-13"). ASU 2016-13 makes significant changes to the accounting for credit losses on financial instruments presented on an
amortized cost basis and related disclosures. The new current expected credit loss (CECL) impairment model will require an estimate of expected credit
losses, measured over the contractual life of an instrument, which considers reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditionsin
addition to information about past events and current conditions. The standard provides significant flexibility and requires a high degree of judgment with
regards to pooling financial assets with similar risk characteristics and adjusting the relevant historical loss information in order to develop an estimate of
expected lifetime losses. In addition, ASU 2016-13 amends the accounting for credit losses on purchased financial assets with credit deterioration. Effective
January 1, 2020, we will adopt ASU 2016-13 as discussed more fully under "Part 11 - Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data- Note 1. Nature of
Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies" of this Report along with other recent accounting pronouncements that have
been or will be adopted by the Company or that will require enhanced disclosures in the Company’sfinancial statementsin future periods.

Emerging Growth Company

Pursuant to the JOBS Act, an emerging growth company can elect to opt in to any new or revised accounting standards that may be issued by the
FASB or the SEC otherwise applicable to non-emerging growth companies. We have elected to opt in to such standards, which election isirrevocable.

We have been abl e to take advantage of some of the reduced regulatory and reporting requirements that are available to us aswe have qualified as
an emerging growth company, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation and exemptions from the requirements of holding non-binding
advisory votes on executive compensation and golden parachute payments. The full regulatory and reporting requirements will be applicable beginning
with the annual report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020.

Results of Operations

Net income was $53.0 million, or $2.47 per diluted common share, for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with $37.3 million, or $2.37 per
diluted common share, for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of $15.7 million, or 41.9%. The increase in net income was primarily the result of a
$51.0 million increase in net interest income partially offset by a $33.8 million increase in noninterest expense. Returns on average common equity were
7.48% and 9.02%, returns on average assets were 1.10% and 1.11% and efficiency ratios were 62.99% and 63.68% for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. The efficiency ratio is calculated by dividing total noninterest expense by the sum of net interest income plus noninterest income,
excluding net gains and losses on the sale of loans, securities and assets. Additionally, taxes and provision for loan losses are not part of the efficiency
ratio calculation.

Net I nterest Income

Net interest income is the difference between interest income on earning assets, such asloans and securities, and interest expense on liabilities, such
as deposits and borrowings, which are used to fund those assets. Net interest income is our largest source of revenue, representing 93.0% of total revenue
during 2019. Tax equivalent net interest margin istheratio of taxable-equivalent net interest income to average earning assets for the period. The level of
interest rates and the volume and mix of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilitiesimpact net interest income and net interest margin.

The Federal Reserve influences the general market rates of interest, including the deposit and |oan rates offered by many financial institutions. Our
loan portfolio is affected by changesin the effective federal funds rate, which isthe cost of immediately available overnight funds, and the prime interest
rate. The effective federal fundsrate increased 75 basis points (25 basis points in each of March, June and December) to end 2017 at 1.50%. During 2018, the
effective federal funds rate increased 100 basis points (25 basis pointsin each of March, June, September and December) to end the period at 2.50%. During
2019, the effective federal funds rate decreased 75 basis points (25 basis points in each of July, September and October) to end the period at
1.75%. Similarly, the prime rate increased 75 basis points (25 basis points in each of March, June and December) during 2017 to end the year at 4.50%.
During 2018, the prime rate increased another 100 basis points (25 basis pointsin each of March, June, September and December) to end the year at 5.50%.
During 2019, the prime rate decreased 75 basis points (25 basis points in each of August, September and October) to end the year at 4.75%.
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Net interest income before the provision for loan losses for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $179.5 million compared with $128.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of $51.0 million, or 39.6%. The increase in net interest income from the previous year was primarily due to
increased average interest-earning asset balances primarily from the acquisition of Post Oak, aswell as organic growth for the year. Average interest-
earning assets increased $1.22 hillion, or 40.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with the year ended December 31, 2018.

Interest income was $232.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $74.7 million, or 47.2%, compared with the year ended
December 31, 2018 primarily due to an increase of $73.1 million of interest income and fees on loans. Thisincrease in interest income and fees on loans
during the year ended December 31, 2019 was primarily due to the Post Oak acquisition during the fourth quarter of 2018 and organic growth during
2019. Average loans outstanding increased $1.18 hillion, or 44.5%, for the same period. Additionally, interest income during the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, included acquisition accounting loan discount accretion of $8.9 million and $2.7 million, respectively.

Interest expense was $53.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $23.7 million, or 80.0%, compared with the year ended
December 31, 2018. Thisincrease was primarily due to an increase in average interest-bearing deposits, rising expenses associated with higher funding
costs on interest-bearing liabilities and the subordinated debt issued at the end of September 2019. Average interest-bearing liabilitiesincreased $759.1
million, or 36.3%, for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily due to the increase in average interest-
bearing deposits. Average interest-bearing deposits increased $857.2 million primarily due to deposits assumed in the Post Oak acquisition and organic
growth. Additionally, average subordinated debt increased $15.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 due to the issuance in September
2019. Theincreasein interest-bearing deposits for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily due to
theincrease in average certificates and other time deposits of $336.3 million, or 35.8% and the increase in average money market deposits of $405.0 million,
or 73.5%. The overall cost of average interest-bearing liabilities increased to 187 basis points for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 142 basis
points for the same period in 2018.

Tax equivalent net interest margin, defined as net interest income adjusted for tax-free income divided by average interest-earning assets, for the
year ended December 31, 2019 was 4.22%, a decrease of 5 basis points compared to 4.27% for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease in the net
interest margin on atax equivalent basis was primarily due to an increase in funding costs on certificates of deposit and other borrowed funds partially
offset by an increase in theimpact of net acquisition accounting adjustments. The average yield on interest-earning assets and the average rate paid on
interest-bearing liabilitiesincreased during 2019. The average yield on interest-earning assets and the average rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities are
primarily impacted by changes in market interest rates as well as changes in the volume and relative mix of the underlying assets and liabilities. The impact
of net acquisition accounting adjustments of $9.6 million and $3.1 million on the tax equivalent net interest margin was an increase of 22 basis points and 10
basis points for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Tax equivalent adjustments to net interest margin are the result of increasing
income from tax-free securities by an amount equal to the taxes that would have been paid if the income were fully taxable based on a21% federal tax rate for
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, thus making tax-exempt yields relatively more comparable to taxabl e asset yields.
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The following table presents, for the periods indicated, the total dollar amount of average balances, interest income from average interest-earning
assets and the annualized resultant yields, as well asthe interest expense on average interest-bearing liabilities, expressed in both dollars and rates. Any
nonaccruing loans have been included in the table asloans carrying a zero yield.

Assets
Interest-Earning Assets:
Loans
Securities
Deposits in other financial
institutions
Total interest-earning assets
Allowance for loan losses
Noninterest-earning assets
Total assets
Liabilitiesand Shareholders'
Equity
Interest-Bearing Liabilities:
Interest-bearing demand
deposits
Money market and savings
deposits
Certificates and other time
deposits
Borrowed funds
Subordinated debt
Total interest-bearing
lighilities
Noninterest-Bearing
Liabilities:
Noninterest-bearing demand
deposits
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders' equity
Total liabilitiesand
shareholders' equity
Net interest rate spread
Net interest income and
margin(1)
Net interest income and
margin (tax equivalent)®)

(1) Thenetinterest marginisequal to net interest income divided by average interest-earning assets.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Interest Interest Interest
Average Earned/ Average Average Earned/ Average Average Earned/ Average
Balance Interest Paid Yield/ Rate Balance Interest Paid Yield/ Rate Balance |Interest Paid Yield/ Rate
(Dollarsin thousands)
$3,831,894 $ 221,363 5.78% $2,652,355 $ 148,223 5.59% $2,081,370 $ 110,331 5.30%
355,233 9,909 2.79% 317,329 8,527 2.69% 324,926 8,445 2.60%
74,655 1,635 2.19% 70,145 1,473 2.10% 50,917 662 1.30%
4,261,782 $ 232,907 547% 3,039,829 $ 158,223 521% 2,457,213 $ 119,438 4.86%
(28,129) (24,077) (20,536)
594,981 349,408 262,549
$4,828,634 $3,365,160 $2,699,226
$ 345693 $ 4,010 116% $ 224,210 $ 1,834 0.82% $ 156,527 $ 597 0.38%
1,037,126 14,297 1.38% 637,722 4,644 0.73% 536,415 2,562 0.48%
1,276,684 26,656 2.09% 940,356 15,478 1.65% 748,086 9,060 1.21%
127,138 4,675 3.68% 240,952 4,788 1.99% 269,633 2,922 1.08%
64,451 3,732 5.79% 48,776 2,900 5.95% 11,208 629 5.61%
2,851,092 $ 53,370 1.87% 2,092,016 $ 29,644 1.42% 1,721,869 $ 15,770 0.92%
1,194,496 848,276 672,101
74,777 11,427 7,629
4,120,365 2,951,719 2,401,599
708,269 413,441 297,627
$4,828,634 $3,365,160 $2,699,226
3.60% 3.79% 3.94%
$ 179,537 4.21% $ 128,579 4.23% $ 103,668 4.22%
$ 180,036 4.22% $ 129,652 4.27% $ 106,669 4.34%

(2)  Inorder to make pretax income and resultant yields on tax-exempt investments and |oans comparabl e to those on taxable investments and | oans, a tax-
equivalent adjustment has been computed using afederal income tax rate of 21% for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 and 35% for the
year ended December 31, 2017 and other applicable effective tax rates.
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The following table presents information regarding the dollar amount of changesin interest income and interest expense for the periods indicated for
each major component of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and distinguishes between the changes attributable to changesin volume
and changes in interest rates. For purposes of thistable, changes attributable to both rate and volume that cannot be segregated have been allocated to
rate.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Increase Increase
(Decr ease) (Decr ease)
Dueto Changein Dueto Changein
Volume Rate Total Volume Rate Total

(Dollarsin thousands)
I nterest-Earning assets:

Loans $ 65917 $ 7223 % 73140 $ 30268 $ 7625 $ 37,893
Securities 1,018 364 1,382 (198) 279 81
Depositsin other financial
institutions 95 67 162 250 562 812
Total increase in interest
income 67,030 7,654 74,684 30,320 8,466 38,786

Interest-Bearing liabilities:
Interest-bearing demand

deposits 994 1,182 2,176 258 979 1,237
Money market and savings
deposits 2,909 6,744 9,653 484 1,598 2,082
Certificates and other time
deposits 5,536 5,642 11,178 2,329 4,089 6,418
Borrowed funds (2,262) 2,149 (113) (311) 2,177 1,866
Subordinated debt 932 (100) 832 2,108 163 2,271
Total increasein interest
expense 8,109 15,617 23,726 4,868 9,006 13,874
Increase (decrease) in net
interest income $ 58921 $ (7,963) $ 50,958 $ 25452 $ (540) $ 24,912

Provision for Loan Losses

Our allowance for loan losses is established through charges to incomein the form of the provision in order to bring our allowance for loan losses to
alevel deemed appropriate by management. The allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was $29.4 million and $26.3 million,
respectively, representing 0.75% and 0.71% of total loans as of such dates. We recorded a $5.9 million provision for loan losses for the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared with $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily due to an increase in organic loan growth and net charge-offs
of $1.3 million.

Acquired loans areinitially recorded at fair value based on a discounted cash flow valuation methodology that considers, among other things,
projected default rates, losses given existing defaults and recovery rates. Loans acquired from Post Oak were initially recorded at fair value and no
corresponding allowance for loan losses was recorded for these loans at acquisition date. We recognized a discount on the acquired loans which will be
prospectively accreted, increasing our basisin such loans. At December 31, 2019, the balance of the acquisition accounting loan discount was $5.5 million.

Noninterest ncome

Our primary sources of noninterest income are service charges on deposit accounts, nonsufficient funds fees, rebates from our correspondent bank
and debit card and ATM card income. Noninterest income does not include |oan origination fees which are recognized over the life of the related loan as an
adjustment to yield using the interest method.

Noninterest income totaled $13.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an
increase of $5.7 million, or 74.0%. Noninterest income increased in 2019 primarily due to additional noninterest income driven primarily from increased
deposit and loan balances resulting from the Post Oak acquisition, additional rebates from correspondent banks along with the gain of $1.5 million on the
sale of securities.
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The following table presents, for the periods indicated, the major categories of noninterest income:

For the Years Ended For the Years Ended
December 31, Increase December 31, Increase
2019 2018 (Decr ease) 2018 2017 (Decr ease)
(Dollarsin thousands)
Nonsufficient funds fees $ 658 $ 75 % @7 $ 75 $ 685 $ 70
Service charges on deposit accounts 1,472 869 603 869 783 86
Gain on sale of securities 1,459 — 1,459 — 18 (18)
Gain (loss) on sale of other real estate
and other repossessed assets 26 (428) 454 (428) 6 (434)
Bank owned life insurance income 624 579 45 579 585 (6)
Debit card and ATM card income 1,984 1,331 653 1,331 929 402
Rebate from correspondent bank 3,580 2,609 971 2,609 1,327 1,282
Other(1) 3,620 1,998 1,622 1,998 1,528 470
Total noninterest income $ 13423 $ 7713 $ 5710 $ 7713 $ 5861 $ 1,852

(1) Otherincludeswiretransfer and letter of credit fees, anong other items.

Noninterest Expense

Noninterest expense was $120.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $86.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an
increase of $33.8 million, or 39.0%. Thisincrease was primarily due to additional expenses related to increased headcount and bank offices from the Post
Oak acquisition, expenses to support organic growth initiatives and core deposit intangibles amortization partially offset by a$1.0 million FDIC Small Bank
Assessment Credit.

The following table presents, for the periodsindicated, the major categories of noninterest expense:

For the Years Ended For the Years Ended
December 31, Increase December 31, Increase
2019 2018 (Decr ease) 2018 2017 (Decr ease)
(Dollarsin thousands)

Salaries and employee benefitsit) $ 77593 % 56,704 $ 20,889 $ 56,704 $ 44745  $ 11,959
Net occupancy and equipment 8,179 5,845 2,334 5,845 5,452 393
Depreciation 3,192 2,132 1,060 2,132 1,637 495
Data processing and software

amortization 7,464 5,120 2,344 5,120 4,047 1,073
Professional fees 2,333 2,009 324 2,009 2,926 (917)
Regulatory assessments and FDIC

insurance 1,705 2,309 (604) 2,309 2,273 36
Core deposit intangibles amortization 4,711 1,815 2,896 1,815 781 1,034
Communications 1,839 1,185 654 1,185 983 202
Advertising 2,367 1,725 642 1,725 1,289 436
Acquisition and merger-related expenses 1,326 1,661 (335) 1,661 — 1,661
Other real estate expense 614 313 301 313 331 (18)
Printing and supplies 511 388 123 388 299 89
Other 8,801 5,581 3,220 5,581 5,199 382

Total noninterest expense $ 120635 $ 86,787 $ 33848 $ 86,787 $ 69,962 $ 16,825

(1) Total salaries and employee benefitsincludes $3.1 million, $1.7 million and $1.8 million in stock based compensation expense for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Salaries and Employee Benefits. Salaries and benefits were $77.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of $20.9 million, or 36.8%,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 as we experienced a significant increase in the total size of our workforce added through the Post Oak
acquisition and to support organic growth. Additionally, we recorded $1.4 million of severance expense during 2019.

Net Occupancy and Equipment. Net occupancy and equipment expenses increased $2.3 million, or 39.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2019 to
$8.2 million compared to $5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Thisincrease was primarily due to expenses associated with the infrastructure
and facilities added through the Post Oak acquisition and continued build-out needed to support our growth.
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Data Processing and Software Amortization. Data processing and software amortization increased $2.3 million, or 45.8%, for the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018. This increase was primarily due to expenses from added scale as aresult of the Post Oak
acquisition and to increase efficiencies.

Regulatory assessment and FDIC Insurance. Regulatory assessment and FDIC insurance decreased $604 thousand, or 26.2%, for the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018. This decrease was primarily due to a$1.0 million FDIC Small Bank Assessment Credit
received during 2019.

Core deposit intangibles amortization. Core deposit intangibles amortization increased $2.9 million, or 159.6%, for the year ended December 31, 2019
to $4.7 million from $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily due to increased core deposit intangibles amortization resulting from the Post
Oak acquisition.

Acquisition and merger-related expenses. Acquisition and merger-rel ated expenses are legal, advisory and accounting fees associated with the Post
Oak and LoweryBank branch acquisitions. These expenses also include data processing conversion costs and contract termination costs that resulted from
the Post Oak acquisition.

Efficiency Ratio

The efficiency ratio is a supplemental financial measure utilized in management’sinternal evaluation of our performance. We cal culate our efficiency
ratio by dividing total noninterest expense by the sum of net interest income and noninterest income, excluding net gains and losses on the sale of loans,
securities and assets. Additionally, taxes and provision for |oan losses are not part of this calculation. Anincreasein the efficiency ratio indicates that more
resources are being utilized to generate the same volume of income, while a decrease would indicate amore efficient allocation of resources. Our efficiency
ratio decreased to 62.99% for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 63.68% for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 63.89% for the year ended
December 31, 2017.

We monitor the efficiency ratio in comparison with changesin our total assets and loans, and we believe that maintaining or reducing the efficiency
ratio during periods of growth, aswe did from 2017 to 2018 and again to 2019, demonstrates the scalability of our operating platform. We expect to continue
to benefit from our scalable platform in future periods as we continue to monitor overhead expenses necessary to support our growth.

Income Taxes

The amount of federal and state income tax expense is influenced by the amount of pre-tax income, the amount of tax-exempt income and the amount
of other nondeductible expenses. Income tax expense increased $5.5 million, or 68.9%, to $13.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with
$7.9 million for the same period in 2018 primarily due to the increase in pre-tax net income.

The effective tax rates were 20.2%, 17.6% and 33.2% for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The effective tax rates for
2019 and 2018 were impacted by the reduction in the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to 21% under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted on December
22,2017. Asaresult of thereduction in the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate, we recognized a provisional net income tax expense totaling $2.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2017. Under ASC 740, Income Taxes, the effect of income tax law changes on deferred taxes should be recognized as a
component of income tax expense related to continuing operationsin the period in which the law is enacted. This requirement applies not only to items
initially recognized in continuing operations, but also to itemsinitially recognized in other comprehensive income.

Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted on December 22, 2017. Among other things, the new law (i) establishes anew, flat
corporate federal statutory income tax rate of 21%, (ii) eliminates the corporate alternative minimum tax and allows the use of any such carryforwardsto
offset regular tax liability for any taxable year, (iii) limits the deduction for net interest expense incurred by U.S. corporations, (iv) allows businessesto
immediately expense, for tax purposes, the cost of new investmentsin certain qualified depreciable assets, (v) eliminates or reduces certain deductions
related to meals and entertainment expenses, (vi) modifies the limitation on excessive employee remuneration to eliminate the exception for performance-
based compensation and clarifies the definition of a covered employee and (vii) limits the deductibility of deposit insurance premiums. The Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act also significantly changes U.S. tax law related to foreign operations; however, such changes do not currently impact us.
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Quarterly Financial Information

The following table presents certain unaudited consolidated quarterly financial information regarding the results of operations for the quarters
ended December 31, September 30, June 30 and March 31 in the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. Thisinformation should be read in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 appearing el sewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Earnings Per Share(®)

Net I nterest Net Income Attributable to
Interest Income Income Common Shareholders Basic Diluted
(Dollarsin thousands, except per share data)

2019

First quarter $ 57,149 $ 44,603 $ 12,678 $ 0.58 $ 0.58
Second quarter 58,946 45,571 14,248 0.67 0.66
Third quarter 58,665 44,837 12,047 0.57 0.57
Fourth quarter 58,147 44,526 13,986 0.68 0.67
2018

First quarter $ 32,391 $ 26,889 $ 7,711 $ 0.58 $ 0.57
Second quarter 34,193 27,816 7,556 0.57 0.55
Third quarter 35,336 28,036 8,879 0.66 0.65
Fourth quarter 56,303 45,838 13,163 0.60 0.59

(1) Earnings per share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented and therefore may not total earnings per share for the year.

Financial Condition
Loan Portfolio

At December 31, 2019, total loans were $3.92 billion, an increase of $207.0 million, or 5.6%, compared with December 31, 2018 primarily due to organic

loan growth and loans acquired in the LoweryBank branch acquisition.

Total loans as a percentage of deposits were 96.2% and 101.2% as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Total loansasa
percentage of assets were 78.4% and 79.7% as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

The following table summarizes our |oan portfolio by type of loan as of the dates indicated:

Asof December 31,
2017

2019 2018 2016 2015

Amount Per cent Amount Per cent Amount Per cent Amount Per cent Amount Per cent
(Dollarsin thousands)
Loans held for sale() $ = 0.0% $ — 0.0% $ — 0.0% $ — 0.0% $ 27,887 1.7%
Commercial and industrial $ 689,360 17.6% $ 702,037 18.9% $ 457,129 20.1% $ 416,752 22.0% $ 383,044 22.7%
Mortgage warehouse 8,304 0.2% 48,274 1.3% 69,456 3.1% 67,038 3.5% 59,071 3.5%
Real estate:
Commercial real estate
(including multi-family
residential) 1,873,782 47.9% 1,650,912 44.6% 1,080,247 47.5% 891,989 47.2% 745,595 44.4%
Commercial real estate
construction and land
development 410,471 10.5% 430,128 11.6% 243,389 10.7% 159,247 8.4% 154,646 9.2%
1-4 family residential
(including home equity) 698,957 17.8% 649,311 17.5% 301,219 13.3% 246,987 13.1% 205,200 12.2%
Residential construction 192,515 4.9% 186,411 5.0% 109,116 4.8% 98,657 5.2% 93,848 5.6%
Consumer and other 41,921 1.1% 41,233 1.1% 10,320 0.5% 10,965 0.6% 11,761 0.7%
Total loans held for
investment 3,915,310 100.0% 3,708,306 100.0% 2,270,876 100.0% 1,891,635 100.0% 1,653,165 98.3%
Total loans 3,915,310 100.0% 3,708,306 100.0% 2,270,876 100.0% 1,891,635 100.0% 1,681,052 100.0%
Allowance for Loan Losses (29,438) (26,331) (23,649) (17,911) (13,098)
Loans, net $3,885,872 $3,681,975 $2,247,227 $1,873,724 $1,667,954

(1) Consistsof loans at two former F& M Bancshares locationsin Central Texas that the Company acquired on January 1, 2015. As of December 31, 2015,
loans held for sale consisted of $13.2 million of commercial and industrial loans, $11.6 million of commercial real estate (including multifamily
residential) loans, $2.3 million of 1-4 family residential (including home equity) loans and $803 thousand of consumer and other loans. Loans held for
sale are carried at lower of aggregate cost or fair value.
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Our lending activities originate from the efforts of our bankers with an emphasis on lending to individuals, professionals, small to medium-sized
businesses and commercial companies generally located in the Houston region. Our strategy for credit risk management generally includes well-defined,
centralized credit policies, uniform underwriting criteriaand ongoing risk monitoring and review processes for all credit exposures. The strategy generally
emphasizes regular credit examinations and management reviews of loans. We have certain lending policies and proceduresin place that are designed to
maximize loan income within an acceptable level of risk. We maintain an independent |oan review department that reviews and validates the credit risk
program on a periodic basis. In addition, an independent third-party loan review is performed on a semi-annual basis. Results of these reviews are presented
to management. The loan review process complements and reinforces the risk identification and assessment decisions made by bankers and credit
personnel and contained in our policies and procedures.

The principal categories of our loan portfolio (including loans held for sale) are discussed below:

Commercial and I ndustrial. We make commercial loansin our market areathat are underwritten on the basis of the borrower’s ability to service the
debt from income. In general, commercial loans involve more credit risk than residential mortgage |oans and commercial mortgage loans and therefore
typically yield ahigher return. The increased risk in commercial loans derives from the expectation that commercial and industrial loans generally are
serviced principally from the operations of the business, which may not be successful and from the type of collateral securing these loans. As aresult,
commercial and industrial loans require more extensive underwriting and servicing than other types of loans. Our commercia and industrial loan portfolio
decreased $12.7 million, or 1.8%, to $689.4 million as of December 31, 2019 compared to $702.0 million as of December 31, 2018.

Mortgage Warehouse. We make |oans to unaffiliated mortgage loan originators collateralized by mortgage promissory notes which are segregated
in our mortgage warehouse portfolio. These promissory notes originated by our mortgage warehouse customers carry terms and conditions as would be
expected in the competitive permanent mortgage market and serve as collateral under atraditional mortgage warehouse arrangement whereby such
promissory notes are warehoused under arevolving credit facility to allow for the end investor (or purchaser) of the note to receive a complete loan
package and remit funds to the bank. For mortgage promissory notes secured by residential property, the warehouse timeisnormally 10 to 20 days. For
mortgage promissory notes secured by commercial property, the warehouse time is normally 40 to 50 days. The funded balance of the mortgage warehouse
portfolio can have significant fluctuation based upon market demand for the product, level of home sales and refinancing activity, market interest rates and
velocity of end investor processing times. VVolumes of the portfolio tend to peak at the end of each month. Our mortgage warehouse portfolio decreased
$40.0 million, or 82.8%, to $8.3 million as of December 31, 2019 compared to $48.3 million as of December 31, 2018 as we made the strategic decision in 2019 to
pursue an orderly exit from thisline of business.

Commercial Real Estate (Including Multi-Family Residential). We make loans collateralized by owner-occupied, nonowner-occupied and multi-
family real estate to finance the purchase or ownership of real estate. Loans secured by owner-occupied properties generally involve lessrisk. As of
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, 53.8% and 51.4%, respectively, of our commercial real estate |oans were owner-occupied. Our commercial real
estate loan portfolio increased $222.9 million, or 13.5%, to $1.87 hillion as of December 31, 2019 from $1.65 billion as of December 31, 2018 primarily asa
result of organic loan growth. Included in our commercial real estate portfolio are multi-family residential loans. Our multi-family loansincreased $3.7 million,
or 4.7%, to $82.2 million as of December 31, 2019 from $78.4 million as of December 31, 2018. We had 148 multi-family loans with an average loan size of $555
thousand as of December 31, 2019.

Commercial Real Estate Construction and Land Development. We make commercial real estate construction and land development loans to fund
commercial construction, land acquisition and real estate development construction. Construction loansinvolve additional risks as they often involve the
disbursement of funds with the repayment dependent on the ultimate success of the project’s completion. Sources of repayment for these loans may be pre-
committed permanent financing or sale of the developed property. The loansin this portfolio are monitored closely by management. Due to uncertainties
inherent in estimating construction costs, the market value of the completed project and the effects of governmental regulation on real property, it can be
difficult to accurately evaluate the total funds required to complete a project and the related oan to value ratio. As aresult of these uncertainties,
construction lending often includes the disbursement of substantial funds with repayment dependent, in part, on the success of the ultimate project rather
than the ability of aborrower or guarantor to repay the loan. As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, 31.9% and 29.4%, respectively, of our
commercial real estate construction and land devel opment loans were owner-occupied. Commercial real estate construction and land development land
loans decreased $19.7 million, or 4.6%, to $410.5 million as of December 31, 2019 compared to $430.1 million as of December 31, 2018.

1-4 Family Residential (Including Home Equity). Our residential real estate |loansinclude the origination of 1-4 family residential mortgage loans
(including home equity and home improvement loans and home equity lines of credit) collateralized by owner-occupied residential properties|ocated in our
market area. Our residential real estate portfolio (including home equity) increased $49.6 million, or 7.6%, to $699.0 million as of December 31, 2019 from
$649.3 million as of December 31, 2018. The home equity, home improvement and home equity lines of credit portion of our residential real estate portfolio
increased $17.0 million, or 17.8%, to $112.5 million as of December 31, 2019 from $95.4 million as of December 31, 2018.

Residential Construction. We make residential construction loans to home builders and individuals to fund the construction of single-family
residences with the understanding that such loans will be repaid from the proceeds of the sale of the homes by builders or with the proceeds of a mortgage
loan. These loans are secured by the real property being built and are made based on our
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assessment of the value of the property on an as-completed basis. Our residential construction loans portfolio increased $6.1 million, or 3.3%, to $192.5
million as of December 31, 2019 from $186.4 million as of December 31, 2018.

Consumer and Other. Our consumer and other loan portfolio is made up of loans made to individuals for personal purposes. Generally, consumer
loans entail greater risk than residential real estate |loans because they may be unsecured or if secured the value of the collateral, such as an automobile or
boat, may be more difficult to assess and more likely to decrease in value than real estate. In such cases, any repossessed collateral for a defaulted
consumer loan may not provide an adequate source of repayment for the outstanding loan balance. The remaining deficiency often does not warrant further
substantial collection efforts against the borrower beyond obtaining a deficiency judgment. In addition, consumer loan collections are dependent on the
borrower’s continuing financial stability, and thus are more likely to be adversely affected by job loss, divorce, illness or personal bankruptcy. Furthermore,
the application of various federal and state laws may limit the amount which can be recovered on such loans. Our consumer and other |oan portfolio
increased $688 thousand, or 1.7%, to $41.9 million as of December 31, 2019 from $41.2 million as of December 31, 2018.
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The contractual maturity ranges of total loansin our loan portfolio and the amount of such loans with predetermined interest rates in each maturity
range and the amount of loans with predetermined (fixed) interest rates and floating interest ratesin each maturity range, in each case as of the date
indicated, are summarized in the following tables:

As of December 31, 2019

Due After
Duein One Year
One Year Through Due After
or Less Five Years Five Years Total
(Dollarsin thousands)
Commercia and industrial 353313 $ 260,538 $ 75,509 689,360
Mortgage Warehouse 8,304 — — 8,304
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi
family residential) 246,320 1,227,767 399,695 1,873,782
Commercial real estate construction
and land devel opment 98,953 231,972 79,546 410,471
1-4 family residential (including home
equity) 86,612 397,126 215,219 698,957
Residential construction 128,839 39,334 24,342 192,515
Consumer and other 31,593 9,556 772 41,921
Total loans 953934 $ 2,166,293 $ 795,083 3,915,310
Loans with predetermined (fixed)
interest rates 500,662 $ 1,949,762 $ 346,813 2,797,237
Loanswith floating interest rates 453,272 216,531 448,270 1,118,073
Total loans 953934 $ 2,166,293 $ 795,083 3,915,310
As of December 31, 2018
Due After
Duein One Year
One Year Through Due After
or Less Five Years Five Years Total
(Dollarsin thousands)
Commercia and industrial 314719 $ 311,977 $ 75,341 702,037
Mortgage Warehouse 48,274 — — 48,274
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-
family residential) 228,988 1,008,121 413,803 1,650,912
Commercial real estate construction
and land development 99,692 246,814 83,622 430,128
1-4 family residentia (including
home equity) 85,143 396,085 168,083 649,311
Residential construction 126,432 41,526 18,453 186,411
Consumer and other 24,539 16,314 380 41,233
Total loans 927,787 $ 2,020,837 $ 759,682 3,708,306
L oans with predetermined (fixed)
interest rates 525973 $ 1,741,140 $ 367,746 2,634,859
Loanswith floating interest rates 401,814 279,697 391,936 1,073,447
Total loans 927,787 $ 2,020,837 $ 759,682 3,708,306
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Concentrations of Credit

The vast majority of our lending activity occursin the Houston region. Our loans are primarily secured by real estate, including commercial and
residential construction, owner-occupied and nonowner-occupied and multi-family commercial real estate, raw land and other real estate based loans
located in the Houston region. As of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, commercial real estate and commercial construction loans represented 58.3%, 56.1%
and 58.3%, respectively, of our total loans.

Asset Quality

We have procedures in place to assist usin maintaining the overall quality of our loan portfolio. We have established underwriting guidelinesto be
followed by our officers and monitor our delinquency levels for any negative or adverse trends.

We had $28.4 million, $33.0 million and $13.3 million in nonperforming loans as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. If interest on
nonaccrual loans had been accrued under the original loan terms, $1.2 million, $1.0 million and $733 thousand would have been recorded asincome for the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The following table presents information regarding nonperforming assets as of the dates indicated:
As of December 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(Dollarsin thousands)

Nonaccrual loans:

Loans held for sale $ — 3 — 3 — — $ 209
Commercia and industrial 8,388 10,861 6,437 3,896 2,664
M ortgage warehouse — — — — —
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including
multi-family residential) 6,741 17,776 6,110 11,663 2,006
Commercial real estate construction
and land development 9,050 974 — — —
1-4 family residential
(including home equity) 3,294 3,201 781 217 239
Residential construction 746 — — — —
Consumer and other 152 141 — 12 66
Total nonaccrual loans 28,371 32,953 13,328 15,788 5,184
Accruing loans 90 or more days past due — — — 911 —
Total nonperforming loans() 28,371 32,953 13,328 16,699 5,184
Other real estate 8,337 630 365 1,503 —
Other repossessed assets — — 205 286 131
Total nonperforming assets(2) $ 36,708 $ 33583 3 13898 $ 18,488 $ 5,315
Restructured loans(3) $ 19239 $ 13494  $ 17526 $ 4,831 $ 4901
Nonperforming assets to total assets 0.74% 0.72% 0.49% 0.75% 0.25%
Nonperforming loansto total loans 0.72% 0.89% 0.59% 0.88% 0.31%

(1)  Nonperforming loansinclude nonaccrual loans and loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest.

(2)  Nonperforming assets include nonaccrual |oans, loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest, repossessed assets and other real estate.

(3) Restructured loans represent the balance at the end of the respective period for those performing loans modified in atroubled debt restructuring that
are not already presented as a nonperforming loan.
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Potential problem loans consist of loans that are performing in accordance with contractual terms but for which management has concerns about the
ability of an obligor to continue to comply with repayment terms because of the obligor’s potential operating or financial difficulties. Management monitors
these loans closely and reviews their performance on aregular basis. Potential problem loans contain potential weaknesses that could improve, persist or
further deteriorate. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had $20.2 million and $16.0 million, respectively, in loans of this type which are not included in any
of the nonaccrual or 90 days past due loan categories. At December 31, 2019, potential problem loans consisted of 27 credit relationships. Of the total
outstanding balance at December 31, 2019, 35.2% related to one customer in the hospitality industry, 22.9% related to nine customersin the energy-related
industry, 18.2% related to three customersin the customer serviceindustry, 11.8% related to one customer in the residential real estate rental industry, 5.8%
related to one customer in the manufacturing industry, 3.2% related to three customers in the commercial servicesindustry, 2.0% related to one customer in
the convenience store industry, 0.6% related to five customersin the trucking industry, 0.2% related to two customers in the construction material industry
and 0.1% related to one consumer loan. Weakness in these organizations’ operating performance, financial condition and borrowing base deficits for certain
energy related credits, among other factors, have caused usto heighten the attention given to these credits. Potential problem loansimpact the allocation of
our allowance for loan losses as aresult of our risk grade based allocation methodology. See Note 6 — Loans and Allowance for Loan Lossesin the
accompanying consolidated financial statementsfor details regarding our alowance allocation methodol ogy.

Nonperforming assetsincreased $3.1 million to $36.7 million a December 31, 2019, from $33.6 million at December 31, 2018. Nonaccrual loans
consisted of 69 separate credits at December 31, 2019 compared to 87 separate credits at December 31, 2018. Nonperforming assets were 0.94% of total loans
at December 31, 2019 compared to 0.91% at December 31, 2018.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance that is established through charges to earningsin the form of aprovision for loan losses. The
amount of the allowance for loan lossesis affected by the following: (1) charge-offs of loans that decrease the allowance, (2) subsequent recoveries on
loans previously charged off that increase the allowance and (3) provisions for loan |osses charged to income that increase the allowance.

Under accounting standards for business combinations, acquired loans are recorded at fair value on the date of acquisition. Thisfair value
adjustment eliminates any of the seller’s allowance associated with such loans as of the purchase date as any credit exposure associated with such loansis
incorporated into the fair value adjustment. A provision for loan lossesis recorded for the emergence of new incurred and estimable losses on acquired
|oans after the acquisition date in excess of the recorded discount.

All loans acquired from Post Oak were recorded at fair value without a carryover of the Post Oak allowance for 1oan losses. The discount recognized
on acquired loans is prospectively accreted, increasing our basisin such loans. Due to acquisition accounting, our allowance for loan losses to total |oans
may not be comparable to our peers particularly asit relates to the allowance to gross |oan percentage and the allowance to nonperforming loans.
Recognizing that acquired purchased credit impaired loans have been de minimis, we monitor credit quality trends on a post-acquisition basis with an
emphasis on past due, charge-off, classified loan and nonperforming trends. The amount of discount recorded by the Company on the acquisition date of
the Post Oak acquisition was $17.0 million, or 1.43%, on loans acquired.

The remaining discount on the balance of acquired loans as of December 31, 2019 was $5.5 million. The discount on purchased |oans considers
anticipated credit losses on that portfolio; therefore, no allowance for credit losses was established on the acquisition date. The unaccreted discount
represents additional protection against potential losses and is presented as a reduction of the recorded investment in the loans rather than an allowance
for loan losses. We will continue to ook at the portfolio for credit deterioration and establish additional allowances over the remaining discount as needed.

At December 31, 2019, our allowance for loan losses amounted to $29.4 million, or 0.75% of total loans, compared with $26.3 million, or 0.71%, as of
December 31, 2018.

Theratio of net charge-offsto average loans outstanding increased slightly to 0.07% for the year ended December 31, 2019 from 0.06% at
December 31, 2018.
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The following table presents, as of and for the periods indicated, an analysis of the allowance for |oan losses and other related data:

As of and for the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(Dollarsin thousands)
Average |oans outstanding $ 383,894 $ 2652355 $ 2,081,370 $ 1,755319 $ 1,525325
Gross |loans outstanding at end of period 3,915,310 3,708,306 2,270,876 1,891,635 1,681,052
Allowance for loan losses at beginning of period 26,331 23,649 17,911 13,098 8,246
Provision for loan | osses 5,939 4,248 13,188 5,469 5,792
Char ge-offs:
Commercial and industrial loans (2,688) (2,424) (7,673) (722) (935)
Mortgage warehouse — — — — —
Readl estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family
residential) (80) (42) (124) (129) —
Commercial real estate construction and land
development (44) — — — —
1-4 family residential (including home equity) (295) (25) — — (40)
Residential construction — — — — —
Consumer and other (34) (24) (196) (49) (65)
Total charge-offsfor all loan types (3,141) (2,515) (7,993) (900) (1,040)
Recoveries:
Commercial and industrial loans 274 847 516 186 52
Mortgage warehouse — — — — —
Readl estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family 3 2
residential) 3 102 —
Commercial real estate construction and land 10 18
devel opment — — —
1-4 family residential (including home equity) — — 10 10 —
Residential construction — — — — 24
Consumer and other 32 — 4 5 6
Total recoveriesfor al loan types 309 949 543 244 100
Net charge-offs (2,832) (1,566) (7,450) (656) (940)
Allowance for loan losses at end of period $ 29438 $ 26331 $ 23649 $ 17911 $ 13,098
Allowance for loan losses to total loans 0.75% 0.71% 1.04% 0.95% 0.78%
Net charge-offs to average |oans (1) 0.07% 0.06% 0.36% 0.04% 0.06%
Allowance for loan | osses to nonperforming loans 103.76% 79.90% 177.44% 107.26% 252.66%

In connection with our review of our loan portfolio, we consider the following risk elements attributable to particular loan types or categoriesin
assessing the quality of individual loans:

. for commercial and industrial loans, the operating results of the commercial, industrial or professional enterprise, the borrower’s business,
professional and financial ability and expertise, the specific risks and volatility of income and operating results typical for businessesin that
category and the value, nature and marketability of collateral;

. for commercial real estate (including multi-family residential) loans, the debt service coverage ratio (income from the property in excess of
operating expenses compared to |oan payment requirements), operating results of the owner in the case of owner-occupied properties, the loan
to valueratio, the age and condition of the collateral and the volatility of income, property value and future operating results typical of
properties of that type;

. for commercial real estate construction and land development and residential construction loans, the perceived feasibility of the project
including the ability to sell developed lots or improvements constructed for resale or the ability to lease property constructed for lease, the
quality and nature of contractsfor presale or prelease, if any, experience and ability of the developer and loan to valueratio;

. for 1-4 family residential (including home equity) loans, the borrower’s ability to repay the loan, including a consideration of the debt to income
ratio and employment and income stability, the loan to valueratio, and the age, condition and marketability of collateral; and
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for consumer and other loans, the individual borrower’sincome, current debt level, past credit history and the value of any available collateral.

Based on our review of our loan portfolio, we classify our loans by credit risk and track risk ratings. The following is ageneral description of the risk

ratings we use:

Loansclassified as “watch” loans may still be of high quality, but have an element of risk added to the credit such as declining payment
history, deteriorating financia position of the borrower or adecreasein collatera value.

Loansclassified as “ specia mention” have a potential weakness that deserves management’s close attention. If left uncorrected, these
potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan or of our credit position at some future date. They are
characterized by the distinct possibility that we will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.

Loansclassified as “substandard” have well-defined weaknesses on a continuing basis and are inadequately protected by the current net
worth and paying capacity of the borrower, impaired or declining collateral values, or a continuing downturn in their industry which is reducing
their profits to below zero and having a significantly negative impact on their cash flow. Such loans are characterized by the distinct possibility
that we will sustain some lossif the deficiencies are not corrected.

. Loans classified as “doubtful” have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard with the added characteristic that the
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions and values highly questionable and

improbable.

L oans not meeting the criteria above that are analyzed individually are considered to be pass rated |oans.

See Note 6 — Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses in our audited consolidated financial statement included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for additional information regarding how we estimate and eval uate the credit risk in our loan portfolio.

The following table shows the allocation of the allowance for loan losses among our loan categories and the percentage of the respective loan
category to total loans held for investment as of the datesindicated. The allocation is made for analytical purposes and is not necessarily indicative of the
categoriesin which future losses may occur. The total allowance is available to absorb losses from any loan category.

As of December 31,

2019

2018

2017 2016 2015

Per cent of Per cent of Per cent of Per cent of Per cent of
Loansto Loansto Loansto Loansto Loansto
Total Total Total Total Total
Amount L oans Amount L oans Amount L oans Amount L oans Amount L oans
(Dollarsin thousands)
Balance of allowance for loan losses
applicable to:
Commercial and industrial loans $ 8,818 176% $ 8,351 18.9% $ 7,694 20.1% $ 5,059 22.0% $ 3,644 23.6%
Mortgage Warehouse — 0.2% — 1.3% — 3.1% — 3.5% — 3.5%
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including
multi-family residential) 11,170 47.9% 11,901 44.6% 10,253 47.5% 8,950 47.2% 5,914 45.0%
Commercial real estate
construction and land
development 4,421 10.5% 2,724 11.6% 2,525 10.7% 1,217 8.4% 1,221 9.2%
1-4 family residential (including
home equity) 3,852 17.8% 2,242 17.5% 2,140 13.3% 1,876 13.1% 1,432 12.3%
Residential construction 1,057 4.9% 1,040 5.0% 942 4.8% 748 5.2% 820 5.6%
Consumer and other 120 1.1% 73 1.1% 95 0.5% 61 0.6% 67 0.8%
Total allowance for loan losses $ 29,438 100.0% $ 26,331 100.0% $ 23,649 100.0% $ 17,911 100.0% $ 13,098 100.0%

Availablefor Sale Securities

We use our securities portfolio to provide a source of liquidity, to provide an appropriate return on funds invested, to manage interest raterisk, to
meet pledging requirements and to meet regulatory capital requirements. As of December 31, 2019, the carrying amount of investment securities totaled
$372.5 million, an increase of $35.3 million, or 10.5%, compared with $337.3 million as of December 31, 2018. Securities represented 7.5% and 7.2% of total

assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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All of the securitiesin our securities portfolio are classified as available for sale. Securities classified as available for sale are measured at fair valuein
the financial statements with unrealized gains and losses reported, net of tax, as accumulated comprehensive income or loss until realized. | nterest earned
on securitiesisincluded in interest income.

The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of the securitiesin our securities portfolio as of the dates shown:

December 31, 2019

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains L osses Value

(Dollarsin thousands)
Availablefor Sale

U.S. government and agency securities $ 29420 $ 298 $ (243) $ 29,475
Municipal securities 84,200 3,453 (116) 87,537
Agency mortgage-backed pass-through securities 104,669 1,713 (214) 106,168
Agency collateralized mortgage obligations 106,351 1,199 (208) 107,342
Corporate bonds and other 41,691 346 (14) 42,023

Total $ 366,331 $ 7009 $ (795) $ 372,545

December 31, 2018

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains L osses Value

(Dollarsin thousands)
Availablefor Sale

U.S. government and agency securities $ 8570 $ 161 $ (46) $ 8,685
Municipal securities 219,068 1,258 (3,541) 216,785
Agency mortgage-backed pass-through securities 66,987 237 (1,029) 66,195
Corporate bonds and other 46,303 15 (690) 45,628

Total $ 340928 $ 1671 $ (5306) $ 337,293

Certain investment securities are valued at less than their historical cost. Management eval uates securities for other-than-temporary impairment
(“OTTI") at least on aquarterly basis, and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such an evaluation. See “ Securities” in Note 5 to
our audited consolidated financial statementsincluded elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding how and when
management eval uates securitiesfor OTTI.

Asof December 31, 2019, we did not expect to sell any securities classified as available for sale with unrealized |osses, and management believes that
we more likely than not will not be required to sell any securities before their anticipated recovery at which time we will receive full value for the securities.
The unrealized losses are largely due to increasesin market interest rates over the yields available at the time the underlying securities were purchased.
Management does not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. Thefair value is expected to recover as the securities
approach their maturity date or repricing date or if market yields for such investments decline. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2019, management believes
any impairment in our securitiesis temporary, and no impairment loss has been realized in our consolidated statements of income.
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The following table summarizes the contractual maturity of securities and their weighted average yields as of the datesindicated. The contractual
maturity of amortgage-backed security isthe date at which the last underlying mortgage matures. Available for sale securities are shown at amortized cost.
For purposes of the table below, municipal securities are calculated on atax equivalent basis.

December 31, 2019

After One After Five
Year but Years but
Within One Within Five Within Ten
Y ear Years Years After Ten Years Total
Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Total Yield
(Dollarsin thousands)
Availablefor Sale
U.S. government and
agency securities $ — 0.00% $ 5462 330% $22,129 293% $ 1,829 274% $ 29420 2.99%
Municipal securities 6,402 265% 2087 373% 25792 370% 49919 338% 84,200 3.43%
Agency mortgage-backed
pass-through securities — 000% 1160 277% 11,682 316% 91,827 298% 104,669 3.00%
Agency collateralized
mortgage obligations —  0.00% — 0.00% 25471 278% 80,880 247% 106,351 2.55%
Corporate bonds and other 13820 273% 1518 225% 4,000 556% 22353 327% 41691 3.27%
Total $20,222 2.71% $10,227 3.17% $89,074 3.26% $246,808 2.92% $366,331 3.00%

December 31, 2018

After One Year

but Within Five After Five Yearsbut

Within One Year Years Within Ten Years After Ten Years Total
Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Total Yield
(Dollarsin thousands)
Availablefor Sale
U.S. government and
agency securities $ 999 237% $ 5,399 3.30% $ — 0.00% $ 2,172 274% $ 8570 3.05%
Municipal securities 3,772 206% 37,422 2.03% 86,391 3.05% 91,483 3.84% 219,068 3.19%
Agency mortgage-backed
pass-through securities — 0.00% 34 4.05% 13,466 2.92% 53,487 3.21% 66,987 3.15%
Corporate bonds and other 10,106 2.36% 30,854 2.56% 1,000 8.00% 4,343 4.17% 46,303 2.78%
Total $14,877 2.29% $73,709 2.34% $100,857 3.09% $151,485 3.61% $340,928 3.12%

The contractual maturity of mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligationsis not areliable indicator of their expected life
because borrowers generally have the right to prepay their obligations. Mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations are typically
issued with stated principal amounts and are backed by pools of mortgage loans with varying maturities. The term of the underlying mortgages and loans
may vary significantly due to the ability of aborrower to prepay and, in particular, monthly pay downs on mortgage-backed securities tend to cause the
average life of the securities to be much different than the stated contractual maturity. During a period of increasing interest rates, fixed rate mortgage-
backed securities do not tend to experience heavy prepayments of principal and, consequently, the average life of this security will be lengthened. If
interest rates begin to fall, prepayments may increase, thereby shortening the estimated life of this security.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we did not own securities of any one issuer (other than the U.S. government and its agencies or sponsored
entities) for which the aggregate adjusted cost exceeded 10% of our consolidated shareholders’ equity.

The average yield of our securities portfolio was 2.79% during the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with 2.69% for the year ended
December 31, 2018. Theincrease in average yield during 2019 compared to 2018 was primarily due to our increased investment in longer-term
securities. Thisinvestment in higher-yielding securities replaced lower-yielding securities that matured or were called or prepaid.
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Goodwill and Core Deposit | ntangibles

Our goodwill as of December 31, 2019 was $223.6 million compared to $223.1 million as of December 31, 2018 primarily due to goodwill resulting from
the LoweryBank branch acquisition. Goodwill resulting from business combinations represents the excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of
the net assets acquired. Goodwill is assessed annually for impairment or when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
asset may not be recoverable.

Our core deposit intangibles, net, as of December 31, 2019 was $21.9 million compared to $26.6 million as of December 31, 2018. Core deposit
intangibles are amortized over the estimated useful life of seven to ten years.

Deposits

Our lending and investing activities are primarily funded by deposits. We offer avariety of deposit accounts having awide range of interest rates
and termsincluding demand, savings, money market and certificates and other time accounts. We rely primarily on convenient locations, personalized
service and our customer relationships to attract and retain these deposits. We seek customersthat will both engage in alending and deposit relationship
with us.

Total deposits at December 31, 2019 were $4.07 hillion, an increase of $405.6 million, or 11.1%, compared with $3.66 billion at December 31, 2018. The
deposit growth we experienced was largely the result of growth in our loan customer base, many of whom also established a deposit relationship with
us. Noninterest-bearing deposits at December 31, 2019 were $1.25 hillion, an increase of $42.9 million, or 3.6%, compared with $1.21 hillion at December 31,
2018. Interest-bearing deposits at December 31, 2019 were $2.82 hillion, an increase of $362.6 million, or 14.8%, compared with $2.45 billion at December 31,
2018.

The following table presents the daily average balances and weighted average rates paid on deposits for the periodsindicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Average Average Average Average Average Average
Balance Rate Balance Rate Balance Rate
(Dollarsin thousands)
I nterest-bearing demand $ 345,693 116% $ 224,210 0.82% $ 156,527 0.38%
Money market and savings 1,037,126 1.38% 637,722 0.73% 536,415 0.48%
Certificates and other time 1,276,684 2.09% 940,356 1.65% 748,086 1.21%
Total interest-bearing deposits 2,659,503 1.69% 1,802,288 1.22% 1,441,028 0.85%
Noninterest-bearing deposits 1,194,496 — 848,276 — 672,101 —
Total deposits $ 3,853,999 117% $ 2,650,564 083% $ 2113129 0.58%

Our ratio of average noninterest-bearing deposits to average total deposits was 31.0%, 32.0% and 31.8% for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

The following table sets forth the amount of our certificates of deposit that are $100 thousand or greater by time remaining until maturity:

As of December 31,

2019 2018

(Dollarsin thousands)
Three months or less $ 211,349 $ 243,169
Over three months through six months 126,106 164,687
Over six months through 12 months 249,699 298,921
Over 12 months through three years 198,807 219,818
Over threeyears 33,987 154,389
Total $ 819,948 $ 1,080,984
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Borrowings

We have an available line of credit with the FHLB of Dallas, which allows usto borrow on a collateralized basis. FHL B advances are used to manage
liquidity as needed. The advances are secured by a blanket lien on certain loans. Maturing advances are replaced by drawing on available cash, making
additional borrowings or through increased customer deposits. At December 31, 2019, we had atotal borrowing capacity of $1.72 billion, of which $1.51
billion was available under this agreement and $204.8 million was outstanding. FHL B advances of $75.0 million were outstanding at December 31, 2019, at a
weighted average rate of 2.29%. L etters of credit were $129.8 million at December 31, 2019, of which $8.6 million expired in January 2020, $8.9 million expired
in February 2020, $25.0 million will expirein March 2020, $8.5 million will expirein April 2020, $37.1 million will expirein June 2020, $1.7 million will expirein
July 2020, $8.4 million will expire in August 2020, $25.0 million will expire in October 2020, $4.1 million will expire in December 2020 and $2.5 million will expire
in March 2021.

Credit Agreement

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had $569 thousand of indebtedness owed under our credit agreement with another financial institution. The
interest rate on the outstanding debt under the credit agreement is the Prime Rate minus 25 basis points, or 4.50% at December 31, 2019, and is paid
quarterly. On December 28, 2018, we amended the credit agreement to increase the maximum commitment to advance funds to $45.0 million which will reduce
annually by $7.5 million beginning in December 2020 and on each December 22nd for the following years thereafter. We are required to repay any
outstanding balance in excess of the then-current maximum commitment amount. The revised agreement will mature in December 2025 and is secured by
100% of the capital stock of the Bank.

Our credit agreement contains certain restrictive covenants, including limitations on our ability to incur additional indebtedness or engagein certain
fundamental corporate transactions, such as mergers, reorganizations and recapitalizations. Additionally, the Bank isrequired to maintain a“well-
capitalized” rating, a minimum return on assets of 0.65%, measured quarterly, aratio of loan loss reserve to non-performing loans equal to or greater than
75%, measured quarterly, and aratio of non-performing assets to aggregate equity plusloan |0ss reserves minus intangibl e assets of less than 35%,
measured quarterly. As of December 31, 2019, we believe we were in compliance with all such debt covenants and had not been made aware of any
noncompliance by the lender.

Subordinated Debt
Junior Subordinated Debentures

In connection with the F& M Bancshares acquisition, we assumed junior subordinated debentures with an aggregate original principal amount of
$11.3 million and acurrent fair value of $9.5 million at December 31, 2019. At acquisition, we recorded a discount of $2.5 million on the debentures. The
difference between the carrying value and contractual balance will be recognized as ayield adjustment over the remaining term for the debentures. See Note
12 to our audited consolidated financial statementsincluded elsewherein this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Subordinated Notes

In December 2017, the Bank completed the issuance, through a private placement, of $40.0 million aggregate principal amount of Fixed-to-Floating
Rate Subordinated Notes (the "Notes") due December 15, 2027. The Notes were issued at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, resulting in net
proceeds to the Bank of $39.4 million. The Bank used the net proceeds from the offering to support its growth and for general corporate purposes. The
Notes are intended to qualify as Tier 2 capital for bank regulatory purposes.

The Notes bear afixed interest rate of 5.25% per annum until (but excluding) December 15, 2022, payable semi-annually in arrears. From December 15,
2022, the Notes will bear afloating rate of interest equal to 3-Month LIBOR + 3.03% until the Notes mature on December 15, 2027, or such earlier redemption
date, payable quarterly in arrears. The Notes will be redeemable by the Bank, in whole or in part, on or after December 15, 2022 or, in whole but not in part,
upon the occurrence of certain specified tax events, capital events or investment company events. Any redemption will be at aredemption price equal to
100% of the principal amount of Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, and will be subject to, and require, prior regulatory approval. The
Notes are not subject to redemption at the option of the holders.

In September 2019, we completed the issuance of $60.0 million aggregate principal amount of Fixed-to-Floating Rate Subordinated Notes (the
"Company Notes") due October 1, 2029. The Company Notes were issued at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, resulting in net proceeds to the
Company of $58.6 million. The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the offering to support its growth and for general corporate purposes.

The Company Notes bear afixed interest rate of 4.70% per annum until (but excluding) October 1, 2024, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1
and October 1, commencing on April 1, 2020. Thereafter, from October 1, 2024 through the maturity date, October 1, 2029, or earlier redemption date, the
Company Noteswill bear interest at afloating rate equal to the then-current three-
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month LIBOR, plus 313 basis points (3.13%) for each quarterly interest period (subject to certain provisions set forth under “ Description of the Notes—
Interest Rates and I nterest Payment Dates” included in the Prospectus Supplement for the Company Notes), payable quarterly in arrears on January 1,
April 1, July 1 and October 1 of each year. Any redemption will be at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of Company Notes being
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, and will be subject to, and require, prior regulatory approval. The Company Notes are not subject to
redemption at the option of the holders.

Contractual Obligations

The following tables summarize our contractual obligations and other commitments to make future payments as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 (other
than deposit obligations), which consist of our future cash payments associated with our contractual obligations pursuant to our non-cancelable operating
leases and our indebtedness owed to another financial institution. Paymentsrelated to |eases are based on actual payments specified in underlying
contracts.

As of December 31, 2019

Morethan One Threeyearsor
Year but Less More but Less Five Years or
OneYear or Less Than ThreeYears Than Five Years More Total
(Dollarsin thousands)
Credit agreement $ — 3 — 3 — 3 569 $ 569
Operating leases 2,867 4,812 2,727 2,162 12,568
Total $ 2867 $ 4812 $ 2727 $ 2731  $ 13,137

As of December 31, 2018

Morethan One Threeyearsor
Year but Less More but Less Five Years or
One Year or Less Than Three Years Than Five Years More Total
(Dollarsin thousands)
Credit agreement $ — 3 — 3 — 3 569 $ 569
Operating leases 2,559 1,987 3,242 5,126 12,914
Total $ 2559 3% 1987 $ 3242 $ 5695 $ 13,483

Off-Balance Sheet Items

In the normal course of business, we enter into various transactions, which, in accordance with GAAP, are not included in our consolidated balance
sheets. We enter into these transactions to meet the financing needs of our customers. These transactions include both commitments to extend credit and
standby and performance letters of credit, which involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk and interest rate risk in excess of the amounts
recognized in our consolidated balance sheets.

Our commitments associated with outstanding standby letters of credit and commitments to extend credit expiring by period are summarized below
as of December 31, 2019. Since commitments associated with letters of credit and commitments to extend credit may expire unused, the amounts shown do
not necessarily reflect the actual future cash funding requirements:

As of December 31, 2019

Morethan Threeyearsor
OneYear but Morebut Less

Less Than Than Five Five Years or
OneYear or Less ThreeYears Years More Total
(Dollarsin thousands)
Commitments to extend credit $ 570,868 $ 109,171 $ 45660 $ 313,182 $1,038,881
Standby letters of credit 14,900 103 149 — 15,152
Total $ 585,768 $ 109,274 $ 45809 $ 313,182  $1,054,033

Commitmentsto Extend Credit. We enter into contractual commitments to extend credit, normally with fixed expiration dates or termination clauses,
at specified rates and for specific purposes. Substantially all of our commitmentsto extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit
standards at the time of loan funding. We minimize our exposure to |oss under these commitments by subjecting them to credit approval and monitoring
procedures. The amount and type of collateral obtained, if considered necessary by us, upon extension of credit, is based on management’s credit
evaluation of the customer. Management assesses the credit risk associated with certain commitments to extend credit in determining the level of the
allowancefor loan losses.
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Standby Letters of Credit. Standby letters of credit are written conditional commitmentsissued by usto guarantee the performance of a customer to
athird party. If the customer does not perform in accordance with the terms of the agreement with the third party, we would be required to fund the
commitment and we would have the rights to the underlying collateral. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to makeis
represented by the contractual amount of the commitment. Our policies generally require that standby letter of credit arrangements are backed by
promissory notes that contain security and debt covenants similar to those contained in loan agreements.

Liquidity and Capital Resour ces
Liquidity

Liquidity isthe measure of our ability to meet the cash flow requirements of depositors and borrowers, while at the same time meeting our operating,
capital and strategic cash flow needs and to maintain reserve requirements to operate on an ongoing basis and manage unexpected events, al at a
reasonabl e cost. During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, our liquidity needs have been met by deposits, borrowed funds, security and

loan maturities and amortizing investment and loan portfolios. The Bank has access to purchased funds from correspondent banks, and advances from the
FHLB are available under a security and pledge agreement to take advantage of investment opportunities.

Average assets totaled $4.83 hillion, $3.37 billion and $2.70 hillion for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The following
tableillustrates, during the periods presented, the mix of our funding sources and the average assets in which those funds are invested as a percentage of
our average total assets for the period indicated.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017

Sources of Funds:
Deposits:

Noninterest-bearing 24.7% 25.2% 24.9%

Interest-bearing 55.2% 53.6% 53.4%
Borrowed funds 2.6% 7.2% 10.0%
Subordinated debt 1.3% 1.4% 0.4%
Other liagbilities 1.5% 0.3% 0.3%
Shareholders’ equity 14.7% 12.3% 11.0%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Uses of Funds:
Loans 79.4% 78.8% 77.1%
Securities 74% 9.4% 12.0%
Depositsin other financial institutions 1.5% 21% 1.9%
Noninterest-earning assets 11.7% 9.7% 9.0%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Average noninterest-bearing deposits to average deposits 31.0% 32.0% 31.8%
Average loans to average deposits 99.4% 100.1% 98.5%

Our largest source of fundsis deposits and our largest use of fundsisloans. Our average loansincreased $1.18 billion, or 44.5%, for the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018. We predominantly invest excess depositsin Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas balances,
securities, interest-bearing deposits at other banks or other short-term liquid investments until the funds are needed to fund |oan growth. Our securities
portfolio had aweighted average life of 7.4 years and modified duration of 6.0 years at December 31, 2019, and aweighted average life of 6.1 yearsand
modified duration of 5.1 years at December 31, 2018.

As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we had outstanding $1.04 billion and $1.00 billion, respectively, in commitments to extend credit and
$15.2 million and $23.3 million, respectively, in commitments associated with outstanding standby and performance letters of credit. Since commitments
associated with letters of credit and commitments to extend credit may expire unused, the total outstanding may not necessarily reflect the actual future
cash funding requirements.

Asof December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we had no exposure to future cash requirements associated with known uncertainties or capital
expenditures of amaterial nature.
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As of December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $346.2 million compared with $268.9 million at December 31, 2018, an increase of $77.3
million. Thisincrease in cash and cash equivalents was primarily due to the increase of $405.6 million in deposits, proceeds from the subordinated note
issuance of $58.6 million partially offset by theincrease in total loans of $207.0 million.

Capital Resources

Capital management consists of providing equity to support our current and future operations. We are subject to capital adequacy requirements
imposed by the Federal Reserve and the Bank is subject to capital adequacy requirements imposed by the FDIC. Both the Federal Reserve and the FDIC
have adopted risk-based capital requirements for assessing bank holding companies and bank capital adequacy. These standards define capital and
establish minimum capital requirementsin relation to assets and off-balance sheet exposure, adjusted for credit risk. The risk-based capital standards
currently in effect are designed to make regulatory capital requirements more sensitive to differencesin risk profiles among bank holding companies and
banks, to account for off-balance sheet exposure and to minimize disincentives for holding liquid assets. Assets and off-balance sheet items are assigned to
broad risk categories, each with appropriate relative risk weights. The resulting capital ratios represent capital as a percentage of total risk-weighted assets
and off-balance sheet items.

Under current guidelines, the minimum ratio of total capital to risk-weighted assets (which are primarily the credit risk equivalents of balance sheet
assets and certain off-balance sheet items such as standby letters of credit) is8.0%. At least half of total capital must be composed of tier 1 capital, which
includes common shareholders' equity (including retained earnings), less goodwill, other disallowed intangibles and disallowed deferred tax assets, among
other items. The Federal Reserve also has adopted a minimum leverage ratio, requiring tier 1 capital of at least 4.0% of average quarterly total consolidated
assets, net of goodwill and certain other intangible assets, for all but the most highly rated bank holding companies. The federal banking agencies have also
established risk-based and leverage capital guidelinesthat FDIC-insured depository institutions are required to meet. These regulations are generally similar
to those established by the Federal Reserve for bank holding companies.

Under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, the federal bank regulatory agencies must take “prompt corrective action” against undercapitalized U.S.
depository institutions. U.S. depository institutions are assigned one of five capital categories: “well capitalized,” “adequately capitalized,”
“undercapitalized,” “significantly undercapitalized” and “critically undercapitalized,” and are subjected to different regulation corresponding to the capital
category within which the institution falls. A depository institution is deemed to be “well capitalized” if the banking institution has atotal risk-based capital
ratio of 10.0% or greater, atier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 8.0% or greater, acommon equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 6.5% and aleverage ratio of 5.0% or
greater, and the institution is not subject to an order, written agreement, capital directive or prompt corrective action directive to meet and maintain a
specific level for any capital measure. Under certain circumstances, awell-capitalized, adequately capitalized or undercapitalized institution may be treated
asif theinstitution werein the next lower capital category.

Failure to meet capital guidelines could subject theinstitution to avariety of enforcement remedies by federal bank regulatory agencies, including:
termination of deposit insurance by the FDIC, restrictions on certain business activities and appointment of the FDIC as conservator or receiver. As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Bank was well-capitalized.

Basel |11 Capital Rulesimpact regulatory capital ratios of banking organizations in the following manner: create a new reguirement to maintain aratio
of “common equity Tier 1 capital” to total risk-weighted assets of not less than 4.5%; increase the minimum leverage capital ratio to 4.0% for all banking
organizations; increase the minimum tier 1 risk-based capital ratio from 4.0% to 6.0%; and maintain the minimum total risk-based capital ratio at 8.0%.

In addition, the Basel |11 Capital Rules subject a banking organization to certain limitations on capital distributions and discretionary bonus
payments to executive officersif the organization does not maintain a“capital conservation buffer” of common equity Tier 1 capital. The implementation of
the capital conservation buffer began on January 1, 2016 at the 0.625% level and was phased in over athree-year period (increasing by 0.625% on each
subsequent January 1, until it reached 2.5% on January 1, 2019). The effect of the capital conservation buffer isto increase the minimum common equity Tier
1 capital ratio to 7.0%, the minimum tier 1 risk-based capital ratio to 8.5% and the minimum total risk-based capital ratio to 10.5%.
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The following table provides a comparison of the Company’s and the Bank’s leverage and risk-weighted capital ratios as of December 31, 2019 to the
minimum and well-capitalized regulatory standards:

ToBe
Categorized As
Minimum Well Capitalized
Required for Minimum Required Under Prompt
Capital Plus Capital Corrective

Actual Ratio Adequacy Purposes Conservation Buffer  Action Provisions

ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.

(Consolidated)
Total capital (to risk weighted assets) 14.83% 8.00% 10.50% N/A
Common equity Tier 1 capital

(to risk weighted assets) 11.42% 4.50% 7.00% N/A
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 11.66% 6.00% 8.50% N/A
Tier 1 capital (to average tangible assets) 10.02% 4.00% 4.00% N/A
ALLEGIANCE BANK:
Total capital (to risk weighted assets) 14.39% 8.00% 10.50% 10.00%
Common equity Tier 1 capital

(to risk weighted assets) 12.67% 4.50% 7.00% 6.50%
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets) 12.67% 6.00% 8.50% 8.00%
Tier 1 capital (to average tangible assets) 10.89% 4.00% 4.00% 5.00%

Total shareholder’s equity was $709.9 million at December 31, 2019, compared with $703.0 million at December 31, 2018, an increase of $6.9 million, or
1.0%, primarily due to net income during 2019 partially offset by the share repurchases during the year.

Asset/Liability Management and Interest Rate Risk

Our asset liahility and interest rate risk policy provides management with the guidelines for effective balance sheet management. We have
established ameasurement system for monitoring our net interest rate sensitivity position. We manage our sensitivity position within our established
guidelines.

Asafinancial institution, a component of the market risk that we face isinterest rate volatility. Fluctuationsin interest rates will ultimately impact
both the level of income and expense recorded on most of our assets and liabilities, and the market value of all interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liahilities, other than those which have a short term to maturity. Interest raterisk is the potential for economic losses due to future interest rate changes.
These economic losses can be reflected as aloss of future net interest income and/or aloss of current fair market values. The objective isto measure the
effect on net interest income and to adjust the balance sheet to minimize the inherent risk while at the same time maximizing income.

We have not entered into instruments such as leveraged derivatives, interest rate swaps, financial options, financial future contracts or forward
delivery contracts for the purpose of reducing interest rate risk. Based upon the nature of our operations, we are not subject to foreign exchange rate or
commodity pricerisk. We do not own any trading assets. We manage our exposure to interest rates by structuring our balance sheet in the ordinary course
of acommunity banking business.

Our exposure to interest rate risk is managed by our Asset Liability Committee (“ALCO"), which is composed of certain members of our Board of
Directors and Bank management. The ALCO formulates strategies based on appropriate levels of interest rate risk. In determining the appropriate level of
interest rate risk, the ALCO considers the impact on earnings and capital of the current outlook on interest rates, potential changesin interest rates, regional
economies, liquidity, business strategies and other factors. The ALCO meets regularly to review, among other things, the sensitivity of assetsand liabilities
tointerest rate changes, the book and market values of assets and liabilities, unrealized gains and | osses, purchase and sale activities, commitmentsto
originate loans and the maturities of investments and borrowings. Additionally, the ALCO reviews liquidity, cash flow flexibility, maturities of deposits and
consumer and commercial deposit activity.

We use an interest rate risk simulation model and shock analysisto test the interest rate sensitivity of net interest income and the balance sheet,
respectively. All instruments on the balance sheet are modeled at the instrument level, incorporating all relevant attributes such as next reset date, reset
frequency and call dates, as well as prepayment assumptions for loans and securities and decay rates for nonmaturity deposits. Assumptions based on
past experience are incorporated into the model for nonmaturity deposit account decay rates. The assumptions used are inherently uncertain and, asa
result, the model cannot precisely measure future net interest income or precisely predict the impact of fluctuations in market interest rates on net interest
income. Actual resultswill differ from the model’s simulated results due to timing, magnitude and frequency of interest rate changes as well as changesin
market conditions and the application and timing of various management strategies.
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We utilize static balance sheet rate shocks to estimate the potential impact on net interest income of changesin interest rates under various rate
scenarios. Thisanalysis estimates a percentage of change in the metric from the stable rate base scenario versus aternative scenarios of rising and falling
market interest rates by instantaneously shocking a static balance sheet.

The following table summarizes the simulated change in net interest income and the economic value of equity over a 12-month horizon as of the
dates indicated:

Changein Interest Percent Changein Net Interest Income Percent Change in Economic Value of Equity
Rates (Basis Points) As of December 31, 2019 As of December 31, 2018 As of December 31, 2019 As of December 31, 2018
+300 (5.3)% 0.9% 5.0% 0.2%
+200 (3.:3)% 0.9% 5.3% 0.9%
+100 (1.6)% 0.6% 3.7% 1.0%
Base 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
-100 2.3% (1.1)% (6.9)% (2.7)%

These results are primarily due to the duration of our loan and securities portfolio, the duration of our borrowings and the expected behavior of
demand, money market and savings deposits during such rate fluctuations. During 2019, the overall duration of our combined loan and securities portfolios
decreased, money market deposit balances increased and FHL B borrowings represented a smaller proportion of our funding mix at year end due to deposit
growth exceeding loan growth in 2019.

GAAP Reconciliation and Management’s Explanation of Non-GAAP Financial M easures

Weidentify certain financial measures discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as being “non-GAAP financial measures.” |n accordance with
the SEC'srules, we classify afinancial measure as being anon-GAAP financial measure if that financial measure excludes or includes amounts, or is subject
to adjustments that have the effect of excluding or including amounts, that are included or excluded, as the case may be, in the most directly comparable
measure calculated and presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles asin effect from timeto timein the United Statesin our
statements of income, balance sheet or statements of cash flows. Non-GAAP financial measures do not include operating and other statistical measures or
ratios or statistical measures calculated using exclusively either financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP, operating measures or other
measures that are not non-GAAP financial measures or both.

The non-GAAP financial measures that we discuss in this Annual Report on Form 10-K should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for
the most directly comparable or other financial measures cal culated in accordance with GAAP. Moreover, the manner in which we calculate the non-GAAP
financial measures that we discussin this Annual Report on Form 10-K may differ from that of other companies reporting measures with similar names. Y ou
should understand how such other banking organizations calculate their financial measures similar or with names similar to the non-GAAP financial
measures we have discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K when comparing such non-GAAP financial measures.

Our management uses these non-GAAP financial measuresin its analysis of our performance:

. “Tangible Shareholders' Equity” isanon-GAAP measure generally used by financial analysts and investment bankersto evaluate financial
institutions. Tangible shareholders' equity is defined as total shareholders' equity reduced by goodwill and core deposit intangibles, net of
accumulated amortization. This measure isimportant to investorsinterested in changes from period to period in shareholders’ equity, exclusive
of changesin intangible assets. For tangible shareholders' equity, the most directly comparable financial measure cal culated in accordance with
GAAP istotal shareholders’ equity. Goodwill and other intangible assets have the effect of increasing total shareholders' equity while not
increasing our tangible equity.

. “Tangible Book Value Per Share” isanon-GAAP measure generally used by financial analysts and investment bankers to evaluate financial
institutions. Tangible book value per share is defined as total shareholders' equity reduced by goodwill and core deposit intangibles, net of
accumulated amortization, divided by total shares outstanding. This measure isimportant to investorsinterested in changes from period to
period in book value per share, exclusive of changes in intangible assets. For tangible book value per share, the most directly comparable
financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP is our book value per share.
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. “Return on Average Tangible Shareholders’ Equity” isanon-GAAP measure generally used by financial analysts and investment bankersto
evaluate financial institutions. Return on average tangible shareholders’ equity is computed by dividing net earnings by average total
shareholders' equity reduced by average goodwill and core deposit intangibles, net of accumulated amortization. For return on average
tangible shareholders' equity, the most directly comparable financial measure cal culated in accordance with GAAP isreturn on average
shareholders' equity. This measureisimportant to investors because it measures the performance of the business consistently, exclusive of

changesin intangible assets.

. “Tangible Equity to Tangible Assets” isanon-GAAP measure generally used by financial analysts and investment bankers to evaluate
financial institutions. Tangible equity to tangible assetsis defined as total shareholders’ equity reduced by goodwill and core deposit
intangibles, net of accumulated amortization, divided by tangible assets, which are total assets reduced by goodwill and core deposit
intangibles, net of accumulated amortization. This measure isimportant to investors interested in changes from period to period in equity and
total assets, each exclusive of changesin intangible assets. For tangible equity to tangible assets, the most directly comparabl e financial
measure calculated in accordance with GAAP istotal shareholders equity to total assets. Goodwill and other intangible assets have the effect

of increasing both total shareholders’ equity and assets while not increasing our tangible common equity or tangible assets.

We believe these non-GAAP financial measures provide useful information to management and investors that is supplementary to our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows computed in accordance with GAAP; however, we acknowledge that our non-GAAP financial measures
have a number of limitations. As such, you should not view these disclosures as a substitute for results determined in accordance with GAAP, and they are
not necessarily comparable to non-GAAP financial measures that other companies use. The following reconciliation tables provide amore detailed analysis

of these non-GAAP financial measures:

Total shareholders' equity
Less:

Goodwill and core deposit intangibles, net
Tangible shareholders' equity

Shares outstanding at end of period()
Tangible book value per share
Net income attributabl e to shareholders

Average shareholders' equity
Less:
Average goodwill and other intangible
assets, net
Average tangible common shareholders’ equity

Return on average tangible common equity

Total assets
Less:

Goodwill and core deposit intangibles, net
Tangible assets

Tangible common equity to tangible assets

As of and for the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(Dollarsin thousands, except share and per share data)
709,865 $ 702,984 % 306,865 $ 279817 $ 258,490
245,518 249,712 42,663 43,444 44,619
464347 % 453,272 $ 264202 $ 236,373 % 213,871
20,523,816 21,937,740 13,226,826 12,958,341 12,812,985
262 $ 20.66 $ 1997 $ 1824 $ 16.69
52959 $ 37,309 $ 17632 $ 22851 % 15,227
708269 $ 413,441 $ 297,627 $ 273211 % 204,935
247,854 80,384 43,050 43,880 45,055
460415 $ 333,057 $ 254577 $ 229331 $ 159,880
11.50% 11.20% 6.93% 9.96% 9.52%
4992654 $ 4,655,249 $ 2,860,231 $ 2450948 $ 2,084,579
245,518 249,712 42,663 43,444 44,619
4747136 $ 4405537 $ 2817568 $ 2407504 $ 2,039,960
9.78% 10.29% 9.38% 9.82% 10.48%

(1) Doesnotinclude 1,711 shares of treasury stock as of December 31, 2015. There were no shares of treasury stock outstanding as of December 31,

2019, 2018, 2017 or 2016.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURESABOUT MARKET RISK

For information regarding the market risk of the Company’sfinancial instruments, see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operation—Financial Condition—Asset/Liability Management and Interest Rate Risk.” Our principal market risk exposureisto
changesin interest rates.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTSAND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Thefinancial statements, the reports thereon, the notes thereto and supplementary data commence at page 71 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGESIN AND DISAGREEMENTSWITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLSAND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company carried
out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures. In designing and eval uating the disclosure controls and
procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonabl e assurance
of achieving the desired control objectives, and management was required to apply judgment in evaluating its controls and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(¢e) and 15d-15(€) under the Exchange Act) were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report. See Exhibits 31.1 and
31.2 for the Certification statements issued by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respectively.

Changesin Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting (as such
term isdefined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the year ended December 31, 2019, that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting.

Reporting on Management’s Assessment of Internal Controls over Financial Reporting. Management of the Company isresponsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Our
internal control system is aprocess designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial
statementsin accordance with GAAP. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations and can only provide reasonable
assurance with respect to financial reporting.

Asof December 31, 2019, management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting based on the criteriafor
effectiveinternal control over financial reporting established in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework,” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013. Based on this assessment, management determined that the Company maintained effective internal
control over financia reporting as of December 31, 2019.

Crowe LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm, audited the consolidated financial statements of the Company included in this
Annua Report on Form 10-K. Their report isincluded in Part 1V, Item 15. under the heading “ Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.”
Pursuant to SEC rules applicable to emerging growth companies, this Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report on management’s
assessment of internal control over financial reporting from the Company's independent registered public accounting firm.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.



PART I11.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Theinformation required by this Item isincorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2020 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders (the “2020 Proxy Statement”) to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act within 120 days of the
Company’sfiscal year end.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item isincorporated herein by reference to the 2020 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Certain information required by this Item isincluded under “ Securities Authorized for | ssuance under Equity Compensation Plans’ in Part 11, Item 5
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The other information required by this Item isincorporated herein by reference to the 2020 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPSAND RELATED TRANSACTIONSAND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this Item isincorporated herein by reference to the 2020 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEESAND SERVICES
The information required by this Item isincorporated herein by reference to the 2020 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITSAND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Thefollowing documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements. Reference is made to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the report thereon and the notes thereto
commencing at page 71 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Set forth below isalist of such Consolidated Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Y ears Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Y ears Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Changesin Shareholders’ Equity for the Y ears Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Y ears Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules. All supplemental schedules are omitted as inapplicable or because the required information isincluded in the
Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

3. The exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K listed below have been included only with the copy of this report filed with the SEC. The
Company will furnish a copy of any exhibit to shareholders upon written request to the Company and payment of areasonable fee not to exceed the
Company’s reasonable expense.

Each exhibit marked with an asterisk isfiled or furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K as noted below.

Exhibit
Number Description
21 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and between Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. and Post Oak Bancshares, Inc. dated April 30, 2018
’ (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on May 1, 2018)
31 Amended and Restated Certificate of Formation of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
’ Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-O filed on August 1, 2019)
32 Bylaws of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
) (Registration No. 333-206536) (the “ Registration Statement”)
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement
4.2% Description of Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
43 Form of Allegiance Bank Fixed-to-Floating Rate Subordinated Note due December 15, 2027 Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1

to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 14, 2017)

Subordinated Debt |ndenture, dated as of September 20, 2019, between Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. and U.S. Bank
44 National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on October 1, 2019)

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 27, 2019, between Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2019)

45

Form of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. 4.70% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Subordinated Note due 2029 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit A of Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 1, 2019)

4.6
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10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

21.1*
23.1*
31.1*
31.2*

32.1%*

32.2x*

Tax Allocation Agreement dated April 1, 2013, by and between Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. and Allegiance Bank (f/k/a Allegiance Bank
Texas) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration Statement)

Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. 2015 Amended and Restated Stock Awards and Incentive Plan (including form of awards) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement)

Credit Agreement dated as of December 22, 2014 by and among Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. and Prosperity Bank (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to the Reqgistration Statement)

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statement)

Amendment to the Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. 2015 Amended and Restated Stock Awards and | ncentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 24, 2017)

Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 5, 2017)

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-8 ( Registration No. 333-208600))

Amendment to Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on March 9, 2018)

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2018, by and among Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. and Prosperity Bank
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 31, 2018)

Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on January 29, 2019)

Purchase Agreement for Real Property at 8727 W. Sam Houston Parkway, Houston, Texas 77040 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-O filed on August 1, 2019)

Purchase Agreement for Real Property at 8807 W. Sam Houston Parkway, Houston, Texas 77040 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 1, 2019)

Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. 2019 Amended and Restated Stock Awards and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 30, 2019)

Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. 2019 Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 30, 2019)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-
231142))

Form of Performance Share Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company's Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-
231142))

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-Employee Director (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to the Company's Form S-8
(Registration No. 333-231142))

Subsidiaries of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc.

Consent of CroweLLP

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002
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101.INS* XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document Exhibit
101.CAL*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

EXHIBITS
* Filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
**  Furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant, has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 9, 2020

ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
By: /s/ Steven F. Retzlof f

Steven F. Retzloff
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Positions Date
/s Steven F. Retzlof f Chief Executive Officer March 9, 2020
Steven F. Retzloff (Principal Executive Officer); Director
/s Paul P. Egge Chief Financial Officer March 9, 2020
Paul P. Egge (Principal Financial and Principal Accounting Officer)
/sl George Martinez Chairman of the Board March 9, 2020
George Martinez Director
/9 Ramon A. Vitulli, I11 Director March 9, 2020
Ramon A. Vitulli, I11
/s/ John Beckworth Director March 9, 2020
John Beckworth
/s/ Matthew H. Hartzell Director March 9, 2020
Matthew H. Hartzell
/s/ Robert Ivany Director March 9, 2020
Robert Ivany
/s/ Umesh Jain Director March 9, 2020
Umesh Jain
/s Frances H. Jeter Director March 9, 2020

Frances H. Jeter
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Signature Positions Date
/s Robert E. McKeelll Director March 9, 2020
Robert E McKeelll
/s/ David B. Moulton Director March 9, 2020
David B. Moulton
/9 William S. Nichols, 111 Director March 9, 2020
William S. Nichols, I11
/sl Thomas A. Reiser Director March 9, 2020
Thomas A. Reiser
/sl Raimundo RiojasE. Director March 9, 2020
Raimundo Riojas E.
/s/ Fred S. Robertson Director March 9, 2020
Fred S. Robertson
/s/ LouisA. Waters Jr. Director March 9, 2020
LouisA. Waters Jr.
/s Roland L. Williams Director March 9, 2020

Roland L. Williams
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Allegiance Bancshares, Inc.
Houston, Texas

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. (the "Company") as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changesin shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three yearsin the period
ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to asthe "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly,
in al material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basisfor Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility isto express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our auditsincluded performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on atest basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosuresin the financial statements. Our audits
also included eval uating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s CroweLLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2014.

Dallas, Texas
March 9, 2020

71



ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2019 2018
(Dollarsin thousands, except shar e data)

ASSETS
Cash and due from banks $ 213347 $ 118,771
Interest-bearing deposits at other financial institutions 132,901 150,176
Total cash and cash equivalents 346,248 268,947
Availablefor sale securities, at fair value 372,545 337,293
Loans held for investment 3,915,310 3,708,306
Less: allowance for |oan |osses (29,438) (26,331)
L oans, net 3,885,872 3,681,975
Accrued interest receivable 15,468 17,010
Premises and equipment, net 66,790 41,717
Other real estate owned 8,337 630
Federal Home Loan Bank stock 6,242 10,941
Bank owned life insurance 27,104 26,480
Goodwill 223,642 223,125
Core deposit intangibles, net 21,876 26,587
Other assets 18,530 20,544
TOTAL ASSETS $ 4992654 $ 4,655,249
LIABILITIESAND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
LIABILITIES:
Deposits:
Noninterest-bearing $ 1252232 $ 1,209,300
Interest-bearing
Demand 367,278 366,905
Money market and savings 1,258,008 879,840
Certificates and other time 1,190,583 1,206,491
Total interest-bearing deposits 2,815,869 2,453,236
Total deposits 4,068,101 3,662,536
Accrued interest payable 4,326 2,812
Borrowed funds 75,503 225,493
Subordinated debt 107,799 48,899
Other liabilities 27,060 12,525
Total liabilities 4,282,789 3,952,265

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (See Note 16)
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $1 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; no
sharesissued or outstanding — —
Common stock, $1 par value; 80,000,000 shares authorized; 20,523,816 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 21,937,740 shares issued

and outstanding at December 31, 2018 20,524 21,938
Capital surplus 521,066 571,803
Retained earnings 163,375 112,131
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 4,900 (2,888)

Total shareholders' equity 709,865 702,984
TOTAL LIABILITIESAND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY $ 4992654 $ 4,655,249

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands, except per share data)

INTEREST INCOME:

Loans, including fees $ 221363 % 148223 % 110,331
Securities:
Taxable 6,975 2,725 2111
Tax-exempt 2,934 5,802 6,334
Depositsin other financial institutions 1,635 1,473 662
Total interest income 232,907 158,223 119,438
INTEREST EXPENSE:
Demand, money market and savings deposits 18,307 6,478 3,159
Certificates and other time deposits 26,656 15,478 9,060
Borrowed funds 4,675 4,788 2,922
Subordinated debt 3,732 2,900 629
Total interest expense 53,370 29,644 15,770
NET INTEREST INCOME 179,537 128,579 103,668
Provision for |oan losses 5,939 4,248 13,188
Net interest income after provision for loan |osses 173,598 124,331 90,480
NONINTEREST INCOME:
Nonsufficient funds fees 658 755 685
Service charges on deposit accounts 1,472 869 783
Gain on sale of securities 1,459 — 18
Gain (loss) on sale of other real estate and
other repossessed assets 26 (428) 6
Bank owned life insurance income 624 579 585
Rebate from correspondent bank 3,580 2,609 1,327
Other 5,604 3,329 2,457
Total noninterest income 13,423 7,713 5,861
NONINTEREST EXPENSE:
Salaries and employee benefits 77,593 56,704 44,745
Net occupancy and equipment 8,179 5,845 5,452
Depreciation 3,192 2,132 1,637
Data processing and software amortization 7,464 5,120 4,047
Professional fees 2,333 2,009 2,926
Regulatory assessments and FDIC insurance 1,705 2,309 2,273
Core deposit intangibles amortization 4,711 1,815 781
Communications 1,839 1,185 983
Advertising 2,367 1,725 1,289
Acquisition and merger-related expenses 1,326 1,661 —
Other 9,926 6,282 5,829
Total noninterest expense 120,635 86,787 69,962
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 66,386 45,257 26,379
Provision for income taxes 13,427 7,948 8,747
NET INCOME $ 52,959 37,309 $ 17,632
EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Basic $ 2.50 241 $ 1.34
Diluted $ 247 237 % 131

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)
Net income $ 52959 $ 37309 $ 17,632
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities:
Changein unrealized holding gain (loss) on
available for sale securities during the period 11,308 (4,152) 5,213
Reclassification of gain realized through the sale
of securities (1,459) — (18)
Total other comprehensive income (10ss) 9,849 (4,152) 5,195
Deferred tax (expense) benefit related to other
comprehensiveincome (2,061) 928 (1,807)
Other comprehensive income (10ss), net of tax 7,788 (3,224) 3,388
Comprehensive income $ 60,747 $ 3408 $ 21,020

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF CHANGESIN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Accumulated

Other
Common Stock Capital Retained Comprehensive Total Shareholders’
Shares Amount Surplus Earnings Income (L 0ss) Equity
(Dollarsin thousands, except share data)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 12,958,341 $ 12,958 $ 212,649 $ 57,262 $ (3,052) $ 279,817
Net income 17,632 17,632
Other comprehensive income 3,388 3,388
Common stock issued in connection

with the exercise of stock options,
restricted stock awards and the ESPP 268,485 269 3,979 4,248
Stock based compensation expense 1,780 1,780

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2017 13,226,826 $ 13,227 $ 218,408 $ 74,894 $ 336 $ 306,865
Net income 37,309 37,309
Other comprehensive loss (3,224) (3,224)

Reclassification of amounts within

AOCI to retained earnings due to

tax reform (72) (72)
Common stock issued in connection

with the exercise of stock options,

restricted stock awards and the ESPP 378,293 378 3,372 3,750
Common stock issued in connection

with the acquisition of Post Oak

Bancshares, Inc., net of

registration expenses 8,402,010 8,402 350,381 358,783
Repurchase of common stock (69,389) (69) (2,043) (2,112)
Stock based compensation expense 1,685 1,685

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 21,937,740 $ 21,938 $ 571,803 $ 112,131 $ (2,888) $ 702,984

Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle related to

ASU 2017-08 (1,715) (1,715)
Total shareholders' equity at 21,937,740 21,938 571,803 110,416 (2,888) 701,269

beginning of period, as

adjusted (See Note 1)
Net income 52,959 52,959
Other comprehensive income 7,788 7,788
Common stock issued in

connection with the exercise

of stock options and restricted

stock awards and the ESPP 272,353 272 3,140 3,412
Repurchase of common stock (1,686,277) (1,686) (56,977) (58,663)
Stock based compensation expense 3,100 3,100

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 20,523,816 $ 20,524 $ 521,066 $ 163,375 $ 4,900 $ 709,865

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income $ 52959 $ 37,309 $ 17,632
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and core deposit intangibles amortization 7,903 3,947 2,418
Provision for loan losses 5,939 4,248 13,188
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (87) (256) 427
Net amortization of premium on investments 4,051 3,533 3,427
Excess tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options (11) (587) (1,149)
Bank owned life insurance income (624) (579) (585)
Net accretion of discount on loans (8,853) (2,702) (632)
Net accretion of discount on subordinated debt 111 110 108
Net accretion of discount on certificates of deposit (772) (367) 3)
(Gain) loss on sale of other real estate and other repossessed assets (26) 428 (6)
Net gain on sale of securities (1,459) — (18)
Federal Home Loan Bank stock dividends (403) (396) (273)
Stock based compensation expense 3,100 1,685 1,780
Net change in operating leases 2,097 — —
Increase in accrued interest receivable and other assets (111) (2,136) (6,018)
Increase in accrued interest payable and other liabilities 3,053 1,822 3,136
Net cash provided by operating activities 66,867 46,059 33,432
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from maturities and principal paydowns of available for sale securities 3,462,495 2,328,864 2,007,842
Proceeds from sales of available for sale securities 173,024 12,701 39,125
Purchase of available for sale securities (3,663,770) (2,334,149) (2,038,323)
Net changein total loans (165,984) (270,314) (386,059)
Purchase of bank premises and equipment (13,385) (3,419) (2,133)
Proceeds from sale of bank premises, equipment and other real estate 1,871 — 1,138
Net redemptions of Federal Home Loan Bank stock 5,102 4,746 586
Net cash paid for the LoweryBank branch acquisition (32,867) — —
Net cash and cash equivalents acquired in the purchase of Post Oak
Bancshares, Inc. — 230,416 —
Net cash used in investing activities (233,514) (31,155) (377,824)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net increase in noninterest-bearing deposits 29,052 93,053 89,359
Net increase in interest-bearing deposits 361,536 64,566 254,435
Net change in other borrowed funds (149,990) (87,076) (3,000)
Proceeds from the credit agreement 34,000 — —
Paydowns on the credit agreement (34,000) — —
Proceeds from subordinated notes issuance, net of offering expenses 58,601 — 39,355
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, stock option exercises
and the ESPP 3,412 3,750 4,248
Cash paid for fractional shares related to the Post Oak acquisition — (21) —
Registration expenses related to common stock issued in the Post Oak acquisition — (220) —
Repurchase of common stock (58,663) (2,112) —
Net cash provided by financing activities 243,948 71,940 384,397
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 77,301 86,844 40,005
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 268,947 182,103 142,098
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $ 346,248 3 268,947 3% 182,103
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Income taxes paid $ 15400 $ 6,650 $ 7,850
Interest paid 51,856 27,442 15,442
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities 3,543 — —
SUPPLEMENTAL NONCASH DISCLOSURE:
L ease right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for lessee operating lease liabilities $ 13277  $ — 3 —
Loans transferred to other real estate 7,707 265 —

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING POLICIES

Nature of Operationsand Principles of Consolidation-The consolidated financial statementsinclude Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. (“Allegiance”) and
itswholly-owned subsidiary, Allegiance Bank (the “Bank”, and together with Allegiance, collectively referred to as the “ Company”) provide commercial
and retail loans and commercial banking services. |ntercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation under U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“ GAAP’). The Company derives substantially all of its revenues and income from the operation of the Bank. Allegiance Bank isa
Texas banking association which began operations in October 2007. The Company is focused on delivering awide variety of relationship-driven commercial
banking products and community-oriented services tailored to meet the needs of small to mid-sized businesses, professionals and individuals through its 27
offices, with 26 bank offices and one loan production office in the Houston metropolitan area and one office in Beaumont, just outside of the Houston
metropolitan area, as of the year ended December 31, 2019. The Bank providesits customers with a variety of banking servicesincluding checking
accounts, savings accounts and certificates of deposit and its primary lending products are commercial, personal, automobile, mortgage and home
improvement loans. The Bank also offers safe deposit boxes, automated teller machines, drive-through services and 24-hour depository facilities.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions based
on available information. These estimates and assumptions affect the reporting of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Acquisitions— On October 1, 2018, Allegiance completed the acquisition of Post Oak Bancshares, Inc. On February 1, 2019, Allegiance completed
the acquisition of the LoweryBank branch, the Sugar Land location of Huntington State Bank. See Note 2 — Acquisitions for additional information
pertaining to the Post Oak and L oweryBank acquisitions and the impact of the Post Oak transaction on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents—Cash and cash equivalentsinclude cash, deposits with other financial institutions with maturities not greater than one
year. Net cash flows are reported for customer loan and deposit transactions.

Securities—Debt securities are classified as available for sale when they might be sold before maturity. Securities available for sale are carried at fair
value. Unrealized gains and losses are excluded from earnings and reported, net of tax, as a separate component of shareholders’ equity until realized.
Securities within the available for sale portfolio may be used as part of the Company’s asset/liability strategy and may be sold in response to changesin
interest rate risk, prepayment risk or other similar economic factors.

Interest earned on these assets isincluded in interest income. Interest income includes amortization of purchase premium or discount. Premiums and
discounts on securities are amortized on the level-yield method, except for mortgage backed securities where prepayments are anticipated. Gains and |osses
on sales are recorded on the trade date and determined using the specific identification method.

Management eval uates debt securities for other-than-temporary impairment (“OTTI"”) on at least a quarterly basis, and more frequently when
economic or market conditions warrant such an evaluation. For securitiesin an unrealized |oss position, management considers the extent and duration of
the unrealized loss, and the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer. Management al so assesses whether it intends to sell, or it ismore
likely than not that it will be required to sell, a security in an unrealized loss position before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either of the criteria
regarding intent or requirement to sell is met, the entire difference between amortized cost and fair value is recognized asimpairment through earnings. For
debt securities that do not meet the af orementioned criteria, the amount of impairment is split into two components asfollows: (1) OTTI related to credit
loss, which must be recognized in the income statement and (2) OTTI related to other factors, which is recognized in other comprehensive income, net of
applicabletaxes. The credit lossis defined as the difference between the present val ue of the cash flows expected to be collected and the amortized cost
basis. The previous amortized cost bases less the OTTI recognized in earnings shall become the new amortized cost basis of the security.

LoansHeld for Investment—L oans held for investment are those that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or
until maturity or payoff are reported at the principal balance outstanding, net of deferred loan fees and costs, and an allowance for loan losses. Loans are
typically secured by specific items of collateral including business assets, consumer assets and commercial and residential real estate. Commercial loans are
expected to be repaid from cash flow from operations of businesses. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance.

Acquired Loans—A cquired loans are recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition with no initial valuation allowance based on a discounted cash
flow methodology that considers various factors including the type of loan and related collateral, classification status, fixed or variable interest rate, term of
loan and whether or not the loan was amortizing, and a discount rate reflecting the Company’s assessment of risk inherent in the cash flow estimates.
Certain larger purchased loans are individually evaluated while
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certain purchased |oans are grouped together according to similar risk characteristics and are treated in the aggregate when applying various valuation
techniques. These cash flow evaluations are inherently subjective asthey require material estimates, all of which may be susceptible to significant change.

L oans acquired in a business combination that have evidence of deterioration of credit quality since origination and for which it is probable, at
acquisition, that the Company will be unable to collect all contractually required payments receivable are considered purchased credit impaired (“PCI"). PCI
loans are individually evaluated and recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition with no initial valuation allowance based on a discounted cash flow
methodology that considers various factors including the type of loan and related collateral, classification status, fixed or variable interest rate, term of loan
and whether or not the loan was amortizing, and a discount rate reflecting the Company’s assessment of risk inherent in the cash flow estimates. Increases
in expected cash flows, including prepayments, subsequent to the initial investment are recognized prospectively through adjustment of the yield on the
loan over itsremaining life. Decreasesin expected cash flows are recognized as impairment. V aluation allowances on PCI loans reflect only losses incurred
after the acquisition (meaning the present value of all cash flows expected at acquisition that ultimately are not to be received).

For acquired loans not deemed credit-impaired at acquisition, the differences between theinitial fair value and the unpaid principal balance are
recognized asinterest income on alevel-yield basis over the lives of the related |oans. Subsequent to the acquisition date, methods utilized to estimate the
required allowance for loan losses for these loans is similar to originated loans, however, aprovision for credit losseswill be recorded only to the extent the
required allowance exceeds any remaining purchase discounts. Once an acquired |oan undergoes new underwriting and meets the criteriafor a new loan,
such asin the case of aloan renewal, any remaining fair value adjustments are accreted into interest income and the loan establishes a new amortized cost
basisthat isfully subject to the Company's allowance for loan |oss methodol ogy.

Nonrefundable Feesand Costs Associated with Lending Activities— Loan commitment and |oan origination fees, and certain direct origination
costs, are deferred and recognized in interest income as an adjustment to yield without anticipating prepayments using the interest method over the related
loan life or; if the commitment expires unexercised, balances are recognized in income upon expiration of the commitment.

Nonperforming and Past Due L oans—The Company has several proceduresin placeto assist it in maintaining the overall quality of itsloan
portfolio. The Company has established underwriting guidelines to be followed by its officers, and monitorsits delinquency levels for any negative or
adverse trends. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company’s loan portfolio will not become subject to increasing pressures from deteriorating
borrower credit due to general economic conditions or other factors.

Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the loan. Loans are considered past dueif the required principal and interest payments have not
been received as of the date such payments were due. The Company generally classifies aloan as nonperforming, automatically placesthe loan on
nonaccrual status, ceases accruing interest and reverses all unpaid accrued interest against interest income, when, in management’s opinion, the borrower
may be unable to meet payment obligations, when the payment of principal or interest on aloan is delinquent for 90 days, as well as when required by
regulatory provisions, unlessthe loan isin the process of collection and the underlying collateral fully supportsthe carrying value of the loan. Any
payments received on nonaccrual loans are applied first to outstanding loan amounts. Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash
payments are received in excess of principal due. Any excessistreated as recovery of lost interest. Loans are returned to accrual statuswhen all of the
principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.

Inall cases, loans are placed on nonaccrual or charged-off at an earlier dateif collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful. If the decision
is made to continue accruing interest on the loan, periodic reviews are made to confirm the accruing status of the loan. Nonaccrual loans and loans past due
90 daysinclude both smaller balance homogeneous loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment and individually classified impaired loans. When
available information confirms that specific loans, or portions thereof, are uncollectible, these amounts are charged-off against the allowance. All loan types
are considered delinquent after 30 days past due and are typically charged-off or charged-down no later than 120 days past due, with consideration of, but
not limited to, the following criteriain determining the need and timing of the charge-off or charge-down: (1) the Bank isin the process of repossession or
foreclosure and there appears to be alikely deficiency; (2) the collateral securing the loan has been sold and thereis an actual deficiency; (3) the Bank is
proceeding with lengthy legal action to collect its balance; (4) the borrower is unable to be located; or (5) the borrower hasfiled bankruptcy. Charge-offs
occur when the Company confirms aloss on aloan.

Troubled debt restructurings (T DRs)—L oans on which terms have been modified resulting in a concession have been granted because of a
borrower’sfinancial difficulty are considered troubled debt restructurings and classified asimpaired. The restructuring of aloan is considered atroubled
debt restructuring if both (1) the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties and (2) the creditor has granted a concession that it would not otherwise
consider. Concessions may include reductions of interest rates to a below market interest rate; extension of the terms of the debt, principal forgiveness,
restructuring the payment of the debt obligation; and other actions intended to minimize potential losses. Subsequent to identification as a troubled debt
restructuring such loans are then evaluated for impairment on an individual basis whereby the loans are measured at the present value of estimated future
cash flows
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using the loan’s effective rate at inception. If atroubled debt restructuring is considered to be a collateral dependent loan; the loan is reported, net, at the
fair value of the collateral.

Impaired L oans—On a continuous basis, loans are evaluated for impairment classification. Loans are considered impaired when based on current
information and events, it is probable the Company will be unable to collect all anounts due in accordance with the original contractual terms of the loan
agreement including scheduled principal and interest payments. Impairment is evaluated in total for smaller-balance |oans of a similar nature and on an
individual loan basis for other loans. If aloan isimpaired, a specific valuation allowance is allocated, if necessary, so that the loan is reported net, at the
present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s existing rate or at the fair value of collateral if repayment is expected solely from the collateral.
Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value and the probability of collecting scheduled principal
and interest payments when due. L oans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified asimpaired.
Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on case-by-case basis taking into consideration all of the
circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower’s prior payment record and
the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed.

Allowancefor Loan Losses—The allowance for loan lossesis a val uation allowance that is established through chargesto earningsin the form of a
provision for loan losses. The amount of the allowance for loan lossesis affected by the following: (1) charge-offs of loans that decrease the allowance, (2)
subsequent recoveries on loans previously charged off that increase the allowance and (3) provisionsfor |oan losses charged to income that increase the
allowance.

Throughout the year, management estimates the probable incurred losses in the loan portfolio to determineif the allowance for loan lossesis
adequate to absorb such losses. The allowance for 1oan losses consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans that
areindividually classified asimpaired. The Company follows aloan review program to evaluate the credit risk in the |oan portfolio. Loans that have been
identified asimpaired are generally reviewed on aquarterly basisin order to determine whether a specific reserveisrequired. The general component covers
non-impaired loans and is based on industry and Company specific historical |oan |oss experience, volume, growth and composition of the loan portfolio,
the evaluation of the Company’sloan portfolio through itsinternal loan review process, general current economic conditions both internal and external to
the Company that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay, value of collateral and other qualitative relevant risk factors. Based on areview of these
estimates, the allowance for loan losses is adjusted to alevel determined to be adequate. Estimates of |oan losses are inherently subjective asit involves an
exercise of judgment. It isthe judgment of management that the allowance for loan |osses reflected in the consolidated balance sheets is adequate to absorb
probable losses that exist in the |loan portfolio as of the reporting date.

For troubled debt restructurings that subsequently default, the Company determines the amount of reserve in accordance with the accounting policy
for the allowance for loan losses. The Company assesses the exposure for each modification, either by collateral discounting or by calculation of the
present value of future cash flows, and determinesif a specific allocation to the allowance for |oan losses is needed. Once an obligation has been
restructured because of such credit problems, it continues to be considered atroubled debt restructuring until paid in full. The Company returns troubled
debt restructuringsto accrual statusonly if (1) al contractual amounts due can reasonably be expected to be repaid within a prudent period and (2)
repayment has been in accordance with the contract for a sustained period, typically at |east twelve months.

Loans acquired in business combinations areinitially recorded at fair value, which includes an estimate of 10an |osses expected to be realized over
the remaining lives of the loans. Therefore no corresponding allowance for loan losses is recorded for these |oans at acquisition. Methods utilized to
estimate any subsequently required allowance for |oan losses for acquired loans not deemed credit-impaired at acquisition are similar to originated loans.
However, the estimate of lossis based on the unpaid principal balance and then compared to any remaining unaccreted purchase discount. To the extent
that the calculated loss is greater than the remaining unaccreted purchase discount, an allowance is recorded for such difference.

Premises and Equipment—Premises and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is calculated principally
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets which range from 3 to 40 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the
straight-line method over the periods of the leases or the estimated useful lives, whichever isshorter. Land is carried at cost.

L eases— On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-02, L eases (Topic 842) through the required
modified retrospective approach by applying the allowed transition method whereby comparative periods were not restated. The Company elected to apply
several of the available practical expedients provided by ASU 2016-12, including carryover of historical lease determination, carryover of historical initial
direct cost balances for existing leases and accounting for lease and non-lease components in contracts in which the Company isalease asasingle lease
component. Upon adoption of the new leasing standard on January 1, 2019, the Company recognized $15.3 million of right-of-use assets, and $15.7 million
of related lease liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The Company leases certain office facilities under operating leases. We also own certain office facilities which we lease to outside parties under
operating lessor leases; however, such leases are not significant. Under the new standards, for operating |eases other than those considered to be short-
term, we recogni ze lease right-of-use assets and related lease liabilities. Such amounts are reported as components of premises and equipment and other
liabilities, respectively, on our consolidated balance sheet.

Other Real Estate Owned—Assets acquired through or instead of loan foreclosure are held for sale and areinitially recorded at fair value less
estimated selling costs when acquired, establishing a new cost basis. Costs after acquisition are generally expensed. If the fair value of the asset declines, a
write-down is recorded through expense. The valuation of foreclosed assets is subjective in nature and may be adjusted in the future because of changesin
economic conditions. At December 31, 2019, the $8.3 million balance of other real estate owned primarily consisted of foreclosed commercial real estate
properties recorded as aresult of obtaining physical possession of the property.

Federal Home L oan Bank (“ FHLB") Stock—The Bank is amember of the FHLB system. Members are required to own a certain amount of stock
based on the level of borrowings and other factors and may invest in additional amounts. FHLB stock is carried at cost, classified as arestricted security
and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value. Both cash and stock dividends are reported asincome.

Bank Owned Life I nsurance—The Company purchased bank owned life insurance policies on certain key executives and acquired life insurance
policiesin conjunction with the acquisitions of F& M Bancshares and Post Oak. Bank owned lifeinsuranceis recorded at the amount that can be realized
under the insurance contract at the balance sheet date, which is the cash surrender value, and the most reasonabl e estimate of fair value, adjusted for other
charges or other amounts due that are probable at settlement.

Goodwill—Goodwill resulting from business combinationsis generally determined as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred,
plusthefair value of any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree, over the fair value of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition
date.

Goodwill is determined to have an indefinite useful life and is not amortized, but istested for impairment at |east annually or more frequently if events
and circumstances exists that indicate that a goodwill impairment test should be performed. The Company performsits annual impairment test on October 1.
Goodwill isthe only intangible asset with an indefinite life on the Company’s bal ance sheet.

Core Deposit I ntangibles—Core deposit and acquired customer relationship intangibles arising from acquisitions are amortized using a straight-line
amortization method over their estimated useful lives, which is seven to ten years.

Borrowed Funds—The Company has a credit agreement with another financial institution. The Company pledged its sharesin the Bank's stock as
collateral for the borrowing.

Loan Commitmentsand Related Financial I nstruments—Financial instrumentsinclude off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments
to extend credit, issued to meet customer financing needs. The face amount for these items represents the exposure to | oss before considering customer
collateral or ability to repay. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Stock Based Compensation—Compensation cost is recognized for stock options, restricted stock awards and performance share units (“PSUS”)
issued to employees, based on the fair value of these awards at the date of grant. The expense associated with stock based compensation is recognized
over the required service period, generally defined as the vesting period of each individual arrangement.

Thefair value of stock options granted and employee stock purchase plan awards are estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model.

Thefair value of restricted stock awards and PSUs is generally the market price of our stock on the date of grant. The impact of forfeitures of share-
based payment awards on compensation expense is recognized as forfeitures occur. PSUs are contingent upon performance and service conditions, which
affect the number of shares ultimately issued. The Company periodically evaluates the probable outcome of the performance conditions and makes
cumulative adjustments to compensation expense as appropriate.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan—The cost of sharesissued in the ESPP, but not allocated to participants, is shown as areduction of shareholder’s
equity. Compensation expense is based on the market price of the shares as they are committed to be released to participant accounts.

Income Taxes—Income tax expense isthe total of the current year income tax due and the change in deferred tax assets or liabilities. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated tax consegquences attributabl e to differences between the
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financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and are recorded in other assets on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets.

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of atwo-step process whereby (1) the Company determines whether it is more likely than
not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more likely than
not recognition threshold, the Company recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate
settlement with the related tax authority. For tax positions not meeting the more likely than not test, no tax benefit is recorded. Any interest and/or penalties
related to income taxes are reported as a component of income tax expense.

The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return.

Compr ehensive income—Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income which includes unrealized gains and
|osses on securities available for sale which are aso recognized as separate components of equity.

Fair Value of Financial I nstruments—Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and other assumptions,
asmore fully disclosed in a separate note. Fair val ue estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk,
prepayments and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for particular items. Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could
significantly affect these estimates.

Oper ating Segments—While management monitors the revenue streams of the various products and services, operations are managed and financial
performanceis evaluated on a Company-wide basis. All of thefinancial service operations are considered by management to be aggregated in one
reportabl e operating segment.

Reclassifications—Some itemsin the prior year financial statements were reclassified to conform to the current presentation. Reclassifications had
no effect on prior year net income or shareholders’ equity.

Earnings per Common Share—Basic earnings per common share is calculated as net income divided by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common share includes the dilutive effect of additional potential common shares issuable under
stock options, restricted stock awards and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

L oss Contingencies—L oss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded asliabilities
when the likelihood of lossis probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe there are such matters
that will have amaterial effect on the financial statements.

Dividend Restrictions—Banking regulations require maintaining certain capital levels and may limit the dividends paid by the Bank to Allegiance or
by Allegianceto its shareholders. In addition, Allegiance's credit agreement with another financial institution also limitsits ability to pay dividends.

Revenue from Contractswith Customer s—The Company records revenue from contracts with customers in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification Topic 606, “ Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“Topic 606"). Under Topic 606, the Company must identify the contract with a
customer, identify the performance obligationsin the contract, determine the transaction price, alocate the transaction price to the performance obligations
in the contract, and recognize revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation. Significant revenue has not been recognized in the
current reporting period that results from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods.

The Company’s primary sources of revenue are derived from interest and dividends earned on loans, investment securities, and other financial
instruments that are not within the scope of Topic 606. The Company has evaluated the nature of its contracts with customers and determined that further
disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customersinto more granular categories beyond what is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Income
was not necessary. The Company generally fully satisfiesits performance obligations on its contracts with customers as services are rendered and the
transaction prices are typically fixed; charged either on a periodic basis or based on activity. Because performance obligations are satisfied as services are
rendered and the transaction prices are fixed, the Company has made no significant judgments in applying the revenue guidance prescribed in ASC 606 that
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with customers.

New Accounting Standards
Adoption of New Accounting Standards

ASU 2016-02, “ Leases (Topic 842)." ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize alease liability, which is alessee’ s obligation to make lease
payments arising from alease, measured on a discounted basis; and aright-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents
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the lessee’sright to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. ASU 2016-02 does not significantly change |ease accounting
requirements applicabl e to lessors; however, certain changes were made to align, where necessary, |lessor accounting with the |essee accounting model and
ASC Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” ASU 2016-02 became effective for the Company on January 1, 2019. The Company adopted the
standard through the required modified retrospective approach by applying the allowed transition method whereby comparative periods were not restated
and acumul ative effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings was recognized as of January 1, 2019. Topic 842 requires the recognition of
alease liability measured as the present value of unpaid |ease payments for operating | eases where the Company is the lessee, and a corresponding right-
of-use (ROU) asset for the right to use the leased properties. The Company elected not to reassess whether contracts are or contain leases, lease
classification or initial direct costs for existing leases, aset of practical expedientsfor transition provided by ASU 2016-12. Further, the Company elected the
practical expedient to use hindsight in determining the | ease term and assessing impairment. The election of the hindsight practical expedient resulted in
longer lease terms for alimited number of strategic locations based on relevant factors as of the adoption date. The Company implemented a lease
management system to assist in centralizing, maintaining and accounting for all leases to ensure the Company meets the ASU’ s reporting and disclosure
reguirements. Prior comparabl e periods are presented in accordance with previous guidance under Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 840, “Leases.”
Asof January 1, 2019, right-of-use assets and related lease liabilities totaled $15.3 million and $15.7 million, respectively. See Note 9 — L eases for further
information regarding the Company’s |eases on certain properties and equipment under operating leases.

ASU 2017-08, “ Receivables - Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs (Subtopic 310-20) - Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt
Securities.” ASU 2017-08 shortens the amortization period for certain callable debt securities held at a premium to require such premiums to be amortized to
the earliest call date unless applicable guidance related to certain pools of securitiesis applied to consider estimated prepayments. Under prior guidance,
entities were generally required to amortize premiums on individual, non-pooled callable debt securities as ayield adjustment over the contractual life of the
security. ASU 2017-08 does not change the accounting for callable debt securities held at a discount. ASU 2017-08 became effective for the Company on
January 1, 2019. Upon adoption, the Company recognized acumulative effect reduction in retained earnings totaling $1.7 million.

Newly I ssued But Not Yet Effective Accounting Standards

ASU 2016-13, “ Financial Instruments— Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.” Among other
things, ASU 2016-13 requires the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience,
current conditions and reasonabl e and supportable forecasts and requires enhanced disclosures related to the significant estimates and judgments used in
estimating credit losses, aswell as the credit quality and underwriting standards of an organization’s portfolio. Financial institutions and other
organizations will now use forward-looking information to better form their credit loss estimates. Many of the |oss estimation techniques historically applied
today will still be permitted, although the inputs to those techniques will change to reflect the full amount of expected credit losses. ASU 2016-13 requires a
new credit loss methodology, the current expected credit loss (“ CECL") model, which requires the recognition of an allowance for lifetime expected credit
losses on loans. In addition, ASU 2016-13 amends the accounting for credit losses on available for sale debt securities and purchased financial assets with
credit deterioration. The Company expects the adoption of CECL will result in an increase of its combined allowance for loan losses and reserve for
unfunded commitments of 25% to 50%. Theincrease is primarily attributable to applying the CECL model to the Company's acquired loans, which, under
prior guidance, were recorded at fair value without an allowance at acquisition date, and the requirement to record an allowance on unfunded
commitments. In addition, theincreaseisthe result of changing from an incurred loss model, which encompasses allowances for current known and
incurred losses within the portfolio, to an expected loss model, which encompasses allowances for |osses expected to be incurred over thelife of the
portfolio. The Company will adopt ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 2020 using the modified retrospective approach with a cumulative-effect adjustment to
retained earnings. The Company is currently finalizing the execution of itsimplementation controls and processes; therefore, the ultimate impact of the
adoption of ASU 2016-13 could differ from our current expectation. The adoption of ASU 2016-13 is not expected to have a significant impact on the
Company’s regulatory capital ratios.

ASU No. 2017-04, “ Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment.” ASU 2017-04 eliminates Step 2
from the goodwill impairment test which required entities to compute the implied fair value of goodwill. Under ASU 2017-04, an entity should perform its
annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of areporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity should recognize an
impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed the
total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. ASU 2017-04 became effective for the Company on January 1, 2020 and is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Company's financial statements.

2. ACQUISITIONS

Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of an acquired entity are recorded
at their fair value at the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assetsis recorded as goodwill. The results
of operations for an acquisition have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial results beginning on the respective acquisition date.

82



ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The measurement period for the Company to determine the fair values of acquired identifiable assets and assumed liabilities will end at the earlier of
(2) twelve months from the date of the acquisition or (2) as soon as the Company receives the information it was seeking about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date or |earns that more information is not obtainable. The following acquisitions were completed on the dates indicated below:

2019 Acquisition

Acquisition of LoweryBank Branch—On February 1, 2019, the Bank completed the acquisition of the LoweryBank branch, the Sugar Land location
of Huntington State Bank. The Bank paid $32.9 million in cash to acquire certain assets which included approximately $45.0 million in loans and assumed
approximately $16.0 million in customer deposits. The Bank consolidated its existing Sugar Land bank office into this new bank office location, which was
less than one mile away. The acquisition of LoweryBank was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC Topic 805,
Business Combinations. The Company recognized goodwill of $578 thousand which is calculated as the excess of both the consideration exchanged and
liabilities assumed as compared to the fair value of identifiable assets acquired, which was deductible for tax purposes. Income and expense generated from
acquired assets and liabilities assumed would not have amaterial impact, therefore, proforma numbers are not presented.

2018 Acquisition

Acquisition of Post Oak Bancshares, Inc.—On October 1, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of Post Oak Bancshares, Inc. (“Post Oak”)
and its wholly-owned subsidiary Post Oak Bank, N.A. headquartered in Houston, Texas. Post Oak operated thirteen bank offices, twelve located
throughout the greater Houston metropolitan area and one in Beaumont, just outside of the Houston metropolitan area. The Company acquired Post Oak to
further expand its Houston, Texas area market. Goodwill resulted from a combination of expected operational synergies and an enhanced branching network
and was not deductible for tax purposes.

Pursuant to the merger agreement, the Company issued 8,402,010 shares of Company common stock for all outstanding shares of Post Oak common
stock and paid $21 thousand in cash for any fractional shares held by Post Oak shareholders. Additionally, all outstanding Post Oak options were assumed
by Allegiance and converted using the 0.7017 exchange ratio to 299,352 options at a weighted average exercise price of $12.83 per option. Based on the
$41.70 per share closing price of Allegiance common stock on September 28, 2018, the total transaction value was approximately $359.0 million. The
acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations. The Company
recognized goodwill of $183.7 million which is calculated as the excess of both the consideration exchanged and liabilities assumed as compared to the fair
value of identifiable assets acquired, none of which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The intangible assets recognized in the transaction will be
amortized utilizing an accelerated method over their ten year estimated useful lives.
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As of September 30, 2019, the Company finalized its valuation of all assets and liabilities acquired. A summary of the final purchase price allocationis
asfollows (dollarsin thousands):

Fair value of consideration paid:

Common shares issued (8,402,010 shares) $ 350,364
Stock optionsissued (299,352) 8,639
Cashinlieu of fractional shares 21
Total consideration paid $ 359,024
Fair value of assets acquired:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 230,416
Investment securities 42,779
Loans 1,164,281
Premises and equipment 21,988
Core deposit intangibles 25,128
Other assets 18,076
Total assets acquired $ 1,502,668
Fair value of liabilities assumed:
Deposits $ 1,291,310
Other borrowed funds 30,000
Other ligbilities 6,070
Total liabilities assumed 1,327,380
Fair value of net assets acquired $ 175,288
Goodwill resulting from acquisition $ 183,736

Thefair value of net assets acquired includes fair val ue adjustments to certain acquired loans that were not considered impaired as of the acquisition
date. Thefair value adjustments were determined using discounted contractual cash flows. The following presents details of all loans acquired as of
October 1, 2018:

Contractual
Balance Fair Value Discount
(Dollarsin thousands)
Commercial and industrial $ 221,098 $ 217204  $ (3,8%4)
Real estate:
Commercia real estate (including
multi-family residential) 450,947 443512 (7,435)
Commercial real estate
construction and land
devel opment 167,386 165,387 (1,999)
1-4 family residential (including
home equity) 288,304 285,099 (3,205)
Residential construction 23,812 23,812 —
Consumer and other 29,684 29,267 (417)
Total loans $ 1,181,231 % 1164281 $ (16,950)

In connection with the Post Oak acquisition, the Company acquired loans both with and without evidence of credit quality deterioration since
origination. The acquired loanswere initially recorded at fair value with no carryover of any allowance for loan losses. Acquired loans were segregated
between those considered to be purchased credit impaired (“PCI”) loans and those without credit impairment at acquisition.
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PCI Loans.

The following presentsinformation at the acquisition date for PCI loans acquired in the transaction (dollars in thousands):

Contractually required principal and interest payments $ 28,340
Contractual cash flows not expected to be collected (nonaccretabl e difference) (3,163)
Expected cash flows at acquisition 25177
Interest component of expected cash flows (accretable yield) (495)
Fair value of loans acquired with deterioration of credit quality $ 25,672

Non-PCI Loans.

The following table presentsinformation at the acquisition date for non-PCI |oans acquired in the transaction (dollars in thousands):

Contractually required principal and interest payments $ 1,152,892
Accretable discount (13,293)
Fair value at acquisition $ 1,166,185

The following table presents unaudited pro formafinancial information asif the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of 2017. Post Oak’s results
of operations were included in the Company’s results beginning October 1, 2018. The pro formafinancial information is not necessarily indicative of the
results of operations that would have occurred had the transaction been effected on the assumed dates.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands, except per share data)
Net interest income $ 170,801 $ 165,612
Noninterest income 10,060 9,543
Net income 41,807 35,107
Basic earnings per common share 2.70 1.63
Diluted earnings per common share 2.65 1.61

To determine pro formainformation, the Company adjusted its year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 historical results to include the historical
results for Post Oak for the year ended December 31, 2017 and the year ended December 31, 2018.

The pro formainformation includes acquisition accounting adjustments to interest on loans, certificates of deposit and subordinated debt, difference
in the rate of borrowed funds, amortization of intangibles arising from the transaction and the related income tax effects.

Earnings of Post Oak since the acquisition date have not been disclosed as the acquired company was merged into the Company and separate
financial information is not readily available.

The Company incurred approximately $1.3 million and $1.7 million of pre-tax acquisition and merger-rel ated expenses during the years ended

December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to the Post Oak acquisition. The acquisition and merger-related expenses are reflected on the Company’s
income statement for 2019 and 2018 but are excluded from the calculation of pro formaincome above.
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3. GOODWILL AND CORE DEPOSIT INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill and core deposit intangibles were as follows:

Core Deposit

Goodwill Intangibles
(Dollarsin thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 39,389 $ 4,055
Amortization — (781)
Balance as of December 31, 2017 39,389 3,274
Acquisition of Post Oak Bancshares, Inc. 183,736 25,128
Amortization — (1,815)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 223,125 26,587
Acquisition of LoweryBank branch 578 —
M easurement period adjustment (61) —
Amortization — (4,711)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 223642 $ 21,876

Goodwill isrecorded on the acquisition date of an entity. During the measurement period, the Company may record subsequent adjustments to
goodwill for provisional amounts recorded at the acquisition date. The Company performed its annual impairment test on October 1, 2019 and determined no
impai rment was necessary.

The estimated aggregate future amortization expense for core deposit intangibles remaining as of December 31, 2019 isasfollows (dollarsin
thousands):

2020 $ 3,922
2021 3,296
2022 3,003
2023 2,323
2024 2,188
Thereafter 7,144

Total $ 21,876

4. CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS

The Bank can be required by the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas to maintain average reserve balances. The Bank was not required to maintain
reserve balances at December 31, 2019. “Cash and due from banks” in the consolidated bal ance sheets included a reserve amount of $27.7 million at
December 31, 2018.

5. SECURITIES

The amortized cost and fair value of investment securities were as follows:

December 31, 2019

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains L osses Value

(Dollarsin thousands)
Availablefor Sale

U.S. government and agency securities $ 29420 $ 298 $ (243) $ 29,475
Municipal securities 84,200 3,453 (116) 87,537
Agency mortgage-backed pass-through securities 104,669 1,713 (214) 106,168
Agency collateralized mortgage obligations 106,351 1,199 (208) 107,342
Corporate bonds and other 41,691 346 (14) 42,023

Total $ 366,331 $ 7009 $ (795) $ 372,545
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Availablefor Sale
U.S. government and agency securities
Municipal securities
Agency mortgage-backed pass-through securities
Corporate bonds and other
Total

December 31, 2018

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains L osses Value
(Dollarsin thousands)
$ 8570 $ 61 $ (46) $ 8,685
219,068 1,258 (3,541) 216,785
66,987 237 (1,029) 66,195
46,303 15 (690) 45,628
$ 340928 $ 1671 $ (5,306) $ 337,293

Asof December 31, 2019, the Company's management did not expect to sell any securities classified as available for sale with material unrealized
losses; and the Company believesthat it is more likely than not it will not be required to sell any of these securities before their anticipated recovery at
which time the Company will receive full value for the securities. Thefair value is expected to recover as the securities approach their maturity date or
repricing date or if market yields for such investments decline. Management does not believe any of the securities areimpaired due to reasons of credit
quality. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2019, management believes the unrealized |ossesin the previous table are temporary and no other than temporary

impairment |oss has been realized in the Company’s consolidated statements of income.

The amortized cost and fair value of investment securities at December 31, 2019, by contractual maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities may
differ from contractual maturitiesif borrowers have the right to call or prepay obligations at any time with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Duein oneyear or less
Due after one year through five years
Due after five yearsthrough ten years
Due after ten years
Subtotal
Agency mortgage-backed pass through
and collateralized mortgage obligation
securities
Total

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
(Dollarsin thousands)
$ 20222 % 20,291
9,067 9,374
51,921 53,409
74,101 75,961
155,311 159,035
211,020 213,510
$ 366,331 $ 372,545

Securities with unrealized |osses segregated by length of time such securities have been in a continuous | oss position are as follows:

December 31, 2019

Lessthan 12 Months Morethan 12 Months Total
Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized
Fair Value L osses Fair Value L osses Fair Value L osses
(Dollarsin thousands)
Availablefor Sale
U.S. Government and agency
securities $ 22,295 (239) $ 436 $ 4) 3 2731 % (243)
Agency mortgage-backed
pass-through securities 20,792 (155) 4,369 (59) 25,161 (214)
Agency collateralized mortgage
obligations 22,340 (208) — — 22,340 (208)
Municipal securities 9,514 (116) — — 9,514 (116)
Corporate bonds and other 5,492 (14) — — 5,492 (14)
Total $ 80,433 (732) $ 4805 $ (63) $ 85238 $ (795)
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December 31, 2018

Lessthan 12 Months Morethan 12 Months Total
Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized
Fair Value L osses Fair Value L osses Fair Value L osses
(Dollarsin thousands)
Availablefor Sale
U.S. Government and agency
securities $ 999 $ — 3 1417 % (46) $ 2416 $ (46)
Municipal securities 10,140 (29) 136,934 (3,512) 147,074 (3,541)
Agency mortgage-backed
pass-through securities 17,168 (209) 22,819 (820) 39,987 (1,029)
Corporate bonds and other 13,634 (35) 29,014 (655) 42,648 (690)
Total $ 41941  $ (273) $ 190,184 $ (5,033) $ 232125 % (5,306)

During 2019, the Company received proceeds of $173.0 million related to the available for sale securities sold and recorded gross gains of $2.1 million
and gross losses of $596 thousand for anet gain of $1.5 million. During 2018, the Company acquired $42.8 million and sold $12.7 million of securities

acquired in the Post Oak transaction. No gains or |0sses were recognized.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company did not own securities of any one issuer, other than the U.S. government and its agencies, in an

amount greater than 10% of the consolidated shareholders’ equity at such respective dates.

The carrying value of pledged securities was $24.3 million and $28.9 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The mgjority of the

securities were pledged to collateralize public fund deposits.

6. LOANSAND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

Theloan portfolio balances, net of unearned income and fees, consist of various types of loans primarily all made to borrowers located within Texas

and are classified by major type as follows:

Commercia and industrial
M ortgage warehouse(®)
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family
residential)
Commercial real estate construction and land
development
1-4 family residential (including home equity)
Residential construction
Consumer and other
Total loans
Allowance for loan losses
Loans, net

December 31, December 31,
2019 2018
(Dollarsin thousands)
$ 689,360 $ 702,037

8,304 48,274

1,873,782 1,650,912

410,471 430,128

698,957 649,311

192,515 186,411

41,921 41,233

3,915,310 3,708,306
(29,438) (26,331)

$ 3,885,872 $ 3,681,975

(1) Mortgage warehouse loans are to unaffiliated mortgage loan originators collateralized by mortgage promissory notes which are segregated in the
Company’s mortgage warehouse portfolio. These promissory notes originated by the Company’s mortgage warehouse customers carry terms and
conditions as would be expected in the competitive permanent mortgage market and serve as collateral under atraditional mortgage warehouse
arrangement whereby such promissory notes are warehoused under arevolving credit facility to allow for the end investor (or purchaser) of the note
to receive acomplete loan package and remit funds to the bank. The maturity of each revolving line of credit facility is normally less than 24 months,
while the promissory notes that are warehoused under such facilities may have a much shorter length of time outstanding. For mortgage promissory
notes secured by residential property, the warehouse timeisnormally 10 to 20 days. For mortgage promissory notes secured by commercial property,
the warehouse timeis normally 40 to 50 days. The funded balance of the mortgage warehouse portfolio can have significant fluctuation based upon
market demand for the product, level of home sales and refinancing activity, market interest rates and velocity of end investor processing times.
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L oan Origination/Risk Management

The Company has certain lending policies and proceduresin place that are designed to maximize loan income within an acceptable level of risk. The
Company maintains an independent |oan review department that reviews and validates the credit risk program on a periodic basis. In addition, an
independent third party loan review is performed on a semi-annual basis.

(i) Commercial and Industrial L oans. The Company makes commercial and industrial loansin its market areathat are underwritten on the basis of
the borrower’ s ability to service the debt from income. The Company generally takes as collateral alien on any available real estate, equipment or other
assets owned by the borrower and typically obtains a personal guaranty of the borrower or principal.

(i) Commercial Real Estate. The Company makes loans collateralized by owner-occupied, nonowner-occupied and multi-family real estate to finance
the purchase or ownership of real estate.

The Company’s nonowner-occupied and multi-family commercial real estate lending typically involves higher loan principal amounts and the
repayment of these loansis dependent, in large part, on sufficient income from the properties securing the loans to cover operating expenses and debt
service. The Company generally requires the borrower to have had an existing relationship with the Company and have a proven record of success. In
addition, these loans are generally guaranteed by individual owners of the borrower and have typically lower loan to valueratios.

L oans secured by owner-occupied properties represented 53.8% of the outstanding principal balance of the Company’s commercial real estate loans
at December 31, 2019. The Company is dependent on the cash flows of the business occupying the property and its owners and requires these loans to be
secured by property with adequate margins and to be guaranteed by the individual owners. The Company’s owner-occupied commercial real estate loans
collateralized by first liens on real estate typically have fixed interest rates and amortize over a 10 to 20 year period.

(iii) Construction and Land Development L oans. The Company makes |oans to finance the construction of residential and to alesser extent
nonresidential properties. Construction loans generally are collateralized by first liens on real estate and have floating interest rates. The Company generally
conducts periodic inspections, either directly or through an agent, prior to approval of periodic draws on these loans. Underwriting guidelines similar to
those described above are also used in the Company’s construction lending activities. The Company may be required to fund additional amountsto
complete a project and may have to hold the property for an indeterminate period of time.

(iv) Residential Real Estate L oans. The Company’s lending activities also include the origination of 1-4 family residential mortgage loans (including
home equity loans) collateralized by owner-occupied residential properties |located in the Company’s market areas. The Company offers avariety of
mortgage |oan portfolio products which have aterm of 5 to 7 years and generally amortize over 10 to 20 years. Loans collateralized by 1-4 family residentia
real estate generally have been originated in amounts of no more than 90% of appraised value.

(v) Consumer and Other Loans. The Company makes avariety of loansto individuals for personal and household purposes including secured and
unsecured installment and term loans. Consumer |oans are underwritten based on the individual borrower’sincome, current debt level, past credit history
and the value of any available collateral. The terms of these |loans typically range from 12 to 60 months and vary based upon the nature of collateral and size
of loan.

Acquired Loans

PCI loans

The Company has loans that were acquired and for which there was, at acquisition, evidence of deterioration of credit quality since origination and
for which it was probable, at acquisition, that all contractually required payments would not be collected. The carrying amount of PCI loansincluded in the

consolidated balance sheet and the related outstanding balance owed at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are presented in the table below (dollarsin
thousands):

As of December 31, 2019  Asof December 31, 2018

Outstanding balance $ 16,589 $ 26,862
Less: Discount (2,414) (3,599)
Less: Allowance (259) —
Recorded investment $ 13916 $ 23,263
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Changesin the accretable yield for PCI loans for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were deemed immaterial.

Non-PCl Loans

The carrying amount of Non-PCI loans included in the consolidated balance sheet and the related outstanding balance owed are presented in the
table below (dollarsin thousands).

As of December 31, As of December 31,
2019 2018
Outstanding balance $ 672,927 $ 1,124,342
Less: Discount (3,069) (10,650)
Recorded investment $ 669,858 $ 1,113,692

Changes in the discount accretion for Non-PCl loans were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2019 2018
Balance at beginning of period $ 10,650 $ —
Additions 573 13,293
Accretion (8,154) (2,643)
Balance at end of period $ 3069 $ 10,650

Concentrations of Credit

The vast majority of the Company’s lending activity occursin and around the Houston, Texas area. The Company’sloans are primarily loans
secured by real estate, including commercial and residential construction, owner-occupied and nonowner-occupied and multi-family commercial rea estate,
raw land and other real estate based loans.

Related Party Loans
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, loans outstanding to directors, officers and their affiliates totaled $6.8 million and $7.9 million, respectively.

An analysis of activity with respect to these related-party loansis asfollows:

2019
(Dollarsin
thousands)
Beginning balance on January 1 $ 7,870
New loans and reclassified related loans 1,685
Repayments and reclassified related loans (2,773)
Ending balance on December 31 $ 6,782
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Nonaccrual and Past Due Loans

An aging analysis of the recorded investment in past due loans, segregated by class of loans, isincluded below. For purposes of thisand future
disclosures recorded investment has been defined as the outstanding loan balances including net deferred loan fees, and excluding accrued interest
receivable of $15.5 million and $17.0 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, due to immateriality.

December 31, 2019
L oans Past Due and Still Accruing

30-89 90 or More Total Past Nonaccrual Current Total
Days Days Due L oans L oans L oans L oans
(Dollarsin thousands)
Commercia and industrial $ 3098 $ — 3 308 $ 8388 $ 677,874 $ 689,360
M ortgage warehouse — — — — 8,304 8,304
Real estate:
Commercial rea estate (including
multi-family residential) 4,421 — 4,421 6,741 1,862,620 1,873,782
Commercial real estate construction
and land devel opment 66 — 66 9,050 401,355 410,471
1-4 family residential (including
home equity) 1,598 — 1,598 3,294 694,065 698,957
Residential construction 564 — 564 746 191,205 192,515
Consumer and other 254 — 254 152 41,515 41,921
Total loans $ 10,001 $ — 3 10001 $ 28371 $ 3876938 $ 3915310
December 31, 2018
L oans Past Due and Still Accruing
30-89 90 or More Total Past Nonaccrual Current Total
Days Days Due L oans L oans L oans L oans
(Dollarsin thousands)
Commercial and industrial $ 1951 3 — 3 1951 $ 10861 $ 689,225 $ 702,037
Mortgage warehouse — — — — 48,274 48,274
Real estate:
Commercia real estate (including
multi-family residential) 3,502 — 3,502 17,776 1,629,634 1,650,912
Commercial real estate construction
and land development 1,300 — 1,300 974 427,854 430,128
1-4 family residentia (including
home equity) 3,643 — 3,643 3,201 642,467 649,311
Residential construction — — — — 186,411 186,411
Consumer and other 91 — 91 141 41,001 41,233
Total loans $ 10487 $ — 3 10487 $ 32953 $ 366486 $ 3,708,306

If interest on nonaccrual loans had been accrued under the original 1oan terms, approximately $1.2 million and $1.0 million would have been recorded
asincome for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Impaired Loans

Impaired loans by class of loans are set forth in the following tables.

As of December 31, 2019

Unpaid
Recorded Principal Related
Investment Balance Allowance

(Dollarsin thousands)
With no related allowance recor ded:

Commercial and industrial $ 5721 $ 6,136 $ —
Mortgage warehouse — — —
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family
residential) 19,478 19,558 —
Commercial real estate construction and land
development — — —
1-4 family residential (including home equity) 2,000 2,000 —
Residential construction 208 208 —
Consumer and other 38 38 —
Total 27,445 27,940 —
With an allowance r ecor ded:
Commercia and industrial 7,812 7,286 3,480
M ortgage warehouse — — —
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family
residential) 5,335 5,335 459
Commercial real estate construction and land
development 12,142 12,142 2,085
1-4 family residential (including home equity) — — —
Residential construction 537 537 66
Consumer and other 26 26 26
PCI 2,039 2,959 659
Total 27,891 28,285 6,775
Total:
Commercia and industrial 13,533 13,422 3,480
Mortgage warehouse — — —
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family
residential) 24,813 24,893 459
Commercial real estate construction and land
development 12,142 12,142 2,085
1-4 family residential (including home equity) 2,000 2,000 —
Residential construction 745 745 66
Consumer and other 64 64 26
PCI 2,039 2,959 659
$ 55336 $ 56,225 $ 6,775
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With norelated allowance recor ded:
Commercia and industrial
M ortgage warehouse
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family
residential)
Commercial real estate construction and land
development
1-4 family residential (including home equity)
Residential construction
Consumer and other
Total
With an allowance recor ded:
Commercia and industrial
M ortgage warehouse
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family
residential)
Commercial real estate construction and land
development
1-4 family residential (including home equity)
Residential construction
Consumer and other
Total
Total:
Commercia and industrial
Mortgage warehouse
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family
residential)
Commercial real estate construction and land
development
1-4 family residential (including home equity)
Residential construction
Consumer and other

As of December 31, 2018

Unpaid
Recorded Principal Related
Investment Balance Allowance
(Dollarsin thousands)
$ 4354 3% 47711 $ —
11,322 11,322 —
1,326 1,326 —
2,742 2,741 —
3 8 —
19,747 20,163 —
9,150 9,545 3,898
11,542 11,542 2,641
3,114 3,114 190
23,806 24,201 6,729
13,504 14,316 3,898
22,864 22,864 2,641
4,440 4,440 190
2,742 2,741 _
3 3 —
$ 43553 $ 44364 $ 6,729
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The following table presents the average recorded investment of impaired |oans and interest recognized onimpaired |oans.

Y ears Ended December 31,

2019 2018
Average Interest Average Interest
Recorded Income Recorded Income
Investment Recognized Investment Recognized
(Dollarsin thousands)
Commercia and industrial $ 13376 $ 39 $ 14555 $ 423
Mortgage warehouse — — — —
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including multi-family
residential) 25,856 489 23,198 756
Commercial real estate construction and land
development 10,251 185 4,247 98
1-4 family residential (including home equity) 2,058 6 2,815 —
Residential construction 594 — — —
Consumer and other 75 1 3 5
PCI 3,133 8 — —
Total $ 55,343 % 1,088 $ 44818 $ 1,282

The average recorded investment of impaired loans for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $34.1 million. Interest income recognized for the year
ended December 31, 2017 was $922 thousand.

Credit Quality Indicators

The company categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers to service their debt including
factors such as: current financial information, historical payment experience, credit documentation, public information and current economic trends. The
Company analyzes loansindividually by classifying theloans by credit risk. As part of the ongoing monitoring of the credit quality of the Company’s loan
portfolio and methodol ogy for calculating the allowance for credit osses, management assigns and tracks risk ratings to be used as credit quality
indicators.

Thefollowing isageneral description of the risk ratings used:

Watch—L oans classified as watch loans may still be of high quality, but have an element of risk added to the credit such as declining payment
history, deteriorating financial position of the borrower or adecrease in collateral value.

Special Mention—L oans classified as special mention have a potential weakness that deserves management’s close attention. If left uncorrected,
these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan or of theinstitution’s credit position at some future date.
They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the institution will sustain somelossif the deficiencies are not corrected.

Substandar d—L oans classified as substandard have well-defined weaknesses on a continuing basis and are inadequately protected by the current
net worth and paying capacity of the borrower, impaired or declining collateral values, or a continuing downturn in their industry which is reducing their
profits to below zero and having a significantly negative impact on their cash flow. These loans so classified are characterized by the distinct possibility
that the institution will sustain some lossif the deficiencies are not corrected.

Doubtful—L oans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard with the added characteristic that the
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions and values, highly questionable and improbable.

L oans not meeting the criteriaabove that are analyzed individually as part of the above described process are considered to be pass rated loans.
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Based on the most recent analysis performed, the risk category of loans by class of loan at December 31, 2019 isasfollows:

Commercia and industrial
Mortgage warehouse
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including
multi-family residential)
Commercial real estate construction
and land development
1-4 family residentia (including
home equity)
Residential construction
Consumer and other
Total loans

The following table presents the risk category of loans by class of loan at December 31, 2018:

Commercia and industrial
Mortgage warehouse
Real estate:
Commercial real estate (including
multi-family residential)
Commercial real estate construction
and land devel opment
1-4 family residential (including
home equity)
Residential construction
Consumer and other
Total loans

Allowance for Loan Losses

Special
Pass Watch Mention Substandard Doubtful Total
(Dollarsin thousands)
$ 641,696 $ 14170 $ 9121 $ 24295 $ 78 689,360
8,304 — — — — 8,304
1,775,789 47,762 9,289 40,942 — 1,873,782
388,151 9,583 639 12,098 — 410,471
669,288 15,798 5,844 8,027 — 698,957
189,209 2,560 — 746 — 192,515
41,355 6 358 202 — 41,921
$ 3713792 $ 89,879 $ 25251 $ 86,310 $ 78 3,915,310
Special
Pass Watch Mention Substandard Doubtful Total
(Dollarsin thousands)

$ 656,783 $ 9696 $ 13874 $ 21684 $ — 702,037
48,274 — — — — 48,274
1,570,243 29,702 7,101 43,866 — 1,650,912
424,460 729 2,149 2,790 — 430,128
629,657 3,797 4,216 11,641 — 649,311
186,411 — — — — 186,411
40,673 31 301 228 — 41,233
$ 3556501 $ 43955 $ 27641 % 80,209 $ — 3,708,306

At December 31, 2019, the allowance for loan losses totaled $29.4 million, or 0.75% of total loans. At December 31, 2018, the allowance totaled $26.3
million or 0.71% of total loans. Acquired loans are carried over without an allowance for loan losses as they are recorded at fair value at the acquisition
date. However, the Company recorded a discount on the acquired loans which will be prospectively accreted, increasing its basisin such loans. At
December 31, 2019, the balance of the acquisition accounting discount was $5.5 million.
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Thefollowing table presents the activity in the allowance for loan losses by portfolio type for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Commercial Commercial
real estate real estate 1-4 family
(including construction residential
Commercial Mortgage multi-family and land (including Residential Consumer
and industrial war ehouse residential) development home equity) construction and other Total

(Dollarsin thousands)
Allowance for loan losses:

Balance December 31, 2018 $ 8,351 $ — $ 11,901 $ 2,724 $ 2,242 $ 1,040 $ 73 $ 26,331
Provision for loan losses 2,881 — (654) 1,741 1,905 17 49 5,939
Charge-offs (2,688) — (80) (44) (295) — (34) (3,141)
Recoveries 274 — 3 — — — 32 309
Net charge-offs (2,414) — (77) (44) (295) — (2) (2,832)
Balance December 31, 2019 $ 8,818 $ — $ 11,170 $ 4,421 $ 3,852 $ 1,057 $ 120 $ 29,438
Allowancefor loan losses:
Balance December 31, 2017 $ 7,694 $ — $ 10,253 $ 2,525 $ 2,140 $ 942 $ 95 $ 23,649
Provision for loan |osses 2,234 — 1,588 199 127 98 2 4,248
Charge-offs (2,424) — (42) — (25) — (24) (2,515)
Recoveries 847 — 102 — — — — 949
Net charge-offs (1,577) — 60 — (25) — (24) (1,566)
Balance December 31, 2018 $ 8,351 $ = $ 11,901 $ 2,724 $ 2,242 $ 1,040 $ 73 $ 26,331
Allowancefor loan losses:
Balance December 31, 2016 $ 5,059 $ — $ 8,950 $ 1,217 $ 1,876 $ 748 $ 61 $ 17,911
Provision for |oan |osses 9,792 — 1,424 1,298 254 194 226 13,188
Charge-offs (7,673) — (124) — — — (196) (7,993)
Recoveries 516 — 3 10 10 — 4 543
Net charge-offs (7,157) — (121) 10 10 — (192) (7,450)
Balance December 31, 2017 $ 7,694 $ — $ 10,253 $ 2,525 $ 2,140 $ 942 $ 95 $ 23,649

The following table presents the balance in the allowance for loan losses by portfolio type based on the impairment method as of December 31, 2019
and 2018:

Commercial Commercial
real estate real estate 1-4family
(including construction residential
Commercial Mortgage multi-family and land (including Residential Consumer
and industrial war ehouse residential) development home equity) construction and other Total

(Dollarsin thousands)
Allowance for loan losses
related to:
December 31, 2019
Individually evaluated for

impairment $ 4,139 $ — $ 459 $ 2,085 $ — $ 66 $ 26 $ 6,775
Collectively evaluated for
impairment 4,679 — 10,711 2,336 3,852 991 94 22,663
Total alowance for loan
losses $ 8,818 $ — $ 11,170 $ 4,421 $ 3,852 $ 1,057 $ 120 $ 29,438

Allowance for loan losses
related to:
December 31, 2018
Individually evaluated for

impairment $ 3,898 $ — $ 2,641 $ 190 $ — $ — $ — $ 6,729
Collectively evaluated for
impairment 4,453 — 9,260 2,534 2,242 1,040 73 19,602
Total alowance for loan
losses $ 8,351 $ — $ 11,901 $ 2,724 $ 2,242 $ 1,040 $ 73 $ 26,331
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The following table presents the recorded investment in loans held for investment by portfolio type based on the impairment method as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Commercial Commercial
real estate real estate 1-4family
(including construction residential
Commercial Mortgage multi-family and land (including Residential Consumer
and industrial war ehouse residential) development home equity) construction and other Total

(Dollarsin thousands)
Recorded investment in loans:
December 31, 2019
Individually evaluated for

impairment $ 15,572 $ — $ 24,813 $ 12,142 $ 2,000 $ 745 $ 64 $ 55,336
Collectively evaluated for

impairment 673,788 8,304 1,848,969 398,329 696,957 191,770 41,857 3,859,974
Total loans evaluated for

impairment $ 689,360 $ 8,304 1,873,782 $ 410,471 $ 698,957 $ 192,515 $ 41,921 $ 3915310

Recorded investment in loans:
December 31, 2018
Individually evaluated for

impairment $ 13,504 $ — $ 22,864 $ 4,440 $ 2,742 $ = $ 3 $ 43,553
Collectively evaluated for
impairment 688,533 48,274 1,628,048 425,688 646,569 186,411 41,230 3,664,753
Total loans evaluated for
impairment $ 702,037 $ 48,274 $ 1650912 $ 430,128 $ 649,311 $ 186,411 $ 41,233 $ 3,708,306

Troubled Debt Restructurings

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had arecorded investment in troubled debt restructurings of $28.9 million and $33.1 million,
respectively. The Company allocated $3.2 million and $3.0 million of specific reserves for these loans at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and did
not commit to lend additional amounts on these |oans.

The following table presents information regarding loans modified in atroubled debt restructuring during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017:

As of December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Pre-
Modification Post Pre- Pre-
of Modification Modification Modification
Outstanding  of Outstanding of Outstanding  Post Modification of Outstanding of Outstanding Post Modification of
Number of Recorded Recorded Number of Recorded Recorded Number of Recorded Outstanding Recor ded
Contracts Investment Investment Contracts Investment Investment Contracts Investment Investment

(Dollarsin thousands)
Troubled Debt Restructurings
Commercial and industrial 13 $ 4,358 $ 4,358 1 $ 2,770 $ 2,770 9 3 2,399 $
Mortgage warehouse — — — — — — — —
Real estate:
Commercial real estate
(including multi-family
residential) 1 303 303 3 4,288 4,288 6 11,837
Commercial real estate
construction and land
development — — — 1 3,114 3,114 1 210
1-4 family residential
(including home equity) 1 396 396 — — — 1 86
Residential construction — — — — — — — —
Consumer and other 2 43 43 — — — — —

11.€

Total 17 $ 5,100 $ 5,100 15 $ 10,172 $ 10,172 17 $ 14,532 $

14,5

Troubled debt restructurings resulted in charge-offs of $251 thousand, $272 thousand and $136 thousand during the years ended December 31, 2019,

2018 and 2017, respectively.

As of December 31, 2019, there were five loans for atotal of $472 thousand were modified under atroubled debt restructuring during the previous
twelve-month period that subsequently defaulted during the year 2019. As of December 31, 2018, no loans were modified under atroubled debt
restructurings during the previous twelve-month period that subsequently defaulted during the year 2018. Default is determined at 90 or more days past
due. The modifications primarily related to extending the amortization periods of the loans. The Company did not grant principal reductions on any
restructured loans. There were no commitmentsto lend additional amounts for the years 2019 and 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the
Company added $5.1 million in new troubled debt restructurings, of which $4.6 million was till outstanding on December 31, 2019. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company added $10.2 million in new troubled debt restructurings, of which $9.8 million was still outstanding on December 31, 2018.

97



ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7.FAIR VALUE

The Company uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and to determine fair value disclosures. Fair value
represents the estimated exchange price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer aliability, otherwise known as an “exit price” in the
principal or most advantageous market available to the entity in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.

Fair Value Hierarchy

Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer aliability (exit price) in the principal or most advantageous
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The Company groups financial assets and
financial liabilities measured at fair valuein three levels, based on the marketsin which the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the
assumptions used to determine fair value. These levels are:

. Level 1—Quoted pricesfor identical assets or liabilitiesin active markets that the entity has the ability to access as of the measurement date.

. Level 2—Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted pricesfor similar assets or liabilities; quoted pricesin
markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

. Level 3—Significant unobservable inputs that reflect management’ s judgment and assumptions that market participants would use in pricing
an asset or liability that are supported by little or no market activity.

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial instruments that are reported on the balance sheet are asfollows:

As of December 31, 2019

Carrying Estimated Fair Value

Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(Dollarsin thousands)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 346,248  $ 346,248  $ —  $ — 3 346,248
Available for sale securities 372,545 — 372,545 — 372,545
Loans held for investment, net of allowance 3,885,872 — — 3,918,210 3,918,210
Accrued interest receivable 15,468 13 1,783 13,672 15,468
Financial liabilities
Deposits $ 4068101 $ — $ 4073031 $ — $ 4073031
Accrued interest payable 4,326 — 4,326 — 4,326
Borrowed funds 75,503 — 83,302 — 83,302
Subordinated debt 107,799 — 109,607 — 109,607

As of December 31, 2018
Carrying Estimated Fair Value
Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(Dollarsin thousands)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 268947  $ 268947  $ —  $ — 3 268,947
Available for sale securities 337,293 — 337,293 — 337,293
Loans held for investment, net of allowance 3,681,975 — — 3,674,241 3,674,241
Accrued interest receivable 17,010 65 3,498 13,447 17,010
Financial liabilities
Deposits $ 3662536 $ — $ 3653244 % — $ 3653244
Accrued interest payable 2,812 — 2,812 — 2,812
Borrowed funds 225,493 — 230,445 — 230,445
Subordinated debt 48,899 — 49,663 — 49,663
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Thefair value estimates presented herein are based on pertinent information available to management as of the datesindicated. The followingisa
description of valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value, non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities and for
estimating fair value for financial instruments not recorded at fair value:

Cash and Cash Equivalents—For these short-term instruments, the carrying amount is a reasonabl e estimate of fair value. The Company classifies
the estimated fair value of these instrumentsas Level 1.

Availablefor Sale Securities—Fair values for investment securities are based upon quoted market prices, if available, and are considered Level 1
inputs. For all other available for sale securities, if quoted prices are not available, fair values are measured based on market prices for similar securities and
are considered Level 2 inputs. For these securities, the Company generally obtains fair value measurements from an independent pricing service. Thefair
value measurements consider observable data that may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury yield curve, live trading levels,
trade execution data, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information and the bond’s terms and conditions, among other things.

Available for sale securities are recorded at fair value on arecurring basis.

LoansHeld for Investment—The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for variable-rate loans that reprice frequently and that have no
significant changein credit risk resulting in aLevel 3 classification. Fair values for fixed-rate loans and variable rate loans which reprice infrequently are
estimated by discounting future cash flows. In accordance with ASU 2016-01, which was adopted effective January 1, 2018, the discount rates used to
determine the fair value of loans used interest rate spreads that reflect factors such as liquidity, credit and nonperformance risk of the loans.

Deposits—The fair value of demand deposits (e.g., interest and noninterest checking, savings and certain types of money market deposits) isthe
amount payable on demand at the reporting date (i.e., their carrying amount) resulting in aLevel 2 classification. The fair value of fixed rate certificates of
deposit is estimated using a discounted cash flows calculation that appliesinterest rates currently offered on certificates of deposit to a schedule of
aggregated expected monthly maturities on time deposits resulting in aLevel 2 classification.

Accrued I nterest—The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate their fair values resulting inaLevel 1, 2 or 3 classification.

Borrowed Funds—The fair value of the Company’s borrowed funds are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses based on the current
borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements and are measured utilizing Level 2 inputs.

Subordinated Debt—The fair values of subordinated debentures and notes are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses based on the
Company’s current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements and are measured utilizing Level 2 inputs.

Off-balance sheet instruments—The fair values of off-balance sheet commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit financial
instruments are based on fees currently charged to enter into similar agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the agreements and the
counterparties’ credit standing. The Company has reviewed the unfunded portion of commitmentsto extend credit as well as standby and other |etters of
credit and has determined that the fair value of such financial instrumentsis not material.

The following tables present fair values for assets measured at fair value on arecurring basis:
December 31, 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(Dollarsin thousands)

Availablefor sale securities:

U.S. government and agency securities $ —  $ 29475  $ — 3 29,475
Municipal securities — 87,537 — 87,537
Agency mortgage-backed pass-through securities — 106,168 — 106,168
Agency collateralized mortgage obligations — 107,342 107,342
Corporate bonds and other — 42,023 — 42,023

Total $ —  $ 372545 $ — 3 372,545

99



ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(Dollarsin thousands)

Availablefor sale securities:

U.S. government and agency securities $ — % 8685 $ — 3 8,685
Municipal securities — 216,785 — 216,785
Agency mortgage-backed pass-through securities — 66,195 — 66,195
Corporate bonds and other — 45,628 — 45,628

Total $ — 3 337293 % — 3 337,293

There were no liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis as of December 31, 2019 or 2018. There were no transfers between levels during
2019 or 2018.

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on anonrecurring basis; that is, the instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing
basis, but are subject to fair value adjustmentsin certain circumstances such as evidence of impairment.

As of December 31, 2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(Dollarsin thousands)

Impaired loans:

Commercial and industrial $ — — 3 4,332

Commercial real estate (including multi-
family residential) — — 4,876

Commercial real estate construction

and land devel opment — — 10,057
Residential construction — — 471
PCI — — 1,380
Other real estate owned — — 8,337
$ — 3 — 3 29,453

As of December 31, 2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(Dollarsin thousands)

Impaired loans:

Commercial and industrial $ — 3 — 3 5,252
Commercial real estate (including multi-
family residential) — — 8,901
Commercial real estate construction
and land development — — 2,924
Other real estate owned — — 630
$ — 3 — 3 17,707
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Historically, the Company measures fair value for certain loans and other real estate owned on anonrecurring basis as described below.

Impaired Loanswith Specific Allocation of Allowance

Impaired loans are those |oans the Company has measured at fair value, generally based on the fair value of theloan’s collateral. A loan is
considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due pursuant to
the contractual terms of the |oan agreement. Impairment is measured by estimating the fair value of the loan based on the present value of expected cash
flows, the market price of the loan, or the underlying fair value of the loan’s collateral. For real estate |oans, fair value of the impaired loan’s collateral is
determined by third party appraisals, which are then adjusted for the estimated selling and closing costs related to liquidation of the collateral. For this asset
class, the actual valuation methods (income, sales comparable or cost) vary based on the status of the project or property. For example, land is generally
based on the sales comparable method while construction is based on the income and/or sales comparable methods. The unobservable inputs may vary
depending on the individual assets with no one of the three methods being the predominant approach. The Company reviews the third party appraisal for
appropriateness and adjusts the value downward to consider selling and closing costs, which typically range from 5% to 10% of the appraised value. For
non-real estate loans, fair value of the impaired loan’s collateral may be determined using an appraisal, net book value per the borrower’s financial
statements or aging reports, adjusted or discounted based on management’s historical knowledge, changes in market conditions from the time of the
valuation and management’s expertise and knowledge of the customer and the customer's business.

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, certain impaired loans were reevaluated and reported at fair value through a specific allocation
of the allowance for loan losses. At December 31, 2019, the total reported fair value of impaired loans of $21.1 million based on collateral valuations utilizing
Level 3 valuation inputs had a carrying value of $27.9 million that was reduced by specific allowance allocations totaling $6.8 million. At December 31, 2018,
thetotal reported fair value of impaired loans of $17.1 million based on collateral valuations utilizing Level 3 valuation inputs had a carrying value of $23.8
million that was reduced by specific allowance allocations totaling $6.7 million.

Other Real Estate Owned

Other real estate owned is comprised of real estate acquired in partial or full satisfaction of loans. Other real estate owned is recorded at its estimated
fair value less estimated selling and closing costs at the date of transfer. Any excess of the related loan balance over the fair value less expected selling
costsis charged to the allowance. Subsequent declinesin fair value are reported as adjustments to the carrying amount and are recorded against earnings.
Thefair value of other real estate owned is determined using appraisals or other indications of value based on recent comparabl e sales of similar properties
or assumptions generally observablein the marketplace. For this asset class, the actual valuation methods (income, sales comparable or cost) vary based on
the status of the project or property. For example, land is generally based on the sales comparable method while construction is based on the income and/or
sales comparable methods. The unobservable inputs may vary depending on the individual assets with no one of the three methods being the predominant
approach. The Company reviews the third party appraisal for appropriateness and adjusts the value downward to consider selling and closing costs, which
typically range from 5% to 10% of the appraised value.

At December 31, 2019, the balance of other real estate owned was $8.3 million consisting primarily of foreclosed commercial real estate properties

recorded as aresult of obtaining physical possession of the property. The Company had $630 thousand of other real estate owned at December 31, 2018.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, no valuation allowance was recorded.

8. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

Premises and equipment are summarized as follows:

As of December 31,

2019 2018
(Dollarsin thousands)
Land $ 13913 $ 11,586
Buildings 36,826 23,455
L ease right-of-use assets 11,180 —
L easehold improvements 4,522 5,291
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 13,612 11,858
Construction in progress 250 480
Total 80,303 52,670
Less: accumulated depreciation 13,513 10,953
Premises and equipment, net $ 66,790 $ 41,717

101



ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Depreciation expense was $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

9.LEASES

L ease payments over the expected term are discounted using the Company’sincremental borrowing rate for borrowings of similar terms.
Generally, the Company cannot be reasonably certain about whether or not it will renew alease until such time as the lease is within the last two years of
the existing lease term. When the Company is reasonably certain that arenewal option will be exercised, it measures/remeasures the right-of-use asset and
related lease liability using the lease payments specified for the renewal period or, if such amounts are unspecified, the Company generally assumes an
increase (evaluated on a case-by-case basisin light of prevailing market conditions) in the lease payment over the final period of the existing lease term.

There were no sale and |easeback transactions, leveraged |eases or |ease transactions with related parties during the year ended December 31,
2019.

At December 31, 2019, the Company had 14 leases consisting of branch locations and office space along with equipment. On the December 31,
2019 balance sheet, the right-of-use asset is classified within premises and equipment and the lease liability isincluded in other liabilities. The Company
also owns certain office facilities which it leases to outside parties under operating lessor |eases; however, such |eases are not significant. All leases were
classified as operating leases. Leases with aninitial term of 12 months or |ess are not recorded on the balance sheet and the related |ease expenseis
recognized on astraight-line basis over the lease term. During the year 2019, Allegiance Bank purchased two previously |eased properties for atotal of $10.7
million.

Operating lease costs classified as occupancy and equipment expense were $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Included in these
amounts were short-term |ease costs of $553 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Certain leasesinclude options to renew, with renewal termsthat can extend the lease term from one to five years. L ease assets and liabilities
include related options that are reasonably certain of being exercised. The depreciable life of |eased assets are limited by the expected |ease term.

Supplemental lease information at or for the year ended December 31, 2019 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance Sheet:

Operating lease right of use asset classified as premises and equipment $ 11,180

Operating lease liability classified as other liabilities 11,477
Income Statement:

Operating lease cost classified as occupancy and

equipment expense $ 3,554

Weighted average lease term, in years 5.53
Weighted average discount rate 3.19%

A maturity analysis of the Company’s lease liabilities at December 31, 2019 is as follows (dollarsin thousands):

L ease paymentsdue:

Within one year $ 2,867
After one but within two years 2,608
After two but within three years 2,204
After three but within four years 1,596
After four but within five years 1,131
After fiveyears 2,162

Total lease payments 12,568
Discount on cash flows 1,091

Total leaseliability $ 11,477
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10. DEPOSITS

Time deposits that meet or exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) insurance limit of $250 thousand at December 31, 2019
and December 31, 2018 were $485.8 million and $509.3 million, respectively.

Scheduled maturities of time deposits for the next five years are as follows (dollarsin thousands):

Within one year $ 767,273
After one but within two years 206,600
After two but within three years 105,985
After three but within four years 73,145
After four but within five years 37,580

Total $ 1,190,583

The Company had $263.5 million and $261.1 million of brokered deposits. There were no concentrations of deposits with any one depositor at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Related party deposits from principal officers, directors and their affiliates at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $9.2 million and $9.6 million,
respectively.

11. BORROWINGS AND BORROWING CAPACITY

The Company has an available line of credit with the FHLB of Dallas, which allows the Company to borrow on acollateralized basis. FHLB advances
are used to manage liquidity as needed. The advances are secured by a blanket lien on certain loans. Maturing advances are replaced by drawing on
available cash, making additional borrowings or through increased customer deposits. At December 31, 2019, the Company had total borrowing capacity of
$1.72 hillion, of which $1.51 billion was available under this agreement and $204.8 million was outstanding. FHL B advances of $75.0 million were outstanding
at December 31, 2019, at aweighted average rate of 2.29%. L etters of credit were $129.8 million at December 31, 2019, of which $8.6 million expired in January
2020, $8.9 million expired in February 2020, $25.0 million will expirein March 2020, $8.5 million will expirein April 2020, $37.1 million will expire in June 2020,
$1.7 million will expirein July 2020, $8.4 million will expirein August 2020, $25.0 million will expirein October 2020, $4.1 million will expire in December 2020
and $2.5 million will expirein March 2021.

On December 28, 2018, the Company amended its revolving credit agreement to increase the maximum commitment to advance funds to $45.0 million
which will reduce annually by $7.5 million beginning in December 2020 and on each December 22nd for the following years thereafter. The Company is
required to repay any outstanding balance in excess of the then-current maximum commitment amount. The revised agreement will mature in December 2025
and is secured by 100% of the capital stock of the Bank. The credit agreement contains certain restrictive covenants. At December 31, 2019, the Company
believesit wasin compliance with all such debt covenants and had not been made aware of any noncompliance by the lender. The interest rate on the debt
isthe Prime Rate minus 25 basis points, or 4.50%, at December 31, 2019, and is paid quarterly. Scheduled principal maturities are asfollows (dollarsin
thousands):

2020 $ —
2021 —
2022 —
2023 —
2024 and thereafter 569
Total $ 569

12. SUBORDINATED DEBT
Junior Subordinated Debentures

On January 1, 2015, the Company acquired F& M Bancshares and assumed Farmers & Merchants Capital Trust || and Farmers & Merchants Capital
Trust 111 with an aggregate original principal amount of $11.3 million and a current carrying value of $9.5 million at December 31, 2019. At acquisition, the
Company recorded a discount of $2.5 million on the debentures. The difference between the carrying value and contractual balance will be recognized as a
yield adjustment over the remaining term for the debentures. Each of the trustsis a capital or statutory business trust organized for the sole purpose of
issuing trust securities and investing the proceedsin the Company’s junior subordinated debentures. The preferred trust securities of each trust represent
preferred beneficial interests in the assets of the respective trusts and are subject to mandatory redemption upon payment of the junior
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subordinated debentures held by the trust. The common securities of each trust are wholly owned by the Company. Each trust’s ability to pay amounts due
on thetrust preferred securitiesis solely dependent upon the Company making payment on the related junior subordinated debentures. The debentures,
which are the only assets of each trust, are subordinate and junior in right of payment to all of the Company’s present and future senior indebtedness. The
Company has fully and unconditionally guaranteed each trust’s obligations under the trust securities issued by such trust to the extent not paid or made by
each trust, provided such trust has funds avail able for such obligations. The junior subordinated debentures areincluded in Tier 1 capital under current
regulatory guidelines and interpretations.

Under the provisions of each issue of the debentures, the Company has the right to defer payment of interest on the debentures at any time, or from
timeto time, for periods not exceeding five years. If interest payments on either issue of the debentures are deferred, the distributions on the applicable
trust preferred securities and common securitieswill also be deferred.

A summary of pertinent information related to the Company's i ssuances of junior subordinated debentures outstanding at December 31, 2019 is set
forth in the table below:

Trust Junior
Preferred Subordinated
I ssuance Securities Debt Owed Maturity
Description Date Qutstanding Interest Rate(®) to Trusts Date(®
(Dollarsin thousands)
Farmers & Merchants Capital Trust Il November 13, 2003 $ 7,500 3 month LIBOR + 3.00% $ 7,732 November 8, 2033
Farmers & Merchants Capital Trust |11 June 30, 2005 3,500 3 month LIBOR + 1.80% 3,609 July 7, 2035
$ 11,341

(1) The3-month LIBOR in effect as of December 31, 2019 was 1.9124%.
(2)  All debentures are currently callable.

Subordinated Notes

In December 2017, the Bank completed the issuance, through a private placement, of $40.0 million aggregate principal amount of Fixed-to-Floating
Rate Subordinated Notes (the "Notes") due December 15, 2027. The Notes were issued at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, resulting in net
proceeds to the Bank of $39.4 million. The Bank used the net proceeds from the offering to support its growth and for general corporate purposes. The
Notes are intended to qualify as Tier 2 capital for bank regulatory purposes.

The Notes bear afixed interest rate of 5.25% per annum until (but excluding) December 15, 2022, payable semi-annually in arrears. From December 15,
2022, the Notes will bear afloating rate of interest equal to 3-Month LIBOR + 3.03% until the Notes mature on December 15, 2027, or such earlier redemption
date, payable quarterly in arrears. The Notes will be redeemable by the Bank, in whole or in part, on or after December 15, 2022 or, in whole but not in part,
upon the occurrence of certain specified tax events, capital events or investment company events. Any redemption will be at aredemption price equal to
100% of the principal amount of Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, and will be subject to, and require, prior regulatory approval. The
Notes are not subject to redemption at the option of the holders.

In September 2019, the Company completed the issuance of $60.0 million aggregate principal amount of Fixed-to-Floating Rate Subordinated Notes
(the"Company Notes") due October 1, 2029. The Company Noteswere issued at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, resulting in net proceeds to
the Company of $58.6 million. The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the offering to support its growth and for general corporate purposes.

The Company Notes bear afixed interest rate of 4.70% per annum until (but excluding) October 1, 2024, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1
and October 1, commencing on April 1, 2020. Thereafter, from October 1, 2024 through the maturity date, October 1, 2029, or earlier redemption date, the
Company Noteswill bear interest at afloating rate equal to the then-current three-month LIBOR, plus 313 basis points (3.13%) for each quarterly interest
period (subject to certain provisions set forth under “ Description of the Notes—Interest Rates and Interest Payment Dates” included in the Prospectus
Supplement), payable quarterly in arrears on January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1 of each year. Any redemption will be at a redemption price equal to
100% of the principal amount of Company Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, and will be subject to, and require, prior regulatory
approval. The Company Notes are not subject to redemption at the option of the holders.
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13. INCOME TAXES
The components of the provision for federal income taxes are asfollows:

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)
Current $ 13,514 $ 8,204 $ 8,320
Deferred (87) (256) 427
Total $ 13,427 $ 7,948 $ 8,747

Reported income tax expense differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to income before income
taxes for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 due to the following:

Y ears Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)
Taxes calculated at statutory rate $ 13940 $ 9504 $ 9,233
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
Stock based compensation (11) (400) (755)
Effect of tax exempt income (698) (1,284) (2,328)
Deferred tax adjustment related to
reduction in U.S. federal statutory
income tax rate — — 2,621
Other, net 196 128 (24)
Total $ 13427 3 7948 $ 8,747

The Company recognized net tax benefits related to stock based compensation totaling $11 thousand in 2019, $587 thousand in 2018 and $1.1 million
in 2017.

Y ear-end deferred taxes are presented in the table below. Asaresult of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted on December 22, 2017, deferred taxes as
of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are based on the 21% maximum federal statutory tax rate.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
As of December 31,

2019 2018
(Dollarsin thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for credit losses $ 6,432 $ 5,898
Net unrealized loss on available for
sale securities — 761
Deferred compensation 855 366
Total deferred tax assets 7,287 7,025

Deferred tax liahilities:
Core deposit intangible and other

purchase accounting adjustments (3,591) (2,718)
Net unrealized gain on available for
sale securities (1,307) —
Premises and equipment basis difference (2,099) (2,035)
Total deferred tax liabilities (6,997) (4,753)
Net deferred tax assets $ 200 $ 2,272

Interest and penalties related to tax positions are recognized in the period in which they begin accruing or when the entity claims the position that
does not meet the minimum statutory thresholds. The Company does not have any uncertain tax positions and does not have any interest and penalties
recorded in the income statement for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. The Company isno longer subject to examination by the US
Federal Tax Jurisdiction for the years prior to 2016.

105



ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

At December 31, 2019, the Company had two stock-based employee compensation plans with awards outstanding. In connection with the
acquisition of Post Oak Bancshares, Inc., on October 1, 2018, the Company assumed the Post Oak Bancshares, Inc. Stock Option Plan, under which no
additional awardswill beissued. During 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors and shareholders approved the 2019 Amended and Restated Stock
Awards and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) covering certain awards of stock-based compensation to key employees and directors of the Company and its
affiliates. Under the Plan, the Company is authorized to issue a maximum aggregate of 3,200,000 shares of stock, up to 1,800,000 of which may beissued
through incentive stock options. The Company accounts for stock based employee compensation plans using the fair val ue-based method of accounting.
The Company recognized total stock based compensation expense of $3.1 million, $1.7 million and $1.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

Stock Options

Optionsto purchase atotal of 1,309,231 shares of Company stock have been granted as of December 31, 2019. There were no stock options granted
during 2019. Under the Plan, options are exercisable up to 10 years from the date of the grant and, dependent on the terms of the applicable award
agreement generally vest 4 years after the date of grant. The fair value of stock options granted is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model.

As part of the Post Oak acquisition, all outstanding Post Oak options were assumed by Allegiance and converted using the 0.7017 exchange ratio to
299,352 options at aweighted average exercise price of $12.83 per option.

The expected volatility was determined based on historical volatilities of Allegiance'scommon stock. The expected term of options granted is based
on historical dataand represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding and takes into account that the options are not
transferable. The risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the option isbased on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The
Black-Scholes pricing model utilizes certain assumptions noted in the table bel ow.

2018 2017
Risk-free interest rate 2.72% 2.40%
Expected term 10.00 10.00
Expected stock price volatility 29.26% 29.70%

Dividend yield — —

A summary of the activity in the stock option plans during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is set forth below:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggaregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Options Price Contractual Term Value
(In thousands) (In years) (In thousands)
Options outstanding, January 1, 2018 775 $ 19.94 572 $ 13,718
Options granted 4 40.40
Options assumed 299 12.83
Options exercised (244) 13.88
Optionsforfeited (32) 29.53
Options outstanding, December 31, 2018 802 $ 18.88 461 $ 10,830
Options granted — —
Options exercised (179) 15.16
Optionsforfeited (7) 24.18
Options outstanding, December 31, 2019 616 $ 19.90 400 $ 10,904
Options vested and exercisable,
December 31, 2019 571 $ 18.98 375 $ 10,634

The Company expects all outstanding options at December 31, 2019 to vest.
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Information related to the stock option plans during each year is asfollows:

20191 2018 2017
(In thousands)
Intrinsic value of options exercised $ 71 3% 3254 $ 3,371
Cash received from option exercises 2,709 3,393 3,743
Weighted average fair value of options
granted $ — 3 18.00 $ 16.55

(1) Therewere no options granted in 2019.

As of December 31, 2019, there was $402 thousand of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options granted under the
plans. The cost is expected to be recognized over aweighted-average period of 0.88 years.

Restricted Stock Awards

The Company has issued 314,539 restricted stock awards under the Plan as of December 31, 2019. During 2018, the Company awarded 122,127
shares of restricted stock with aweighted average grant date fair value of $39.04. During 2019, the Company awarded 87,950 shares of restricted stock with
aweighted average grant date fair value of $34.97. The shares of restricted stock generally vest over aperiod of 4 years and are considered outstanding at
the date of issuance. The Company accounts for shares of restricted stock by recording the fair value of the grant on the award date as compensation
expense over the vesting period.

A summary of the activity of the nonvested shares of restricted stock as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 including changes during the years then
ended isasfollows:

Weighted
Average Grant
Number of Date Fair
Shares Value

(Sharesin thousands)
Nonvested share awards outstanding,

January 1, 2018 41 $ 30.46
Share awards granted 122 39.04
Share awards vested (20) 30.12

Unvested share awards forfeited or cancelled — —
Nonvested share awards outstanding,

December 31, 2018 143 $ 37.48
Share awards granted 88 34.97
Share awards vested (45) 36.70
Unvested share awards forfeited or cancelled (19) 38.46

Nonvested share awards outstanding,
December 31, 2019 167 $ 36.23

At December 31, 2019, there was $5.3 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to the restricted stock awards which is expected to be
recognized over aweighted-average period of 2.94 years. Thetotal fair value of restricted stock awards that fully vested during the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was approximately $1.6 million, $621 thousand and $203 thousand, respectively.

Performance Share Units (“ PSUS")

PSUs are earned subject to certain performance goals being met after the two-year performance period and will be settled in shares of Allegiance
Common Stock following aone-year service period. During 2019, the Company awarded 34,628 PSUs. At December 31, 2019, there was $888 thousand of
unrecognized compensation expense related to the PSUs, which is expected to be recognized over aweighted-average period of 2.27 years.
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15. OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
401(k) benefit plan

The Company has a 401(k) benefit plan whereby participants may contribute a percentage of their compensation. The Company matches 50% of an
employee's contributions up to 6% of the employee’s compensation, for a maximum match of 3% of compensation. Matching contribution expense as of
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $1.4 million, $962 thousand and $789 thousand, respectively.

Profit sharing plan

Thefinancial statementsinclude an accrua for $3.7 million, $2.5 million and $1.5 million for a contribution to the plan as a profit sharing contribution
for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company offersits employees an opportunity to purchase shares of Allegiance’'s common stock, pursuant to the terms of the Allegiance
Bancshares, Inc. 2019 Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The ESPP was adopted by the Board of Directorsto provide
employees with an opportunity to purchase shares of Allegiance in order to provide employees a more direct opportunity to participate in the Company’s
growth. The Company allows employees to purchase shares at a 15% discount to market value and thus incurs stock based compensation expense for the
fair value of the discount given. The Company recognized total stock based compensation expense of $210 thousand, $48 thousand and $144 thousand for
the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 respectively.

16. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of business, the Company entersinto various transactions, which, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States are not included in the Company’s consolidated bal ance sheets. The Company enters into these transactions to meet the financing
needs of its customers. These transactions include commitments to extend credit and standby and commercial letters of credit, which involve to varying
degrees elements of credit risk and interest rate risk in excess of the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company uses the same
credit policiesin making commitments and conditional obligations asit does for on balance sheet instruments.

Commitmentsto Extend Credit

Commitments to extend credit are agreementsto lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract.
Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of afee. Since many of the commitments are
expected to expire without being fully drawn upon, the total commitment amounts disclosed do not necessarily represent future cash funding requirements.
The Company evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The Company minimizesits exposure to loss under these commitments
by subjecting them to credit approval and monitoring procedures. Management assesses the credit risk associated with certain commitmentsto extend
credit in determining the level of the allowance for credit losses. The amount and type of collateral, if deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of
credit, is based on management’s credit evaluation of the customer.

Standby Letters of Credit

Standby letters of credit are written conditional commitmentsissued by the Company to guarantee the performance of a customer to athird party. In
the event of nonperformance by the customer, the Company has the rights to the underlying collateral. The credit risk to the Company in issuing letters of
credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to its customers. The Company’s policy for obtaining collateral, and the nature of
such collateral, is essentially the same as that involved in making commitments to extend credit.

The contractual amounts of financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk are as follows:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Fixed Variable Fixed Variable
Rate Rate Rate Rate
(Dollarsin thousands)
Commitments to extend credit $ 507,411 $ 531,470 $ 471440 $ 530,546
Standby letters of credit 10,843 4,309 14,217 9,067
Total $ 518254 $ 535,779 $ 485657 $ 539,613
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Commitments to make loans are generally made for periods of 120 days or less. As of December 31, 2019, the fixed rate loan commitments have
interest rates ranging from 1.95% to 8.40% with a weighted average maturity and rate of 3.59 years and 5.32%, respectively.

17. REGULATORY CAPITAL MATTERS

The Company and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. Capital adequacy
guidelines and, additionally for banks, prompt corrective action regul ations involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities and certain off balance sheet
items cal culated under regulatory accounting practices. Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators about
components, risk weightings and other factors. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate actions by regulatorsthat, if undertaken, could
have adirect material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Thefinal rulesimplementing Basel Committee on Banking Supervision's
capital guidelinefor U.S. Banks (Basel |11 Rules) became effective for the Company on January 1, 2015 with full compliance with all of the requirements being
phased in over amulti-year schedule, and were fully phased in on January 1, 2019. Management believes as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company
and the Bank met all capital adequacy regquirements to which they were subject.

Prompt corrective action regulations provide five classifications: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly
undercapitalized and critically undercapitalized, although these terms are not used to represent overall financial condition. If adequately capitalized,
regulatory approval isrequired to accept brokered deposits. If undercapitalized, capital distributions are limited asis asset growth and expansion, and
capital restoration plans are required. At year-end 2019 and 2018, the most recent regulatory notifications categorized the Bank aswell capitalized under the
regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. There are no conditions or events since that notification that management believes have changed the
institution’s category.

109



ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following isasummary of the Company’s and the Bank’s actual and required capital ratios at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

To Be Categorized As
Well Capitalized Under

For Capital Minimum Required Plus Prompt Corrective
Actual Adequacy Purposes Capital Conservation Buffer Action Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

(Dollarsin thousands)
ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES,
INC.
(Consolidated)
Asof December 31, 2019
Total Capital (to risk weighted

assets) $ 596,684 14.83% $ 321,775 8.00% $ 422,330 10.500% N/A N/A
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (to

risk weighted assets) 459,447 11.42% 180,999 4.50% 281,553 7.000% N/A N/A
Tier 1 Capital (to risk weighted

assets) 468,972 11.66% 241,331 6.00% 341,886 8.500% N/A N/A
Tier 1 Capital (to average tangible

assets) 468,972 10.02% 187,146 4.00% 187,146 4.,000% N/A N/A

As of December 31, 2018
Total Capital (to risk weighted

assets) $ 531,453 13.70% $ 310,295 8.00% $ 383,020 9.875% N/A N/A
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (to

risk weighted assets) 456,223 11.76% 174,541 4.50% 247,266 6.375% N/A N/A
Tier 1 Capital (to risk weighted

assets) 465,637 12.01% 232,721 6.00% 305,446 7.875% N/A N/A
Tier 1 Capital (to average tangible

assets) 465,637 10.61% 175,621 4.00% 175,621 4.000% N/A N/A

ALLEGIANCE BANK
Asof December 31, 2019
Total Capital (to risk weighted

assets) $ 578,425 1439% $ 321,556 8.00% $ 422,043 10.500% $ 401,945 10.00%
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (to

risk weighted assets) 509,372 12.67% 180,875 4.50% 281,362 7.000% 261,265 6.50%
Tier 1 Capital (to risk weighted

assets) 509,372 12.67% 241,167 6.00% 341,654 8.500% 321,556 8.00%
Tier 1 Capital (to average tangible

assets) 509,372 10.89% 187,018 4.00% 187,018 4.000% 233,773 5.00%

As of December 31, 2018
Total Capital (to risk weighted

assets) $ 524,660 1353% $ 310,179 8.00% $ 382,877 9.875% $ 387,724 10.00%
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (to

risk weighted assets) 458,844 11.83% 174,476 4.50% 247,174 6.375% 252,021 6.50%
Tier 1 Capital (to risk weighted

assets) 458,844 11.83% 232,634 6.00% 305,333 7.875% 310,179 8.00%
Tier 1 Capital (to average tangible

assets) 458,844 10.45% 175,552 4.00% 175,552 4.000% 219,440 5.00%

Dividend Restrictions

Allegiance's principal source of funds for dividend paymentsis dividends received from the Bank. Banking regulations limit the amount of dividends
that may be paid without prior approval of regulatory agencies. In addition, Allegiance's credit agreement with another financial institution also limitsits
ability to pay dividends. Under applicable banking regulations, the amount of dividends that may be paid by the Bank in any calendar year islimited to the
current year's net profits combined with the retained net profits of the preceding two years, subject to the capital requirements described above.

18. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Diluted earnings per common share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares determined for the basic earnings per
common share computation plus the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted
into common stock using the treasury stock method. Outstanding stock optionsissued by the
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Company represent the only dilutive effect reflected in diluted weighted average shares. Common shares issuable under restricted stock awards, stock
options and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan are considered outstanding at the date of grant, are accounted for as participating securities and are
included in basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding.

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Per Share Per Share Per Share
Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount
(Amountsin thousands, except per share data)
Net income attributabl e to shareholders $ 52959 $ 37,309 $ 17,632
Basic:
Weighted average shares outstanding 21152 $ 2,50 15485  $ 2.41 13125 ¢ 13:4
Diluted:
Add incremental sharesfor:
Dilutive effect of stock option exercises 272 288 333
Total 21,424 $ 247 15,773 $ 2.37 13,458 $ 1.31

Stock options for 23,125, 54,175 and 28,300 shares were not considered in computing diluted earnings per share as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017, respectively, because they were antidilutive.
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19. PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2019 2018
(Dollarsin thousands)

ASSETS

Cash and due from banks $ 17,775 $ 6,780

Investment in subsidiary 760,131 705,947

Other assets 1,665 1,026
TOTAL $ 779571 $ 713,753

LIABILITIESAND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

LIABILITIES:

Other borrowed funds $ 504 $ 492

Subordinated debentures 68,184 9,414

Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 1,018 862
Total liahilities 69,706 10,768

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY:

Common stock 20,524 21,938

Capital surplus 521,066 571,804

Retained earnings 163,375 112,131

Accumul ated other comprehensive income (10ss) 4,900 (2,888)
Total shareholders' equity 709,865 702,985

TOTAL $ 779571 $ 713,753
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ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

OPERATING INCOME:
Other income
Total income
OPERATING EXPENSE:
Interest expense on borrowed funds
Other expenses
Total operating expense
Income before income tax benefit and equity in undistributed income
of subsidiaries
Income tax benefit
Income before equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries
Dividends from subsidiary and equity in undistributed income
of subsidiaries
Net income

For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)

$ 5 $ 16 $ 13
25 16 13

1,459 38 33

1,922 1,692 1,465

3,381 1,730 1,498

(3,356) (1,714) (1,485)

705 360 756

(2,651) (1,354) (729)

55,610 38,663 18,361

$ 52959 $ 37,309 $ 17,632
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ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
(Dollarsin thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 52959 $ 37309 $ 17,632
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in
operating activities:

Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (55,610) (38,663) (18,361)
Net amortization of discount on subordinated debentures 169 110 107
Stock based compensation expense 3,100 1,685 1,780
Increase in other assets (639) (236) (378)
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable and other
lighilities 166 279 (377)
Net cash provided by operating activities 145 484 403
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Dividend from subsidiary 7,500 — —
Capital investment in bank subsidiary — — (21,000)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 7,500 — (21,000)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 3,412 3,552 4,248
Proceeds from subordinated notes issuance, net of offering expenses 58,601 — —
Repurchase of treasury stock (58,663) (2,113) —
Net cash provided by financing activities 3,350 1,439 4,248
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 10,995 1,923 (16,349)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 6,780 4,857 21,206
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $ 17,775  $ 6,780 $ 4,857
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20. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Earnings Per Share(l)

Net Income
Interest Net Interest Attributable to
Income Income Common Shareholders Basic Diluted
(Dollarsin thousands, except per share data)

2019
First quarter $ 57,149 $ 44603 $ 12678 $ 058 $ 0.58
Second quarter 58,946 45,571 14,248 0.67 0.66
Third quarter 58,665 44,837 12,047 0.57 0.57
Fourth quarter 58,147 44,526 13,986 0.68 0.67
2018
First quarter $ 32391 $ 26,889 $ 7711 $ 058 $ 0.57
Second quarter 34,193 27,816 7,556 0.57 0.55
Third quarter 35,336 28,036 8,879 0.66 0.65
Fourth quarter 56,303 45,838 13,163 0.60 0.59

(1) Earnings per share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented and therefore may not total earnings per share for the year

21. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Dividend Declaration

On January 28, 2020, the Company declared its first quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per share of common stock to be paid on March 16, 2020 to all
shareholders of record as of February 28, 2020.

Other Real Estate

On February 4, 2020, the Company foreclosed on aloan and recorded a $6.9 million property as other real estate. Theloan was classified asimpaired

with a specific reserve charged through the allowance for loan loss of $1.9 million at December 31, 2019. At foreclosure, the Company recorded a charge-off
of $2.1 million to record the property at fair value less estimated selling costs.

Stock Repurchase Authorization

On February 26, 2020, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing the Company to repurchase up to one million shares
of its common stock outstanding at the discretion of management through March 31, 2021. Repurchases under this program may be made from time to time
through open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or such other manners as will comply with applicable laws and regulations. On February
20, 2020, the Company completed its second one million share repurchase authorization previously approved on July 25, 2019.

115

(Back To Top)
Section 2: EX-4.2 (EX-4.2)

Exhibit 4.2

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT'SSECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIESEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. has one class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended: its common
stock, par value $1.00 per share (the “ common stock”). As used in this exhibit, the terms “Allegiance,” “the Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to
Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. and do not refer to its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires.

General

The following discussion summarizes some of the important rights of the holders of shares of our common stock. This discussion does not purport to be a
complete description of these rights and may not contain all of the information regarding our common stock that isimportant to you. These rights can be
determined in full only by referenceto federal and state banking laws and regulations, the Texas Business Organizations Code, or “the TBOC,” and our
amended and restated certificate of formation and bylaws.



We areincorporated in the State of Texas. The rights of our shareholders are generally covered by Texas law and our amended and restated certificate of
formation and bylaws. The terms of our capital stock are therefore subject to Texas law, including the TBOC, and the common and constitutional law of
Texas. The following discussion describes the terms of our amended and restated certificate of formation and bylaws. Our amended and restated certificate
of formation and bylaws have been filed with the SEC as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part.

Our amended and restated certificate of formation authorizes usto issue up to 80,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $1.00 per share, and 1,000,000
shares of preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share. The authorized but unissued shares of our capital stock will be available for future issuance without
shareholder approval, unless otherwise required by applicable law or the rules of any applicable securities exchange.

Voting Rights

Subject to any special voting rights that may be given to any series of preferred stock that we may issue in the future, holders of our common stock are
entitled to one vote per sharein the election of directors and on all other matters submitted to avote of our shareholders. Shareholders are not entitled to
cumulate their votes with respect to the election of directors. Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast.

Dividend Rights
Holders of our common stock are entitled to dividends when, as and if declared by our board of directors out of fundslegally available therefor.
Liguidation Rights

On liquidation of the Company, the holders of the common stock are entitled to share pro rata with the holders of shares of other common stock of the
Company in any distribution of the assets of the Company after the holders of shares of preferred stock, if any, have received the liquidation preference of
their shares as determined by our board of directors plus any declared but unpaid dividends, if any, and after all other indebtedness of the Company has
been retired.

Other

Our common stock has no preemptive or conversion rights and is not entitled to the benefits of any redemption or sinking fund provision.



Preferred Stock

Our amended and restated certificate of formation permits us to issue one or more series of preferred stock and authorizes our board of directorsto
designate the designations, preferences, limitations and relative rights of any such series of preferred stock, in each case, without any further action by our
shareholders. While the terms of preferred stock may vary from seriesto series, holders of our common stock should assume that all shares of preferred
stock will be senior to our common stock in respect of distributions and on liquidation.

Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting rights that affect adversely the voting power or other rights of our other
classes of stock, including the common stock. The issuance of preferred stock also could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing achangein
control or causing the market price of our common stock to decline.

We currently have no shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding.

Listing

Our common stock islisted on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “ABTX.”
Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Investor Services, c/o Shareholder Services, whose addressis 150 Royall Street,
Canton, MA 02021.

Business Combinationsunder TexasLaw

A number of provisions of Texaslaw, our amended and restated certificate of formation and our bylaws could have an anti-takeover effect and make more
difficult the acquisition of the Company by means of atender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise and the removal of incumbent directors. These provisions
are intended to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of usto
negotiate first with our board of directors.

We are subject to the provisions of Title 2, Chapter 21, Subchapter M of the TBOC, or the Texas Business Combination Law, which provides that a Texas
corporation may not engage in specified types of business combinations, including mergers, consolidations and asset sales, with a person, or an affiliate or
associate of that person, who is an “ affiliated shareholder.” For purposes of thislaw, an “affiliated shareholder” is generally defined as the holder of 20% or
more of the corporation’s voting shares, for aperiod of three years from the date that person became an affiliated shareholder. The law’s prohibitions do

not apply if:

«  thebusiness combination or the acquisition of shares by the affiliated sharehol der was approved by the board of directors of the corporation
before the affiliated shareholder became an affiliated shareholder; or

* thebusiness combination was approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting shares of the
corporation not beneficially owned by the affiliated shareholder, at a meeting of shareholders called for that purpose, not less than six months
after the affiliated sharehol der became an affiliated shareholder.

We have more than 100 sharehol ders and are considered to be an “issuing public corporation” for purposes of thislaw. The Texas Business Combination
Law does not apply to the following:

«  thebusiness combination of an issuing public corporation: where the corporation’s origina certificate of formation or bylaws contain aprovision
expressly electing not to be governed by the Texas Business Combination Law; or that adopts an amendment to its certificate of formation or
bylaws, by the affirmative vote of the holders, other than affiliated shareholders, of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting shares of the
corporation, expressly electing not to be governed by the Texas Business Combination Law and so long as the amendment does not take effect for
18 months following the date of the vote and does not apply



to a business combination with an affiliated shareholder who became affiliated on or before the effective date of the amendment;

*  abusiness combination of an issuing public corporation with an affiliated shareholder that became an affiliated shareholder inadvertently, if the
affiliated shareholder divestsitself, as soon as possible, of enough sharesto no longer be an affiliated shareholder and would not at any time
within the three- year period preceding the announcement of the business combination have been an affiliated shareholder but for the inadvertent
acquisition;

*  abusiness combination with an affiliated sharehol der who became an affiliated shareholder through atransfer of shares by will or intestacy and
continuously was an affiliated shareholder until the announcement date of the business combination; and

*  abusiness combination of a corporation with itswholly owned subsidiary if such subsidiary isa Texas entity and not an affiliate or associate of
the affiliated shareholder other than by reason of the affiliated shareholder’s beneficial ownership of voting shares of the corporation.

Neither our amended and restated certificate of formation nor our bylaws contain any provision expressly providing that the Company will not be subject to
the Texas Business Combination Law. The Texas Business Combination Law may have the effect of inhibiting a nonnegotiated merger or other business
combination involving Allegiance, even if that event would be beneficial to our shareholders.

Action by Written Consent

Under Texas law, no action required or permitted to be taken at an annual or special meeting of shareholders may be taken by written consent in lieu of a
meeting of shareholders without the unanimous written consent of all shareholders entitled to vote on the action unless the certificate of formation
specifically allows action to be taken by awritten consent of the shareholders holding at least the minimum number of shares necessary to take the action
that is subject to that consent at a meeting of shareholders, even though such consent is not signed by all of the corporation’s shareholders. Our amended
and restated certificate of formation provides for shareholder action by less than unanimous written consent.

Certain Certificate of Formation and Bylaw Provisions Potentially Having an Anti-takeover Effect

Our amended and restated certificate of formation and bylaws contain certain provisions that could have an anti-takeover effect and thus discourage
potential takeover attempts and make it more difficult for our shareholders to change management or receive a premium for their shares. These provisions
include:

+  staggered termsfor directors, who may be removed from office only for cause;
« aprohibition on cumulative voting in the election of directors;

* authority for our board of directorsto issue shares of our preferred stock without shareholder approval and upon such terms as our board of
directors may determine;

* aprovision establishing certain advance notice procedures for nomination of candidates for election as directors and for shareholder proposals;
and

* aprovision that any special meeting of our shareholders may be called only by amajority of our board of directors, the President or a holder or
group of holders of at least 50 % of our shares entitled to vote at the meeting.

In addition to these provisions of our amended and restated certificate of formation and bylaws, banking laws impose notice, approval, and ongoing
regulatory requirements on any shareholder or other party that seeksto



acquiredirect or indirect “control” of an FDIC-insured depository institution. These laws include the Bank Holding Company Act and the Change in Bank
Control Act. These laws could delay or prevent an acquisition.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Officersand Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of formation provides that our directors and officerswill be indemnified by usto the fullest extent permitted under the
TBOC and applicable federal laws and regulations, against all reasonable expenses incurred in connection with their service for or on our behalf. Our
amended and restated certificate of formation also makes mandatory the indemnification permitted under Section 8.101 of the TBOC and makes mandatory
the payment or reimbursement of reasonable expenses under Section 8.10 of the TBOC, and extends this mandatory indemnification and mandatory
payment or reimbursement of expensesto all former or present officers of the Company and all persons who were serving at the request of the Company as
the director, officer, partner, agent or trustee of another foreign or domestic entity. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of formation provides
that our directors and officers will not be personally liable for monetary damages to usto the fullest extent permitted by the TBOC.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our executive officers and directors pursuant to which they will be indemnified as described above
and will be advanced costs and expenses subject to the condition that such executive officers and directors will reimburse us for all advancements paid if a
final judicia determination is made that such executive officer or director is not entitled to indemnification under applicable law or regulation.
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Exhibit 21.1
ALLEGIANCE BANCSHARES, INC.
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
Direct Subsidiaries Jurisdiction of Organization Parent Entity
Allegiance Bank Texas Allegiance Bancshares, Inc.
Farmers & Merchants Capital Trust 11 Delaware Allegiance Bancshares, Inc.
Farmers & Merchants Capital Trust 111 Delaware Allegiance Bancshares, Inc.
Indirect Subsidiaries Jurisdiction of Organization Parent Entity
ABTX Financid, Inc. Texas Allegiance Bank
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Forms S-8 (Nos. 333-207342, 333-208600, 333-218732, 333-228119, 333-231141



and 333-231142) and S-3 (No. 333-236103) of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. of our report dated March 9, 2020 relating to the consolidated financial statements,
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s CroweLLP

Dallas, Texas
March 9, 2020
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OF THE
SECURITIESEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, ASAMENDED

|, Steven F. Retzloff, certify that:
1. | havereviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, thisreport does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present in al material respectsthe
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officersand | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosedinthisreport any changein theregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
theregistrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ sinternal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2020

/s Steven F. Retzl of f
Steven F. Retzloff
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OF THE
SECURITIESEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, ASAMENDED



I, Paul P. Egge, certify that:
1. | havereviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, thisreport does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present in all material respectsthe
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officersand | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which thisreport is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed inthisreport any changein the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2020

/s Paul P. Egge
Paul P. Egge
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 (ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2019
asfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Steven F. Retzloff, Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. Theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and operating results of the Company as of the
dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate, effective as of March 9, 2020.
/s Steven F. Retzl of f

Steven F. Retzl off
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 (ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of Allegiance Bancshares, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2019
asfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Paul P. Egge, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. Theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in al material respects, the financial condition and operating results of the Company as of the
dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate, effective as of March 9, 2020.

/s Paul P. Egge
Paul P. Egge
Chief Financial Officer
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